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PART I. 

ITEM I. BUSINESS 

OUR COMPANY 

Sylvamo Corporation (the "Company" or "Sylvamo", which may also be referred to as "we" or ' 'us") is a global uncoated 
papers company with a broad portfolio of top-tier brands and low-cost, large-scale paper mills located in and serving the most 
attractive geographies, including burope, Latin America and N011h America, which are our business segments. We produce 
uncoated freesheet ("UFS") for paper products such as cutsize and offset paper, as well as market pulp. With roots going back 
to 1898, we have a long history of offering premium quality papers to meet the needs of our customers and end-users. Our mills 
predominantly rank in the lowest quartile on global and regional UFS cost curves, and we believe our low-cost operations 
enable us to serve our customers with the highest quality products at attractive margins. Our industry-leading brands, known for 
their long-standing reputation in their respective markets for product quality and performance, allow us to maintain our long­
term relationships with top-tier customers throughout economic cycles. Our international reach and strong positioning across 
retail, merchant and e-commerce channels optimally positions us to meet the paper needs of our end-users around the world. 
This also provides geographical diversification of our revenue and profits. From 2022 to 2024, on average, we generated 46% 
of our revenues and 4 1% of our Business Segment Operating Profit in Europe and Latin America. Each region in which we 
operate exhibits different supply and demand characteristics. Both Latin America and North America have strong profitabi lity 
for the uncoated paper industry relative to other geographies. See Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations - Business Segment Results - Results of Operations for a definition of Business Segment 
Operating Profit. 

During the second quarter of 2022, we committed to a plan to sell our Russian operations (which were sold on October 2, 
2022). Our operations in Russia included a paper mill in Svetogorsk, Russia and long-term harvesting rights on 860,000 acres 
of government-owned forestland. As this divestiture was a strategic shift away from the Russian markets, we have presented the 
historical operating results of the Russian operations as "discontinued operations" as applicable (see Note 8 Divestiture and 
Impairment of Business to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 in this Annual Report on I 0-K for 
additional discontinued operations information). As a result, the narrative discussion in this Item 1 relates only to our 
continuing operations, and all other frnancial results, disclosures and discussions of the Company's continuing operations 
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on .Form 10-K exclude our Russian operations, unless otherwise noted. 

In January 2023, the Company completed the previously arrnounced acquisition of Stora Enso's uncoated freesheet paper mill 
in Nymolla, Sweden, for €157 million (approximately $167 million), subject to customary purchase price adjustments. The 
integrated mill has the capacity to produce approximately 500,000 sho11 tons of uncoated fi·eesheet on two paper machines. The 
Nymolla mill's results of operations are included in Sylvamo's consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. 
See Note 7 Acquisitions to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 in this Annual Report on 10-K for furtlher 
details. 

COMPETliTION 

The markets in which we operate are highly compet1t1ve with well-established domestic and foreign manufacturers. For 
instance, in North America, the four largest manufacturers of UFS, including Sylvamo, represent approximately 80% of the 
total annual production capacity. As the use of electronic mediums and alternative products increases, and because paper 
production does not generally rely on proprietary processes, except for highly specialized papers or products, the areas into 
which Sylvamo sells its principal products are increasingly competitive. Furthermore, the level of competitive pressure 
Sylvamo may face is dependent, in part, upon exchange rates, particularny the rate between the U.S. dollar and the Euro and the 
U.S. dollar and the Brazilian real. Some of our competitors have shut down or converted mills or paper machines at their mills 
to linerboard, pulp and boxboard capacity, which reduced the supply ofUFS and other printing papers. 

MARKETING AND DISTRIBUTION 

Sylvamo sells products directly to end users and converters, as well as through agents, rcscllcrs and paper d istributors. 



DESCRIPTION OF PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS 

The Company's principal products are described in Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of financial Condition and 
Results of Operations. 

RAW MATERIALS 

Raw materials essential to our businesses include wood fiber, chemicals, water and energy. Information about our sources and 
the availability to us of raw materials, pai1icularly wood, the principal raw material from which our products are made, is 
included in Item I A. Risk Factors - "Changes in the cost or availability of raw materials and energy used to manufacture our 
products could have a material adverse effect on our business. financial condition and results of operations" and Item 7. 
Managements's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results ofOperations. 

HUMAN CAPITAL 

In this Human Capital section and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 1 0-K, we refer in various contexts to our website 
and to sustainability pe1jormance reviews, other reports, policies, and other information published by us or on our website. The 
information on our website and in the referenced sustainability petformance reviews, other reports, policies and other 
information, and that is otherwise connected to our website, is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 
10-K, and should not be considered part of this or any other report that we file with or furnish to the SEC. 

Employees 

Sylvamo's capabilities and potential are delivered through our dedicated, talented and diverse workforce, which we believe is 
among the best in the industry. We employ over 6,500 people globally, with 25%, 49% and 26% of our workforce located 
primarily in 13 countries in Europe, Latin America and North America, respectively. A portion of our workforce is represented 
by unions in Brazil, France, Sweden and, in the United States, at our mill in Ticonderoga, New York. We believe that our 
relationships with our unjons are constructive. 

We strive to be the employer of choice. We aim to attract, retain and develop talented and diverse employees that reflect our 
diverse communities and global end-users of our paper. To that end, we work to foster a safe and inclusive workplace where all 
employees feel safe, welcomed, valued, engaged, fairly compensated and have opportunities for professional development. 

Health and Safety 

Our priority is people before paper -- the health and safety of our employees, contractors and visitors to our facilities .are 
paramount. We strive to design and operate injury-free workplaces for our employees and everyone who enters ow· facilities. 
As responsible stewards of people and their communities, we have emphasized safety at our Company and strictly compl ied 
with national regulations such as, in the United States, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration's regulations. Based 
on our safety record and our comparison of it .against publicly available industry safety information, we are an industry-leading 
company in employee safety. 

We track our safety record. Information about our safety record is available on our website, sylvamo.com, and in our annual 
sustainability performance review. Our Sustainability Performance Review for 2023 is available on our website, sylvamo.com. 
We will post our Sustainability Perfom1ance Review for 2024 on our website when it is completed, which is expected in the 
first half of 2025. 

We take precautions to protect the health and safety of our employees and comply with applicable govemment requirements 
and safety guidance in the three regions where we operate. We continue to promote safety through our "People Before Paper" 
program, which we first introduced in 2022. This program promotes increasing safety, especially in the manufacturing setting, 
by emphasizing focus on one safe task a time and stopping work if work conditions appear unsafe. Tt further emphasizes mental 
health and overall well-being as imp011ant to increasing safety. Since we introduced the program, we have consistently worked 
to increase safety through initiatives developed and implemented under the program. These initiatives included ongoing 
communications and training, as well as our leadership's insistence that employees put people's safety before operations, 
always. 
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As we have promoted safety and tracked ow· safety perfonnance, we have found it challenging to ensure that injuries are 
avoided. Therefore, in 2024, we ramped up efforts under our safety program, including: adding even more frequent 
communications from our leadership emphasizing safety; implementing further safety training at our facilities with a focus on 
specific areas for safety improvements; conducting an organization-wide safety "stand-do-wn," ceasing work, to emphasize that 
we want employees to speak up and stop work if conditions seem unsafe; providing recognition to employees who have 
improved safety, such as by seeing and bringing attention to a potentially unsafe issue or proposing safety improvements; and 
having employees who have contributed to safety improvements share how they improved safety, at periodic company-wide 
safety meetings. Additionally, we frequently communicate and emphasize to employees the importance of, and have provided 
opp011unities for them to enhance, their physical and mental health and well-being. We have Employee Assistance Programs 
and additional benefit resources available in all regions where we operate to support our employees' health and well-being. 

Notwithstanding our efforts to ensure a safe workplace and supp011 the physical and mental health of our employees, we cannot 
guarantee that our efforts wi II always be successful. Success is subject to risks and uncet1ainties, both known and unknown, 
including risks noted in Item I A. Risk Factors, including A public health crisis could have a material adverse etlect on our 

business. financial condition. results of operations and cash flows and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. A 

fa ilure to keep our employees and others safe on our premises could disrupt our operat ions, result in losses associated w ith 
liability or potential liability to the harmed individual and to applicable governmental agencies responsible for regulation of 
safety, and cause us reputational harm. 

Attraction and Retention 

Compensation, Benefits and Talent Development 

Our talent strategy focuses on attracting and retaining the best employee talent from the diverse backgrounds of the 
communities where we operate. We aim to foster for employees a work culture where employees from those dive rse 
backgrounds work well together, are treated fairly, and are valued for their talents and the viewpoints that they bring to the 
table. We aim to provide competitive compensation and benefits, reward individual, team and company performance, provide 
professional development opportunities, promote employee health and well-being, and encourage engagement by showing our 
employees that we value their commitment to our company objectives, to each other and to their communities. 

To provide our employees globally competitive and fair compensation and benefits, we periodically review, adjust and align 
our compensation practices with best practices around the material elements of our compensation structure. 

Our employee recruiting includes developing and recruiting new talent through lateral and college recruiting efforts. As an 
example of such college recruiting efforts, in the United States, Brazil and Emope, we have programs that include internships 
and trainee programs to attract college hires, with a special focus on preparing early career engineers and safety professionals to 
be future leaders at Sylvamo. We believe that these efforts help develop a strong, talented and diverse workforce at Sylvamo. 

We suppot1, encourage and provide our employees with opportunities to strengthen their connection and commitment to 
Sylvamo and the communities where they work and live, because a highly engaged workforce is important to our business 
success. In 2024, we launched a global engagement survey. Through the survey, we determined that engagement levels at 

Sylvamo in all regions where we have empDoyees are fairly high, and we established a baseline for engagement levels to 
consistently work to improve upon. Also in 2024, we provided multiple opportunities, in the various regions where we operate, 
for our employees to engage in and help their communities. We s hare information about some of these engagement 
opportunities at the "Why we Care" tab on our website, sylvamo.com. 

We develop the capabilities of our employees through our continuous learning, development and pe1formance management 
programs. We invest in their growth and development by providing a multi-dimensional approach to learning. This approach 
includes various learning journeys to help employees grow personally and professionally and advance within our organization, 
including for specific positions, for specific development targets, and for development of competencies and Sylvamo's culture. 
These learning resources are intended to provide employees with the skills they need to achieve their career goals, build 
management skills and be leaders at Sylvamo. 

Inclusion and Diversity 

A component of our overall effo11 to attract and retain exceptional employee talent, supporting our objective to be the employer 
of choice, is to cultivate a workforce where employees from diverse backgrounds are represented, engaged and empowered to 
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inspire innovative ideas and decisions, where employees feel welcome, included and valued, and where all employees are 
treated fairly, regardless of background. 

Our senior management team is internationally diverse with global experience, hailing from all of the geographies in which we 
operate - Europe, Latin America and North America. We have a G lobal T&D Council that develops our T&D strategy and 
helps identifY and implement means for our strategy to succeed. The Global I&D Council meets quarterly and includes a range 
of employees at various levels of leadership, who are from the regions where we operate and are of diverse races, genders and 
cultural backgrounds. In 2024, the efforts of the Global I&D Council resulted in initiatives that included training managers on 
strengthening the ability of our leaders to facilitate inclusive work teams, providing employee mentoring and networking 
opp01tunities, and facilitating means for employees to identify and leverage opportunities for their career growth and 
advancement. Our employee inclusion networks, which we started in 2022, continued to meet in 2024. All initiatives and 
employee inclusion networks are voluntary and open to a ll employees. 

Management keeps our senior leadership and board of directors aware of our I&D initiatives and progress through periodic 
reports. The Management Development and Compensation Committee of our board of directors is responsible for oversight of 
I&D matters. 

Challenges and Risks 

Our hiring and retention efforts are challenged by competition for labor having a high level of the various skills needed in our 
industry, particularly at our mills, which makes our cost of labor high compared to industries that require less skilled labor. We 
have not experienced any material shortage of labor, but if the labor supply were to contract substantially in any of the regions 
where we operate, it could impede our ability to attract and retain employee talent and further increase our cost of labor. For 
more infonnation regarding our risks relating to the labor market, see Item I A. Risk Factors. particularly - "Our business and 
business prospects could be materially adversely affected if we fail to attract and retain senior management and other key 
employees. •• 

Our hiring and retention efforts focus on ensuring equal opportunities in hiring and promotion, enhanced by our inclusion and 
diversity efforts that value employees of all backgrounds and talents and that, without regard to their backgrounds, provide 
employees with access to the support we provide for career growth and success. There is risk, particularly in the United States, 
that such efforts could expose us to legal challenges relating to such efforts. There is also risk that, despite our efforts, we will 
not achieve our aspirational goals or adequately foster the work culture described above. 

In 2023 and 2024, we conducted "Project Horizon" to streamline our organization and reduce costs, based upon an evaluation 
of our needs at all levels of the organization. We eliminated a number of salaried positions and reorganized job responsibilities. 
We believe that the streamlining resulted in a leaner, stronger organization. 

ENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER REGULATIONS 

Sylvamo is subject to a wide range of general and industry-specific laws and regulations that are complex and changing in the 
regions, countries, states and other jurisdictions where we operate. They include, but are not limited to, laws pertaining to: 
environmental, health and safety; climate change; tax; privacy and data security; antitrust; product liability; intellectual property 
ownership and infringement; labor and employment; anti-corruption; import, export and trade; and foreign exchange controls 
and foreign ownership and investment. In addition, new laws or regulations affecting our facilities are routinely passed or 
proposed. 

We have procedures in place to stay informed about developments concerning possible new legislati·on and laws in the 
countries where we operate. We regularly assess whether such legis lation or laws may have a material effect on us, our 
operations and financial condition. 

Environmental and Climate Change Regulation 

Current or proposed environmental laws (by "laws," we also mean regulations and other govemmental rules) include those 
governing wood harvesting, air emissions, climate change, waste water discharges, storage, management and disposal of 
hazardous substances and wastes, contaminated sites, landfill operation and closure obligations, and health and safety matters. 
Compliance with these laws in all jurisdictions where we operate, therefore, is a significant factor in the operation of our 
business and may result in capital expenditures as well as additional operating costs. For example, our United States mills are in 
compliance with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's ("EPA") maximum achievable control technology ("MACT'') 
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standards that require owners of specified pulp and paper process equipment and boilers to meet air emissions standards for 
certain substances. However, as required by the Clean Air Act, the EPA is expected to conduct a Risk and Technology Review 
("RTR") after the application of the MACT standards to determine if the standard was protective enough for human health. It is 
possible that such review could result in future MACT and RTR regulations that necessitate our making future capital project 
expenditm-es to comply with such regulations. 

We are subject to the European Union Deforestation Regulation ("EUDR"), whjcb bas a compliance deadline of December 30, 
2025. The EUDR will require companies trading in wood, cattle, cocoa, coffee, oil palm, rubber and soya, as well as products 
derived from these commodities such as paper, to conduct extensive diligence on the value chain to ensure the goods do not 
result from recent deforestation, forest degradation or breaches of local laws in order to trade such products in or from the 
European Union market. We have incurred costs and devoted significant time and effort to assess how, and to prepare, to 
comply with the EUDR, and will continue to incur costs and devote time and effort to comply after its requirements go into 
effect. The EUDR may also reduce the availability of and increase the price of goods supplied to us that are subject to its rules. 

Several Canadian provinces, most countries in Europe, and some states in the United States have adopted, and more 
jurisdictions may adopt, extended producer responsibility, or "EPR," laws. EPR laws assign producers of the materials covered 
by the laws some financial responsibility for the end-of-life management of those materials within the adopting jurisdiction. 
These laws can apply to various types of materials, and some of them apply to packaging and paper products. We are, or in 
2025 will be, subject to EPR laws in various European countries, Canadian provinces and states in the United States, including, 
among others, California, Colorado, Maine, Minnesota and Oregon, where we are or will be required to pay fees to manage the 
end-of-life cost of our products. EPR laws also may cause us to pay higher prices for the packaging and other materials that we 
purchase from suppliers subject to EPR laws, who may pass through to their customers some of their increased costs resulting 
from such laws. 

Some of the foregoing and various other environmental and health and safety laws applicable to us provide for substantial fines 
or penalties and other civil and criminal sanctions for failure to comply. Certain environmental laws provide for strict liability 
and, under certain circumstances, joint and several liability; for example, for investigation and remediation of the release of 
hazardous substances into the environment. 

We are committed to avoiding adverse impacts on the environment, including by controlling emissions and discharges from our 
facilities and by responsible sourcing of materials to produce our paper, both as an environmental steward and to maintain our 
compliance with applicable laws. However, we may encounter situations in which our operations failed to maintain full 
compliance with applicable requirements, or we may learn that previous owners of our property failed to comply with 
applicable requirements for which responsibility may be imposed on us by law (for example, if they re leased substances in 
violation of environmental laws), which could possibly lead to civil or criminal fines, fees, penalties or enforcement actions 
against us. These could include governmental or judicial orders that stop or interrupt our operations or that require us to take 
corrective measures at substantial costs, such as installation of additional pollution control equipment or environmental 
remediation. See Item I A. Risk Factors - "We are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations and could incur 
substantial costs as a result of compliance with, violations of or liabilities under these laws and regulations." An environmental 
clean-up matter in Brazil, which has been ongoing since prior to our spin-off from International Paper, and which has not had, 
but could have, a material financial impact on us, is described in Note I 3 Commitments and Contingent Liabilities to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 in this Annual Report on 10-K. 

In 2024 we spent approximately $2.5 million and over the course of2025 and 2026, we expect to spend $ 14-$ 15 million on 
capital projects in the aggregate for our mills in the three regions where we operate to control environmental releases into the air 
and water and to assure environmentally sound management and disposal of waste. Depending on how project timelines 
develop, we expect to spend about $6-$12 milDion of such amount in 2025. 

Multiple laws have been passed in various jurisdictions addressing climate change that apply to us and may have a material 
impact on us. 

The Paris Agreement, an international treaty on climate change, went into effect in November 2016 and continues international 
efforts and voluntary commitments toward reducing greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions. Consistent with this objective, 
participating countries aim to balance GHG emissions generation and sequestration in the second half of this century or, in 
effect, achieve net zero global GHG emissions. Although the United States has withdrawn from the Paris Agreement, our two 
mills in Europe and our three mills in Brazil are impacted by GHG reduction commitments made by member countries under 
the Paris Agreement. Tn the EU, there is a GHG Emissions Trading System ("EU ETS"). Our Saillat and Nymolla mills a re 
under Phase IV of the EU ETS that established a trading period ending in 2030, during which the two mills may benefit from 
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free allocation of GHG emission allowances. However, the mills' continued participation is subject to various factors, includjng 
potential changes to the EU ETS system, and our Nymolla mill's eligibility to participate will terminate on December 31, 2025, 
absent any governmental action that would allow continued participation. The financial impact on us of such tennination will 
depend in part on factors not within ow- control, including any governmental action ameliorating the impact of termination. l'he 
Paris Agreement and EU ETS may have a material impact on us depending on, among other factors, how binding the GHG 
emissions reduction commitments made by Paris Agreement member countries are, how market prices for GHG emissions 
credits evolve under applicable rules over the coming years, and the extent to which our mills are subject to requirements of 
member countries imposed in connection with the Paris Agreement. 

In the United States, the EPA manages regulations to: (i) control GHG emiSSions from mobile sources by adopting 
transportation fuel efficiency standards; (ii) control GHG emissions from new Electric Generating Units ("EGUs"); (iii) control 
emissions from new oil and gas processing operations; and (iv) require reporting of GHG emissions from sources of GHG 
emissions greater than 25,000 tons per year. Several U.S. states have enacted or are considering legal measures to require the 
reduction of GHG emissions by companies and public utilities. These federal and state regulations have not had a material 
impact on us. We monitor proposed programs, but it is unclear what impacts, if any, future GHG rules would have on our 
operations. Although not required by current regulations, we aim to reduce our Scope I , 2 and 3 GHG emissions by 35% and 
define a pathway to net zero emissions by 2030 against a 2019 baseline, although we cannot provide assurance that we will be 
successful in these efforts. 

Furthermore, governments may enact additional laws to protect the environment and address climate change, which could 
expose us to the costs of additional compliance and the risks of potential noncompliance. Environmental and climate change 
regulation continues to evolve in the various countries and U.S. states where we do business. For example, some U.S. states in 
which we have manufacturing operations, including New York, are taking measures to reduce GHG emissions, such as by 
developing a cap-and-trade program. While it is likely that governmental action and legislation regarding environmental 
protection and climate change (including GHG emissions) will continue or increase in the future, it is not possible to predict 
what additional laws relating to environmental protection and climate change may be implemented, which countries, U.S. states 
or other jurisdictions may adopt such laws, or the extent to which such laws may impact our business; nor is it possible to 
predict how existing or future laws will be administered or interpreted. In addition to possible direct impacts, such as our costs 
of compliance and risk of penalties and corrective measures in the event of violations, future laws could impact us indirectly, 
such as causing us higher prices for transportation, energy and other inputs, as well as generating more protracted air permitting 
processes, and causing delays and higher costs to implement capital projects. 

If and as regulators increase their focus on climate change and other sustainability issues, we have been, or may become, 
subject to new disclosure frameworks and regulations. For example, the European Parliament ado·pted the Corporate 
Sustainability Reporting Directive ("CSRD"), and EU sustainability repotting standards are being developed by the European 
Financial Reporting Advisory Group, with such standards to be tailored to EU policies building on and contributing to 
international standardization initiatives. Such reporting will apply not only to local operations in the EU, but under certain 
c ircumstances, to entire global companies that have EU operations. The CSRD will require us to begin reporting for European 
operations in 2026 and for the entire Company globally in 2029, with the option to voluntarily commence repo1ting for the 
entire Company earlier than 2029. As another example, the State of California has adopted new climate change disclosure rules 
that will apply to us because we conduct business in California. Reporting by us under the rules will be required starting in 
2026. The SEC announced proposed climate change disclosure rules in March 2021 that are the subject of litigation challenging 
them. The SEC deferred their effectiveness as a result of such litigation, and the future status of such rules is uncertain, 
patticularly in view of the new U.S. presidential administration. The SEC's mles were initially proposed to become effective in 
2026. Compliance with the CSRD, the California rules and, if implemented, the SEC rules, has required and may continue to 
require us to incur costs and devote significant resources, time and attention by our management and other personnel. While we 
expect to fully comply with all such rules as they apply to us, if we fail to comply, it would subject us to potential penalties and 
fines. 

Other Regulation 

Regional, national, state and local regulations apply to us in Europe, Latin America and Notth America that regulate the 
licensing and inspection of our facilities, including, in the United States, compliance with the Occupational Safety and Health 
Act that sets health and safety standards to protect our employees from accidents, and Department of Labor regulations that set 
employment practice standards for workers. 

We are subject to highly complex tax laws in various countries in Europe, Latin America and North America, most notably in 
the countries where we have significant operations - Brazil, France, Sweden and the United States - that if violated, could 
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result in significant fines, interest charges and costs associated with litigation. In Brazil, our business is subject to various tax 
proceedings, including those discussed in Note 13 Commitments and Contingent Liabilities and Note 12 Income Taxes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 in this Annual Report on 10-K. 

Our global operations subject us to complex and evolving privacy and information security laws and regulations such as the EU 
General Data Protection Regulation, Brazil's Lei Geral de Protes;ao de Dados Pessoais, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 
2018 and the California Privacy Rights Act. These laws require us to comply with a range of obligations regarding the handling 
of personal data. There are significant penalties for non-compliance including monetary fines, disruption of operations and 
reputational harm. Moreover, governmental authorities around the world are considering, or are in the process of implementing, 
new data protection regulations. We identifY various risks associated with privacy and information security laws and 
regulations in Item I A. Risk Factors - "We are subject to information technology risks. including risks related to breaches of 
security pertaining to sensitive company. customer. employee and vendor information, breaches in the technology used to 
manage operations and other business processes, and the increasing use of artificial intelli2ence." 

Our operations around the world are subject to anti-corruption Laws and regulations, such as the U.S. Foreign CotTupt Practices 
Act and the U.K. Bribery Act of20 I 0. 

For further information about the regulatory risks of our business, see .Item lA. Risk Factors - "Our business is subject to a 
wide variety of other laws. regulations and other government reguirements that may change in significant ways, and the cost of 
compliance with such reguirements could have a material adverse effect on our business. financial condition. results of 
operations and cash flows." 

SUSTAIN ABILITY 

Sylvamo remains committed to operating responsibly and sustainably, and incorporates this into our strategies and everyday 
processes as we seek to seize opportunities, address risks and create long-term value for our shareholders. Our commitment to 
sustainability spans our value chain, from the safety of our employees, to the responsible sourcing of raw materials, to using 
renewable energy and ensuring the recyclability of our products. Our commitment is part of our Code of Conduct and it 
requires us to operate as responsible stewards for our communities and the environment. We believe that operating in this 
manner creates healthy communities, enhances our competitive position with our customers, increases our desirability as an 
investment and helps engender employee pride in the Company, thereby helping us achieve our vision to be the world's paper 
company: the employer, supplier and investment of choice. 

Our 2023 Sustainability Performance Review (available at sylvamo.com/us/en/sustainabil ity) illustrates our 2023 contributions 
to the circular, low-carbon economy, to our employees' safety, well-being and success, and to supporting our communities .. Tt 
reflects our goal to operate as a sustainable company that generates profits for our shareholders, protects the environment, and 
improves people's lives. In the 2023 Sustainability Performance Review, we highlight and report on our key initiatives for 
achieving that goal. We plan to report on our initiatives for 2024 in our 2024 Susta~nability Performance Review, to be 
published in 2025. Our annual sustainability reporting includes disclosures aligned with the Global Repor1ing Initiative ("GRT") 
and the Task Force On Climate Related Financial Disclosures (''TCFD") frameworks (available at sylvamo.com/ us/.en/ 
sustainability/reporting). We cannot guarantee that we will achieve our goals and initiatives described in our Sustainability 
Performance Reviews and in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our ability to achieve them is subject to risks and uncertainties 
both known and unknown, including various risks noted in Item I A. Risk Factors and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K. 

Sustainable Sourcing and Forest Management 

Sylvamo recognizes the environmental, social and economic values of forested landscapes. We seek to play an active role in 
preventing deforestation and forest degradation, promoting and increasing the use of responsibly managed forests, and meeting 
market demand for sustainably certified products, through our efforts described below. 

Tn addition to our Code of Conduct, our Environmental, Health, Safety and Sustainability Policy sets forth the principles we 
follow to ensure the health and safety of all employees, contractors and visitors, improve our environmental impact and our 
stewardship of natural resources. Our Global Fiber Procurement Poliicy sets forth requirements for the wood we accept, 
including requirements intended to protect the environment and rights of indigenous peoples and local communities. Our Third 
Party Code of Conduct requires the parties with which we do business to comply with all laws and encourages them to reduce 
their impact on the environment. We make these policies available on our website. 
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Our operations strive to incorporate responsible forest stewardship to ensure healthy and productive forest ecosystems for 
generations to come. For example, we promote healthy and productive forest ecosystems by committing to source 100% of our 
fiber from sustainably managed forests and aiming to conserve, enhance or restore 250,000 acres of ecologically significant 
forestland globally by 2030. Towards this goal, in 2024 we continued investing in reforestation in the Atlantic Forest region of 
Brazil and the Appalachians of the United States, through joint efforts with international and local organizations. 

We maintain longstanding partnerships with s·everal of the world's largest and most respected envi1·onmental and conservation 
organizations to restore and protect forests and advance the understanding of the role of forests as natural climate solutions, 
including the Arbor Day Foundation, the Nature Conservancy, the World Wildlife Fund and various local environmental 
organizations in the communities where we live and work. We also help our suppliers with their efforts to develop actions that 
improve forest management and fiber procurement practices. We believe that these strategic informal partnerships are essential 
to achieve the scale necessary for positive long-term impact and to develop sustainable solutions that address critical regional 
and global forestry issues. 

We support and use third-party certification of sustainable forest management through forest certification and chain-of-custody 
systems, and we work to continue to meet our customer's demand for certified-fiber products. Sylvamo follows these credible 
ce1iification systems: Forest Stewardship Council® (FSC~; the Sustainable Forest•y Initiative® (SFT~; and the Programme for 
the Endorsement of Forest Certification (PEFC). In 2024, all of our sourced fiber followed the FSC® Controlled Wood 
Standard, and based on the Latest figures avantable, approximately 60% of our sourced fiber was from forests certified to the 
FSC®, SFI® or PEFC Forest Management Standards. Additionally, nearly all of our owned forestland is certified to the FSC® 
(C 101761) Forest Management Standard. 

Reduction of Water Usage 

Sylvamo is working to reduce our water usage by an incremental 25% compared to a 2019 baseline. To that end, in 2024 we 
conducted a thorough internal water study at our mill in Saillat, France, and shared best practices with our other mills based on 
the results of the study. We intend to update our progress reducing water usage at least annually on our Company website or in 
our Sustainability Performance Reviews. 

Climate Change and Reduction of GHGs 

Sylvamo recognizes that the climate is changing. The GHGs carbon dioxide and methane trap higher amounts of heat in the 
atmosphere than many other atmospheric gasses and remain in the atmosphere for years; therefore, we believe it is prudent to 
reduce those emissions. We seek to reduce our GHG emissions by working to reduce our Scope I , 2 and 3 emissions, and by 
advancing a lower-carbon economy by designing I 00% reusable, recyclable or compostable papers that people depend on for 
education, communication and entertainment. Additionally, various jurisdictions where we operate have passed laws to addr·ess 
climate change that have an impact on us and our work to reduce GHG emissions, as described above in "-Environmental and 
Other Regulations - Environmental and Climate Change Regulation." 

We seek to achieve an incremental 35% reduction in our mills' Scope l, 2 and 3 GHG emissions by 2030, as compared against 
a 2019 baseline, and continue efforts to further decarbonize our operations by defining a pathway to net zero. Our GHG 
emissions reduction targets were validated by the Science Based Targets Initiative (SBTi) in April 2023 and are consistent with 
a well below 2 degrees Celsius scenario and the Paris Agreement. The Paris Agreement impacts our mills in Europe and Brazil, 
due to GHG emissions reduction commitments in accord with the Paris Agreement that have been made by the respective 
countries in which those mills are located. Our mills in Europe may benefit from free allocation of GHG emission allowances 
under the EU ETS to meet GHG emissions reduction targets, subject to various factors, including that our Nymolla mill's 
eligibility to participate in allocations is expected to terminate at the end of 2025, as described in "-Environmental and Otlher 
Regulations - Environmental and Climate Change Regulation" 

Based on the most recent available data, Sylvamo's mills generated at least 85% of the energy used in the mills from carbon­
neutral biomass residuals, which minimizes the use of fossil fuels that our company would otherwise use in its operations. Our 
mill in Nymolla, Sweden, has EU Ecolabel and Nordic Swan Ecolabel certification , which are third party certifications of 
products that meet high environmental standards and, in the case of EU Ecolabel certification, contribute to the EU's goal of 
climate neutrality by 2050. 

Sylvamo pa11icipates in the Carbon Disclosure Project ("COP") questionnaires concerning climate change, forests and water, to 
quantify and provide transparency on our environmental practices and progress. We also participate in the EcoVadis rating 
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platform that assesses supply chain environmental, social and ethical practices. Om resp-onses to CDP questionnaires and our 
EcoVadis performance overview are published at www.sylvamo.com/us/en/sustainability. 

The long-term effects of climate change on the global economy, our industty and us are unclear, especially in view of the 
political significance and uncettainty around r·egulatory actions proposed or being taken to address climate change. Changes in 
climate where we, our customers and our suppliers operate could have an adverse impact on our business, results of operations, 
and fmancial condition, as could regulatory actions to address climate change. More information about risks related to climate 
change and climate change regulation is available in Item I A. Risk Factors - "We are subject to physical, financial and 
reputational risks associated with climate conditions and climate change. including global, regional and local weather 
conditions. the availability of wood fiber. water and fuel. and the impact of increasing regulator:y and investor focus on climate 
change." 

Management and Board Oversight 

We have a steering team for sustainabiJity matters consisting of a cross functional group of employees and commercial leaders. 
The team guides the company's sustainability and community engagement strategies and monitors progress. Tt is chaired by our 
Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative and Legal Officer ("SVP CA&LO"), the highest-ranking non-board company 
executive with direct oversight of climate-related issues, who reports to our CEO. We have a Chief Sustainability Offi.cer 
("CSO") who oversees another team of employees who report to the CSO. The CSO's team is responsible for our global 
sustainability strategy and initiatives, which are intended to protect the environment and improve the lives of those we interact 
with, while creating profit for shareowners. Our CSO reports to our SVP CA&LO. Our CSO provides regular reports to our 
board's Nominating and Cotporate Governance Committee, which is the board committee responsible for oversight of 
sustainability matters, including oversight of climate-related matters. 

Our sustainability efforts are carried out in all of the regions where we operate, by multiple business teams into whose 
responsibilities sustainability concepts have been integrated. Tn addition to the dedicated sustainability team of employees led 
by our CSO, our human resources and sourcing teams handle various aspects of sustainability programs in their respective 
areas. Also, designated staff at our corporate, business and faci lity levels help identify, prioritize and manage sustainability­
related risks and opportunities, and we have a responsible operations working group made up of global manufacturing and 
technical expetts who are focused on key operational issues related to water and GHG emissions. 

AVAILABLE INFORMATION 

Sylvamo' s intemet address is www.sylvamo.com. We make available, free of charge, on or through our internet website, our 
annual report on Form I 0-K, quarterly reports on Form I 0-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, as 
soon as reasonable practicable after we electronically fi le such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. 

FORWARD-LOOKING ST ATEMENTS 

This Annual Report on Form I 0-K contains information that includes or is based upon fotward-looking statements. Forward­
looking statements forecast or state expectations concerning future events. These statements often can be identified by the fact 
that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. They typically use words such as "anticipate," "assume," "could," 
"estimate," "expect," "project," "intend," "plan," "believe," "should," "will" and other words and terms of similar meaning, or 
they are tied to future periods in connection with discussions of the Company's performance. Some examples of forward­
looking statements include those relating to our business and operating outlook, future obligations and anticipated expenditur·es. 

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. Any or all forward-looking statements may turn out to be 
incorrect, and actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in forward-looking statements. Forward­
looking statements are based on current expectations and the current economic environment. They can be affected by inaccurate 
assumptions or by known or unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that are difficult to predict. Although it is not 
possible to identify all of these risks, uncertainties and other factors, the impact of the following factors, among others, on us or 
on our suppliers or customers, could cause our actual results to differ from those in the forward-looking statements: 
deterioration of global and regional economic, civil and political conditions and trade relations; physical, financial and 
reputational risks associated with climate conditions and climate change, including adverse environmental events such as floods 
and fires; reduced demand for our products due to the cyclical nature of the paper industry, the industry-wide secular decline in 
paper demand, or competition from other businesses; increased costs or reduced availability of the raw materials, energy, 
transportation (truck, rail and ocean) and labor needed to manufacture and deliver our products; a material disruption at any of 
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our manufactming facilities; information technology risks including potential cybersecurity breaches affecting us or third 
parties with which we do business; extensive environmental, tax and other laws and regulations in the Brazil, Europe, the 
United States and other jurisdictions to which we are subject, including our compliance costs and risk of liability and loss for 
violations; our reliance on a small number of customers; and the factors disclosed in Hem I A. Risk Factors, as such disclosures 
may be amended, supplemented or superseded from time to time by other reports we file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the "SEC"), including subsequent annual reports on Form 10-K and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q. 

We assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form I 0-K to reflect 
subsequent events or circumstances or actual outcomes. 

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, along with all other 
reports and any amendments thereto filed with or furnished to the SEC, are publicly available free of charge on the Investors 
section of our website at www.sylvamo.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or 
furnish it tu, the SEC. The information contained on or connected to our website is nut incorporated by reference into this 
Annual Report on Form 1 0-K and should not be considered part of this or any other report that we filed with or fUrnished to .the 
SEC. 
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ITEM lA. RISK FACTORS 

Sylvamo faces risks in the normal cow-se of business and through global, regional and local events. In addition to tlle 
risks and uncertainties discussed elsewhere in this Annual Repo-rt on Form I 0-K, including in Item l. Business, Ttem 7. 
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and Item lC. 
Cybersecurity, the following are some important risk factors that we face. The occurrence of any of the following risk 
factors, or of additional risks and unc·ertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial, 
could cause a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In any 
such case, the trading price of our common stock could decline. In addition, many of these risks are interrelated and 
could occur under similar business and economic conditions, and the occurrence of certain of them could in tum cause 
the emergence or exacerbate the effect of others. 

This Annual Repo11 on Form I 0-K also contains forward-looking statements and estimates that involve risks and 
uncertainties. Our actual results could difter materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a 
result of specific factors, including the factors described below. See Item I. Business- Forward-Looking Statements. 

SUMMARY RISK FACTORS 

Om business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those described in "Risk Factors" below. 'Ibe 
principal risks and uncertainties affecting our business include the following: 

global and regional economic and political conditions and trade relations; 

physical, financial and reputational risks associated with climate conditions and climate change; 

a public health crisis; 

the fluctuating and cyclical nature of paper and pulp supply and demand that periodically results in declines in 
prices for paper and pulp; 

changes in the cost or availability ofraw materials and energy needed to manufacture our products; 

reduced truck, rail and ocean freight availability; 

industry-wide decline in demand for paper and related products; 

competition from other businesses and consolidation within the paper industry; 

material disruptions at one or more of our manufacturing facilities; 

information teclmology risks, including risk of cybersecurity breaches; 

extensive laws, regulations and government requirements, including those related to the environment and climate 
change, including costs of compl"iance and any liabili ties under such laws; 

our reliance on a small number of significant customers; 

the significant capital needed for our operations; 

our failure to attract and retain senior management and other key employees; 

a significant write-down of our goodwill or other intangible assets; 

failure to achieve expected investment returns on pension plan assets or regulatory or other factors affecting the 
plans' funded level; 

labor disputes; 
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inability to achieve expected benefits from strategic corporate actions; 

inability to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary tights; 

loss of commercial agreements with International Paper; 

failure of transactions in cotmection with our spin-off from lntemational Paper to qualify for non-recognition 
treatment for U.S. federal income tax purposes; 

satisfaction of indemnification obligations between us and International Paper; 

our indebtedness having a material adverse effect on our financial condition, or our inability t·o generate sufficient 
cash to service our indebtedness; 

future offerings of debt or equity securities senior to our common stock, depressing its price; 

if we do not continue to declare dividends, repurchase shares of our common stock or othetwise return capital to 
shareholders, shareholders must rely on appreciation in our stock's value for investment returns; 

future issuances of equity, diluting our outstanding common stock; 

a shareholder's sale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock, causing its price to decline; 

actions of activist shareholders that cause us to incur costs and adversely affect our stock price; and 

provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws that could hinder a change in control of our company, 
cause a reduction in the price of our stock and limit the fomm for actions against, and the liability of, our directors 
and officers. 

RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS 

Risks Relating to Economic and Political Conditions and Other External Factors 

Our operations and performance depend significantly on global and regional economic, civil and political 
conditions and stable trade relations; and adverse economic, civil or political conditions, or deterioration in 
t rade relations, could materially adversely affect our business, financial C<lndition, results of operations a nd 
cash flows. 

We operate in three primary regions, each of which contributes significantly to our financial performance: Europe, 
Latin America and North America. Five of the seven mills that we own are located outside the United States: three in 
Brazil, one in France and one in Sweden. Deterioration of economic, civil or political conditions, either globally or in a 
region where we operate, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows. As examples, a recession could reduce demand for our products, impact capacity 
utilization, and erode our profits; significant inflation could increase our costs, reduce demand for our products if we 
increase prices, and erode our profits; and an unstable economic environment could disrupt our business strategies and 
destabilize demand for our products. Such conditions could also generally affect industrial non-durable goods 
production, consumer spending, commercial printing and advertising activity, white-collar employment levels, and 
consumer confidence, all of which could impact our costs of operating and demand for our products. 

Also, civil or political unrest or conflict, including military conflict, could hinder the supply to us of, and increase the 
cost of, materials needed for our operations. Military conflicts that were ongoing in 2024 could have a material adverse 
effect on us in the future; for example, if the war in Uhaine were to spread further in Europe, or if, notwithstanding a 
recent ceasefire, armed conflict in and near the Middle East were to spread or Houthis attacks affecting Red Sea 
shipping were to recommence and increase in severity. With respect to these specific conflicts, in 2024 we experienced 
inflation in transportation costs due to shipping disruptions in and around the Red Sea that, in turn, resulted in global 
increases in shipping and container costs and supply chain disruptions. However, we believe that, generally, our 
operations in Europe are at more risk than our operations in Latin America and North America from potential 
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expansion of these conflicts, because geographic proximity to such conflicts elevates the risk of transportation 
network, energy and supply chain disruptions and related price increases. 

Other unfavorable economic, political or civil conditions in the three regions where we operate, such as strikes, lack of 
availability and high cost of credit, and fluctuations in the value of local currency versus the U.S. dollar could 
adversely affect our cost and ability to manufacture and deliver our products to customers, obtain credit on favorable 
terms, and maintain profit margins. 

The imposition of trade protection measures, such as governmental subsidies and tax benefits, favoring locally 
produced products that compete with ours, but which do not also protect our products, could have a material adverse 
effect on our results of operations and business prospects. Conversely, the removal of trade protection measures that 
protect our products could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and business prospects. For 
example, our mills in Brazil have historically benefited from policies favoring domestic producers. We cannot 
guarantee that any such policies will continue or that we will continue to benefit from existing or future policies, nor 
can we guarantee that we will not be harmed by future policies. 

Disruption in existing trade agreements, or increased trade friction between countries, could result in protective 
measures such as tariffs and anti-dumping and countervailing duties. Protective trade measures could skew markets 
and disrupt the cross-border flow of globally traded materials needed to make our products and the distribution of our 
products. For example, tariffs imposed or proposed by the United States on items that we import into the United States 
could increase our costs for such items. If we were to increase our products' prices to mitigate the increase in our costs, 
it could decrease demand for our products. Also, protective trade measures taken by other countries in response to 
tariffs imposed by the United States could make our exported products more expensive and less desirable to customers 
in those countries. The impact on us of tariffs imposed or proposed by the United States or other countries is currently 
unceitain and depends upon various factors, including the extent to which we would import or export the items subject 
to the tariffs, the impact of the tariffs on the pricing, distribution and availability of items we import, the impact on 
demand for products that we export, and whether the negative impact on us of any tariffs imposed on products that we 
import is ameliorated by the positive impact of any competitive advantage conferred on products that we produce and 
sell within the same country. One of our significant imports into the United States is energy from Canada, and we 
export products from the United States to various locations globally, including Mexico. Our products sold within the 
United States compete with similar imported products and may benefit from tariffs imposed by the United States. 

We are subject to physical, financial and reputa tional risks associated with climate conditions and climate 
cha nge, including the impact of global, regional and local weather conditions, the availability of wood fiber, 
wa ter and fuel, and the impact of increasing regulatory and investor focus on climate change. 

Climate conditions, including those that may be associated with climate change, have the potential to disrupt our 
business and cause us financial loss. Increases in global average temperatures, which can be caused by increased 
concentrations of carbon dioxide and other GHGs in the atmosphere, could s1gnificantly change weather patterns, 
including precipitation patterns and growing seasons. An increase in global temperature could also lead to an increase 
in the frequency and severity of severe weather events and other natural disasters. Changes in weather patterns, sev.ere 
weather events and other natural disasters pose significant risks for our operations and the operations of our suppliers 
and customers, including, without limitation, that hurricanes, tornados, hail, fire, extreme precipitation, flooding, snow, 
ice storms, extreme heatwaves and drought could cause heavy damage to or destruction of our valuable assets and have 
multiple adverse impacts on our business: 

Decreased productivity of forests, increased frequency and severity of wildfires, heavy rain or drought, 
inadequate distribution and abundance of tree species, and the spread of disease or insect epidemics in 
forestlands, could adversely affect timber production and harvesting, thereby reducing the availability to us 
of, or reducing the density and quality of, the virgin fiber upon which we rely to manufacture our products. 
Thus, any one or more of these events could significantly increase the costs to manufacture our products and 
potentially delay or interrupt our manufactming operations (see " - Changes in the cost or availability of raw 
materials and energy used to manufacture our products could have a material adverse effect on our business. 
financial condition and results of operations"). Tf occurring in Brazil, such events could further increase the 
costs that we have been incurring to replenish the trees on our owned and managed Brazil forestlands and to 
source virgin fiber from third parties for our mills in Brazil, because such forestlands have been produc1ng 
sub-optimal yields of mature virgin fiber for our operations. Also, as a result of drought in Brazil, in 2024 
wildfires burned approximately 1% of our Brazil forestlands. The 2024 wildfires did not have a mater ial 
impact on us, but if drought and wildfires in Brazil worsen, we could incur further increased costs to source 
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more wood in Brazil from third patties and, if we were unable to source an adequate supply of suitable wood, 
production at our mills in Brazil could decrease. 

A steady supply of significant volumes of water are necessary to the manufacturing operations at our mills, 
and weather events interrupting such supply could slow or interrupt OLU" mill operations. For example,as a 
result of periodic drought conditions in Mogi Guac;:u, Brazil, water flow sometimes slows and is interrupted to 
our mill, slowing operations. Although this has not had a material adverse impact in the past, if there were a 
severe, extended drought, it could cause production at the mill to be suspended for an unknown period of 
time. Also, because of the need for a steady supply of water, our mills are located near rivers, exposing them 
to the risk of floods. A flood at any of our mills could result in severe damage to our assets, require costly 
repairs and cause the mill to suspend operations. 

Our manufacturing operations rely significantly on a steady supply of energy, and fuel is critical to the 
transport to us of inputs and the distribution by us of our products. Energy or fuel shortages or delivery 
disruptions caused by climate-related events, or the transition to a lower-carbon economy, could increase the 
price of energy needed to manufacture our products, the cost to us of having inputs transported to us, and 
costs of delivering our products to customers. Disruptions have the potential to cause us to suspend or stop 
operations until energy or fuel again become available. 

Unpredictable weather patterns or extended periods of severe weather could impact our suppliers and disrupt 
our supply chain, and thus increase our material costs and potentially delay or stop our operations. They a lso 
could impact our customers and result in decreased demand for our products by affected customers. 

Our ability to mitigate the adverse physical impacts of severe weather events and other natural disasters 
depends in part upon our disaster preparedness and response and business continuity planning, but we cannot 
guarantee that our disaster preparedness and business continuity planning would adequately mitigate such 
impacts. 

The introduction of a carbon tax or govenunent mandates to reduce GHG emissions, and more stringent or 
complex environmental and other permitting requirements, could result in costs to meet such requirements 
and other additional costs of compliance. 

There is no assurance that we can recover, through increased prices, any increased costs to us of fiber, energy, 
other materials, manufacturing stoppages or delays, regulatory compliance, or any other factor related to 
climate conditions or climate change, and if we were to pass these costs on to customers, it could reduce 
demand for our products. 

There has been an increased focus, including from investors, customers, regulators and other stakeholders 
regarding climate change, which has resulted or could result in more prescriptive reporting requirements w ith 
respect to climate change-related topics and increased expectations and pressure to voluntarily disclose such 
topics, all of which increase compliance costs. Additional details are available in Item I . Business "­
Environmental and Other Regulations" and "- Sustainability." 

We have established and publicly disclosed targets, and our progress towards achieving targets, related to 
cettain sustainability matters, including to reduce Scope I , 2 and 3 GHG emissions. Our sustainability targets 
are subject to assumptions, risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside of our control. If we cannot 
meet these targets by 2030, or if they are perceived negatively, including the perception that they are not 
sufficiently robust or, conversely, are too costly, our reputation could be banned. 

The impact of events resulting from any one or more of these climate-related risks could, directly or indirectly, have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. We are assessing our 
climate-related risks and determining the best strategies to address identified risks and increase our business's climate 
resilience. 

Additional discussion of our environmental regulatory risk is included in - "We are subiect to extensive 
environmental laws and regulations. and could incur substantia l costs as a resul t of compliance with. violations of or 
liabilities under these laws and regulations" and Item I . Business - Environmental and Other Regulations. 
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A public health crisis could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows. 

If a public health crisis were to curtail business activities or result in the imposition of govemmental restrictions on the 
general public or on business activities, or were to cause widespread illness among our or our customers' or suppliers' 
employees, it could, in turn, have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows. Fot· example, a public health crisis could reduce demand for our paper as a result of school and 
business closures and increased remote work among the general public, disrupt operations at our mills due to employee 
attrition, illness, quarantines, government actions or other restrictions, and cause labor shortages, supply chain 
disruptions and inflation that constrain our operations and increase our costs to operate. 

Risks Relating to Our Industry, the Products We Offer and Product Distribution 

Demand for and p'rices of paper and pulp products fluctua te and are cyclical, and fluctuations or cycles that 
result in decreased demand and lower prices could cause us to have lower sales volumes and smaUer profit 
margins. 

The paper and pulp industry, including the demand for our products, is cyclical. Historically, economic and market 
shifts, fluctuations in capacity and changes in foreign currency exchange rates have created cyclical changes in prices, 
sales volume and margins for our products. The length and magnitude of industry cycles have varied over time and by 
product, but generally reflect chang·es in macroeconomic conditions and levels of industry capacity. Most of our 
products are commodities that are available from other producers. While brand recognition and service levels impact 
the demand for products, because commodity products have few other distinguishing qualities from producer to 
producer, competition for these products is significantly based on price, which is determined by supply relative to 
demand. The overall levels of demand for the products that we manufacture, and consequently our sales and 
profitability, reflect fluctuations in levels of end-user demand, which depend in part on general macroeconomic 
conditions, competition, including from electronic substitution, and other factors also described in this Item lA. Risk 
Factors in "- The industrv-wide decline in demand for paper and related products could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows." 

Industry supply of paper and pulp products is also subject to fluctuation, as changing industry conditions have and will 
continue to influence producers to idle or permanently close individual machines or entire mills or convert them to 
different products to offset a decline in demand. Any such closures by us would result in significant cash and non-cash 
charges. In addition, to avoid substantial cash costs in connection with idling or closing a mill, some producers will 
choose to continue to operate at a loss, sometimes even a cash loss, which could prolong weak pricing environments 
due to oversupply. As a result, prices for our products are driven by many factors outside of our control, and we have 
little influence over the timing and extent of price changes, which are often volatile. Our profitability with respect to 
our products depends on managing our cost structure, particularly wood fiber, chemicals, transportation and energy 
costs, which represent some of the largest components of our operating costs and can fluctuate based upon factors 
beyond our control. If the prices or demand for our paper or pulp products decline, or if wood fiber, chemicals, 
transportation or energy costs increase, or both, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows 
could be materially adversely affected. See "-Changes in the cost or availability of raw materials and energy used to 
manufacture our products could have a material adverse effect on our business. financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows." 

Changes in the cost or availability of raw materials and ene rgy used to manufacture our products could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, fi nancial condition, results of operations and cash flo,ws. 

We rely heavily on the use of certain raw materials (principally virgin wood fiber, caustic soda, starch and water) and 
energy sources (principally biomass, natural gas, electricity and fuel oil) to manufacture our products. Our profitability 
has been, and will continue to be, affected by changes in the cost and availability of the raw materials and energy 
sources we use. Future inflation in the costs of and decreases in the availability of raw materials and energy is not 
within our control and could increase our costs of production and slow or stop our production. 

In 2024, as compared to 2023, we did not experience significant inflation in the costs of raw materials and energy, 
except for inflation in the cost of virgin wood fiber, driven primarily by tight wood supply in Europe and high wood 
demand in Latin America. The market price of virgin wood fiber varies based upon demand, availability, source, and 
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the costs of labor and the fuels used in harvesting and transporting the fiber. The cost and availability of wood fiber 
can also be affected by weather, climate variations, natural disasters, general logging conditions, geography, human 
activity and regulatory activity. 

An example of regulatory activity that has the potential to decrease the supply of wood fiber available to us are carbon 
sequestration regulations. Such regulations limit the availability of forestlands for harvest and could increase our cost 
of wood fiber and potentially create shortages having an impact on our operations. In particular, the EUDR in the 
European Union, to become effective on December 30, 2025, will prevent companies trading in certain goods and 
products derived from such goods, such as paper, from selling those products in Europe unless they conduct extensive 
diligence on the value chain to ensure that the products do not result from recent deforestation, forest degradation or 
breaches of local laws. The EUDR could decrease the volume of wood supplied in the European Union and increase 
prices there for wood generally. 

Also in Europe, lhere is a heighlened level of sensitivity in lhe pricing and ava ilabilily of raw materials and energy 
from the geopolitical conflicts in Europe, the Middle East and the Red Sea. We cannot predict whether these 
geopolitical conflicts will cause future increases in the costs of raw materials and energy for our mills, particularly our 
mills in Sweden and France. 

If we were to experience increases in ouJ operating costs for any of the reasons described above, we might be unable to 
pass on the increases to customers. The commodity nature of our products means that supply and demand primarily 
determine ouJ ability to increase our prices. Any sustained increase in the prices of raw materials and energy required 
for our manufacturing operations without any corresponding increase in our product pricing would reduce our 
operating margins and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 1·esults of operations 
and cash flows. 

Reduced truck, rail and ocean freight availability could lead to higher costs or poor service, r esulting in lower 
earnings, and could affect our ability to deliver the products we manufacture in a timely manner. 

We rely on third parties to transport materials to us used in our operations and to deliver our products to our customers, 
including transport by third party rail, trucks and ships. Tf any of these providers fail to deliver materials to us in a 
timely manner, we could experience delays in our ability to manufactme our products and be unable to meet customer 
demand. If any of our transportation providers fail to deliver our products to customers in a timely manner, it could 
result in additional costs to us in order to remedy the untimely delivery. Further, reduced availability of transportation 
causes inflationary pressure on the prices charged by our transportation providers, increasing our costs of production 
and delivery to customers. Tf any of our transportation providers were to cease operations or cease doing business with 
us, we could be unable to replace them at a reasonable cost. Any of the circumstances described in this paragraph 
could result in lost sales, increased supply chain costs and damage to our reputation, and have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

In 2024, we experienced significant inflation in ocean freight rates and, in the second half of the year, supply chain 
disruptions due to the global impact on shipping of attacks by the Houthis on and near the Red Sea, which reduced 
container and ship availability in all three regions where we operate, and also, with respect to our Latin American 
operations, due to congested ports that increased demand for space on ships. We cannot predict whether continued 
disruption in ocean freight on and near the Red Sea or demand at Brazilian ports will continue or in the future cause us 
to experience disruptions in our supply chain, increases in our transportation costs or difficulty supplying our 
customers. Although such events in 2024 caused increases in our costs, it did not have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. 

The industry-wide decline in demand for paper and related products could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition, results of operations and c.ash flows. 

We rely heavily on the sale of paper products, an industty that has experienced, and is expected to continue 
experiencing, a decline in demand, which could put pressure on our future revenue, profit margin and growth 
opportunities. The global demand for uncoated freesheet ("UFS") decreased at 2.4% CAGR from 2019 to 2024 (which 
includes the COVID-19 pandemic's atypical impact in 2020 of a 10.2% decline year-over-year), based on thhd party 
RISI industry data reporting as of December 2024. This secular decline in demand is due in large part to competing 
technologies and materials, including the increased use of e-mail and other electronic forms of communication, 
increased and permanent product substitution, including less print advertising, more electronic billing, more e-
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commerce, fewer catalogs and a reduced volume of mail. The secular decline in demand historically has had a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. As the use of non-paper 
alternatives continue to grow, demand for paper products is likely to decline further, which could have a furtlher 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Competition from other businesses and consolidation within the paper industry could have a material adverse 
effect on our competitive position, financial condition, results of operations a nd cash flows. 

We operate in a competitive environment in Europe, Latin America and North America. Product innovations, 
manufacturing and operating efficiencies, and marketing, distribution and pricing strategies pursued or achieved by 
competitors could have a material adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows. 

In addition, there has been a trend toward consolidation in the paper industry. Consolidation could result in the 
emergence of competitors with greater resources and scale than ours, which could adversely impact our competitive 
position. Further, actual or speculated consolidation among competitors, or the acquisition by, or of, our third party 
service providers and business partners by competitors could increase the competitive pressures faced by us as 
customers could delay spending decisions or not purchase our products at all. 

Risks Relating to Our Operations 

Material disruptions at one of our manufacturing facilities could have a mate rial adverse effect on ou1· business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

A material disruption at our corporate headquarters or one of our manufacturing facilities, or involving any of our 
machines within such facilities, could prevent us from meeting customer demand and reduce our sales, which could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Any of our 
manufacturing facilities, or any of our machines within an otherwise operational facility, could cease operations 
unexpectedly due to a number of events, including: 

fires, floods, earthquakes, hurricanes or other catastrophes; 

the effect of a drought, reduced rainfall or a flood on any of our mills' water supply; 

the effect of severe weather conditions on equipment and faci lities; 

disruption in the supply of raw materials, including wood fiber, or other manufacturing inputs; 

information system disruptions or failures due to any number of causes, including cyber-attacks on us or 
third parties with which we do business; 

domestic and international laws and regulations applicable to our business and our business partners around 
the world; 

unscheduled maintenance outages; 

prolonged power failw·es; 

an equipment failw·e or damage to any of our paper-making equipment; 

a chemical spill or release of pollutants or hazardous substances; 

explosion of or damage to a boiler or other equipment; 

damage or disruptions caused by third parties operating on or adjacent to one of our manufacturing faci li ties; 

disruptions in the transportation infrastructure, including roads, bridges, railroad tracks and tunnels; 
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a widespread outbreak of an illness or any other communicable disease, such as a viral pandemic or other 
public health crisis; 

failure of our third-party service providers and business partners to satisfactorily fulfill their commitments and 
responsibilities in a timely manner and in accordance with agreed upon terms; 

labor difficulties; and 

other operational problems. 

We are subject to information technology risks, including risks related to breaches of security pertaining to 
semsitive company, customer, employee and vendor informatjon, and breaches in the technology used to manage 
our operations and other business processes, and the increasing use of artificial intem gence. 

Om business operations rely upon secure infmmation technology systems for data capture, processing, storage and 
reporting. Despite careful secwity and controls design, implementation, updating and independent third-party 
verification, our information technology systems could become subject to employee error or malfeasance, cyber­
attacks, geopolitical events, natural disasters, failures or impairments of telecommunications networks or oilier 
catastrophic events. 

Also, third parties with which we do business are potential sources of cybersecutity risks. For example, we outsource 
certain information technology functions that allow access to our information technology systems, which could lead to 
a compromise of our systems or the introduction of vulnerable or malicious code, resulting in security breaches 
adversely affecting us or our customers. We have in place third-party cyber risk management to reduce this risk, and 
many of our agreements with third parties include relevant indemnification provisions. However, we cannot guarantee 
that our efforts to minimize third-party cyber risk will prevent a third-party cyber incident from occurring that has a 
material adverse impact on us. Additionally, if we were to experience loss as a result of a third-party cyber incident, 
we cannot guarantee that we would be able to recover any or all of such loss under any relevant contractual indemnity. 

Although in 2024 we did not experience any significant breaches of our information technology systems from 
cybersecurity attacks, we cannot be certain that the security measures we maintain to protect our information 
technology systems are able to prevent, contain or detect cyber-attacks, cyber terrorism or security breaches from 
known or future cyber-attacks. We expect cyber-attacks to continue to increase in sophistication and frequency for a 
number of reasons, including increases in technology-based products and services used by us and our customers, the 
growing use of mobile, cloud, and other emerging technologies such as artificial intelligence, and the increasing 
sophistication and activities of organized crime, hackers, terrorists, nation-states, activists and other external parties. If 
a cyber-attack against us successfully resulted in network, system, application or data breaches, it could cause us harm, 
including, but not limited to, interruption of our systems' availability, cyber criminals' misuse of our applications, our 
inability to access applications required for our operations (such that we may be delayed or unable to source materials, 
manufacture and ship fmished goods and account for orders and deliveries), theft of our intellectual prope11y and trade 
secrets, inappropriate disclosure of confidential company, employee, customer and vendor information, including 
disclosures in violation of laws, including privacy laws, and our contractual obligations. The loss to us could be 
significant, including financial losses resulting from remediating damages to our systems, loss from our inabili ty to 
operate or delays in our operations, lost sales, negative publicity, litigation and government penalties. As a result, such 
incidents could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows. 

We have processes and controls in place to prevent, detect, respond to and mitigate potential cybersecurity breaches. 
Nonetheless, we could experience significant cybersecurity breaches. 

FoJ additional pertinent information, see Item I C. Cybersecmity. 

Artificial Intelligence ("AI") is increasingly being integrated into applications and systems used by us and third parties 
with which we do business. The development, adoption and use of AI is in its early stages. We use only limited Al­
enhanced tools at the Company, which are approved after review by our information security team. Yet, our employees 
could use unauthorized AT tools on our systems, notwithstanding that we require only approved software be used, and 
our vendors and third-party pattners could incorporate AT tools into their software or systems with or without 
disclosing it to us. AI tools not vetted by us may not meet existing or rapidly evolving regulatory or industry standards 
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concerning privacy and data protection, and may result in a loss of intellectual property or confidential infonnation, 
resulting in fines, litigation, harm to our reputation, and diminished public perception of the effectiveness of our 
security measures. Additionally, unapproved AI tools that are faulty or inadequate for the use to which they are put 
could harm our Company systems or data. We also could incur substantial costs to address and mitigate privacy and 
data protection violations, to correct errors and data corruption or loss, and to resolve other resulting issues for affected 
third parties (for example, customers or other business partners who rely on our systems). Additionally, cyber 
criminals are increasingly using AI to enhance the sophistication and effectiveness of their cyber attacks, which 
increases our risk of cybersecurity incidents and our cost to protect ourselves against cybersecurity incidents. 

We are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations, and could incur substantial costs as a result of 
compliance with, violations of or liabilities under these laws and regulations. 

We are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulat ions in Europe, Latin America and North America. 
Environmental laws and regulations continue to evolve, and we could become subject to increasingly stringent 
environmental standards in the future, particularly under air quality and water quality laws and standards, including 
those intended to address climate change discussed at "- We are subject to physical, financial and reputational risks 
associated with climate change. including the impact of global, regional and local weather conditions. the availabi lity 
of wood fiber. water and fuel. and the impact of increasing regulatory and investor focus on climate change" and Jt.em 
1. Business - Sustainability - Climate Change and Reduction of GHGs. We anticipate continued or increased 
regulatory activity at the local, state, federal and international levels regarding environmental matters and 
environmental public policies that have an impact on our manufacturing operations. Compliance with regulations that 
implement new, more stringent requirements or new public policy could require significant expenditures on our part or 
even the curtailment of certain of our manufacturing operations. 

We have incurred. and expect that we will continue to incur, significant costs complying with applicable 
environmental laws and regulations. Our environmental expenditures include, among others, those related to air and 
water quality, waste disposal and the cleanup of contaminated soil and groLmdwater. See Note 13 Commitments and 
Contingent Liabilities to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 in this Annual Report on 10-K for 
additional information on environmental matters. 

Further, we are required to comply with environmental laws and the terms and conditions of multiple environmental 
permits. In the countries where we manufacture paper, our industry is subject to various performance-based rules 
associated with effluent and air emissions. For example, in the United States, federal, state and local laws and 
regulations require us to routinely obtain authorizations from and comply with the evolving standards of the 
appropriate governmental authorities, which have considerable discretion over the terms of permits. Failure to comply 
with environmental laws and permit requirements imposed by a governmental authority having jurisdiction over our 
operations could result in civil or criminal fines or penalties or enforcement actions, including regulatory or judicial 
orders enjoining or curtailing our operations or requiring us to take corrective measures, install pollution control 
equipment, or take other remedial actions, such as product recalls or labeling changes. There can be no assurance (hat 
future environmental permits will be granted or that we will be able to maintain and renew existing permits, and the 
failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows. 

In addition, as the owner and operator of real property, we could be liable under environmental laws for investigation, 
cleanup, closure and other costs and damages resulting from the presence and release of hazardous substances on or 
from our properties or operations, including properties that we no longer own or operate. For example, at our Mogi 
Guaryu mill in Brazil, we are working with environmental regulators to determine the work necessary to address 
his toric contamination on areas that we own near the mill. See Note 13 Commitments and Contingent Liabilities to t he 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form I 0-K for additional information. 
The amount and timing of environmental expenditures is difficult to predict, and, in some cases, our liability may be 
imposed without regard to contribution or to whether we knew of, or caused, the release of hazardous substances and 
may exceed forecasted amounts or the value of the property itself. The discovery of additional contamination or the 
imposition of additional cleanup obligations at our or third-party sites may result in significant additional costs. Any 
material liability we incur could preclude us from making capital expenditures that would otherwise benefit our 
business and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial conditions, results of operations and cash flows. 

We are subject to regulatory sustainability laws, such as the EUDR in the European Union and EPR laws in various 
European countries, Canadian provinces and states in the United States, as described in Item I. Business -
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Environmental and Other Regulations, that increase our costs of operating and, if we fail to be fully compliant, could 
result in frnes, penal ties and reputational harm. 

Our compliance with existing and new environmental laws, and any future remediation requirements relating to 
discharges under environmental laws, including, potentially, with respect to an ongoing environmental matter in Brazil 
(see Note 13 Commitments and Contingent Liabilities to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 in 
this Annual Report on 10-K), could require significant expenditures by us, and there is no assurance that our existing 
reserves for specific matters will be adequate to cover our future costs. We also could incur substantial fines or 
sanctions, enforcement actions (including orders limiting our operations or requiring corrective measures), natural 
resource damages claims, investigation, cleanup and closure costs, and third-party claims for property damage and 
personal injury as a result of violations of, or liabilities under, environmental laws, regulations, codes and common 
law. The amount and timing of environmental expenditures is difficult to predict, and, in some cases, liability may be 
imposed without regard to contribution or to whether we knew of, or caused, a release of hazardous substances. 

FOJ" more information about risks related to environmental laws., regulations and govemmental requirements, see Item 
l . Business - Environmental and Other Regulations. 

Our business is subject to a wide variety of other laws, regulations and other government requirements that 
may change in significant ways, and the cost of complia nce with such requirements could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

In addition to environmental laws and regulations, as discussed immediately above and in Item I Business -
Environmental and Other Regulations, our operations are subject to regulation under a wide variety of other laws, 
regulations and government requirements in Europe, Latin America and North America, including those relating to 
health and safety, labor and employment, data privacy, taxes, antitrust and competition, trade, and health care. There 
can be no assurance that laws, regulations and government requirements will not be changed, applied or interpreted in 
ways that will require us to modify our operations and objectives, affect our returns on investments by restricting 
existing activities and products or subjecting them to escalating costs, or require us to spend significant amounts to 
comply. 

For example, we are subject to complex and evolving U.S. and intemational privacy laws and regulations, including 
those pertaining to the handling of personal data, such as the EU General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR"), 
Brazil's Lei General de Proter;;ao de Dados Pessoais ("LGPD"), and the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 
("CCPA"), as amended and expanded by the California Privacy Rights Act ("CPRA"). The GDPR, which applies with 
respect to all member states of the European Union, and Brazil's LGPD both establish rules for the collection, use, 
processing, storage and transfer of personal data and impose significant penalties for noncompliance. The GDPR gives 
European Union citizens and residents, and the LGPD gives Brazilian data subjects, expanded rights to control their 
personal data and access to it, and includes requirements with respect to maintaining the security of personal data, 
limiting the processing of personal data, reporting data breaches and cross-border data transfers. The CCPA, as 
amended by the CPRA, affords California residents and households expanded privacy protections. Additiona[ly, 
governmental authorities in these and! other jurisdictions may implement new data protection laws and regulations that 
apply to us. 

Improper disclosure of personal data in violation of the GDPR, LGPD, the CCPA or other current or future personal 
data protection laws could ha1m our reputation, cause loss of consumer confidence, subject us to government 
enforcement actions and fines, and result in private litigation against us, which, in turn, could result in loss of revenue, 
increased costs, liability for monetary damages, fines or criminal prosecution, all of which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Additionally, as new privacy laws and regulations are passed, we could incm additional, potentially significant, 
compliance costs, inch1ding costs to modify our business practices, data processing and security systems. Regulatory 
authorities could determine that our data handling practices fail to address all the requirements of any new laws or 
regulations, which could subject us to penalties, litigation and the other fallout from violating privacy laws and 
regulations that are noted above. 

There is no assurance that our security controls over personal data, the training of employees and vendors on data 
privacy and data security, and the policies, procedures and practices we implement will prevent the improper 
disclosure of personal data in violation of any privacy laws or regulations. 
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We are subject to tax laws in Europe, Latin America and North America that are subject to interpretation by taxing 
authorities, and we are subject to audit by taxing authorities. Additionally, administrative guidance can be incomplete 
or vary from legislative intent, and therefore the application of some tax law is uncertain. While we believe the 
positions reported by Sylvamo comply with relevant tax laws and regulations, taxing authorities could interpret our 
application of certain laws and regulations differently. We are currently subject to tax audits in the United States, 
Brazil and other taxing jurisdictions around the world. Tn some cases, International Paper appealed and we have 
continued to appeal, certain assessments by taxing authorities in the court system, particularly in Brazil. As such, tax 
controversy matters may result in previously unrecorded tax expenses, higher future tax expenses or the assessment of 
interest and penalties. See Note 13 Commitments and Contingent Liabilities and Note 12 Income Taxes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form I 0-K. 

For example, the Brazilian Federal Revenue Service has challenged the deductibility of goodwill amortization 
generated in a 2007 acquisition by International Paper do Brasil Ltda., now named Sylvamo do Brasil Ltda. ("Sylvamo 
Brasil"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sylvamo (the "Brazil Tax Dispute"). Sylvamo Brasil's assessments for the tax 
years 2007-2015 total approximately $95 million in tax and $235 million in interest, penalties and fees (adjusted for 
variation in currency exchange rates). After a previous favorable ruling challenging the basis for these assessments, 
Sylvamo Brasil received other subsequent unfavorable decisions from the Brazilian Administrative Council of Tax 
Appeals. These decisions are being appealed. The appeal involves several separate cases. Tn October 2024, at the first 
level of appeal in the Brazilian federal coutt system, the court ruled in favor of Sylvamo Brasil in cases covering 
approximately two thirds of the disputed amounts. The remaining one third of the disputed amounts is still under 
challenge at the Brazilian administrative court level and was not part of the ruling. The Brazilian tax authorities have 
appealed the October 2024 ruling, and there is no assurance that Sylvamo Brasil will ultimately prevail. The Brazilian 
government may enact a tax amnesty program that would allow Sylvamo Brasil to resolve the Brazil Tax Dispute for 
less than the assessed amount. There is no assurance that any such amnesty program will be enacted or that we w ill 
participate. Pursuant to a tax matters agreement between Sylvamo and International Paper, Sylvamo's payments for 
any liability in this matter are capped at 40% of the first $300 million of any final settlement amount (up to $120 
million). All decisions concerning the conduct of the litigation related to the Brazil Tax Dispute, including as to 
strategy, settlement, pursuit, abandonment and patticipation in any tax amnesty program, are and will continue to be 
made by Intemational Paper. Sylvamo will thus have no control over any decision related to the ongoing litigation. As 
legally required by the Brazilian federal court, Sylvamo Brasil has provided surety bonds in connection with the Brazil 
Tax Dispute. Sylvamo Corporation and International Paper have indemnified the provider of the surety bonds for their 
respective portions of potential liability during the pendency of the appeal in the Brazilian federal court. If Sylvamo 
Brasil were unable to renew the surety bonds upon their expiration, or if Sylvamo Brasil were unable to provide 
additional surety bonds as and when required by the Brazilian federal court, Sylvamo Brasil could be required to post 
acceptable collateral in order to continue the litigation. International Paper has agreed to provide such additional 
collateral in respect of its portion of the potential liability, on behalf of Sylvamo Brasil. Tf Sylvamo Brasil were unable 
to secure any required surety bond, or iflnternational Paper and Sylvamo were unable to provide acceptable collateral 
for such surety bond, such that we are not able to continue our appeals, or if the Brazil Tax Dispute is resolved 
unfavorably, the tax and related costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results 
of operations and cash flows. We cannot predict when resolution of the Brazil Tax Dispute through the Brazil ian 
courts will occur, but estimate that it could take up to an additional nine years. 

The pension plans that we maintain for employees in the United States and former employees in the United Kingdom 
("U.K.") are heavily regulated, and changes in the applicable laws and regulations, or interpretations that impact us, 
could increase our costs of compliance or negatively impact fu11ding. For example, in a 2024 pension plan case in the 
U.K. (Virgin Media Ltd v. NTL Pension Trustees IT), the presiding court invalidated certain pension plan amendments, 
the earliest being in 1999, on grounds that the U.K.'s statutory process required that any amendments materially 
changing plan benefits must undergo certain regulatory notifications and actuarial confrrmation. As a result of this 
ruling, all U.K. pension plans (including our U.K. pension plan) are subject to the risk that any plan amendment made 
since the late 1990s may be void if such statutory process was not followed. The Company is reviewing its archival 
U.K. pension files to verify that such process was followed and documented for its U.K. pension plan amendments. If 
for any amendment to our U.K. pension plan the process was not followed, or if we cannot document that it was 
followed, and if the amendment is void as a result, we may have to revisit benefits paid out under the Company's U .K. 
pension plan and make backdated payments to plan members. In such event, there could be a material increase in the 
Company's U.K. pension plan liabilities that requires increased Company contributions to make up the difference. 

21 



Increases to income tax rates and other tax rates in the jurisdictions in which we operate could have an adverse effect 
on our business, fmancial condition and results of operations. Tax laws, regulations and administrative practices in 
various jurisdictions may be subject to significant change, with or without advance notice, due to economic, political 
and other conditions, and significant judgment is required in evaluating and estimating our provision and accmals for 
these taxes. There a re many transactions that occur during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain. Our effective tax rates could be affected by numerous factors, such as changes in tax laws, 
regulations, administrative practices, principles and interpretations, the mix and level of earnings in a given taxing 
jurisdiction or our ownership or capital structures. It is difficult to predict whether and when tax law changes will be 
enacted that would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows. 

Our operations are subject to anti-cormption laws and regulations, such as the U.S. Foreign Cormpt Practices Act 
("FCPA"), the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010 ("Bribery Act"), France's Sapin IT Act, and other anti-corruption laws in 
various jurisdictions where we operate. These laws prohibit us and our officers, directors, employees, and agents 
acting on our behalf from cormptly offering, promising, authorizing, or providing anything of value to foreign officials 
for the purposes of influencing official decisions or obtaining or retaining business or otherwise obtaining favorable 
treatment. Our opet·ations are also subject to economic and trade sanctions laws and regulations, such as those 
administered and enforced by the U.S. Department of Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets Control, the U.S. 
Department of State, the U.S. Department of Commerce, the United Nations Security Council and other relevant 
sanctions authorities. Our global operations may expose us to the risk of violating, or being accused of violating, the 
foregoing laws and regulations, or other anti-cormption or economic and trade sanctions laws. Such violations could 
expose us to reputational harm and could be punishable by criminal fines, imprisonment, civil penalties, disgorgement 
of profits, injunctions, and exclusion from government contracts, as well as other remedial measures. Investigations of 
alleged violations can be expensive and disruptive. 

Although we have implemented anti-corruption policies, procedures and training measures, there can be no guarantee 
tha t these policies, procedures, and training will effectively prevent violations by our employees or representatives in 
the future. Additionally, we face a risk that our business partners may violate the FCPA, the Bribery Act, the Sapin II 
Act, or similar laws or regulations. Such violations could expos.e us to liability, and our reputation could be harmed by 
their violations. Despite our compliance efforts and activities we cannot assure compliance by our employees or 
representatives for which we may be held responsible, and any such violation could materially adversely affect our 
reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

We rely heavily on a small number of significant customers and are exposed to risks associated with the 
financial viability of our customers and consolidation among our customers. 

We rely heavily on a small number of significant customers, and if we were to lose one or more of such customers, it 
could have a material adverse effect on our sales and profitability. For example, our top ten customers repres·ent 
approximately 41% of our net sales, including one customer that represents approximately I 3% of our net sales; see 
Note 17 Financial Information by Business Segment and Geographic Area to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In particular, because our business operates in a higlhly 
competitive industry, we regularly bi·d for new business or for renewal of existing business. Generally, our customers 
are not contractually required to purchase any minimum amount of products. Should our customers purchase products 
in significantly lower quantities than they have in the past, such decreased purchases could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We are also exposed to risks associated with the ability of our customers to meet their financial ob ligations to us. The 
financial viability of our customers is key to maintaining our sales to those customers and their ability to pay for those 
sales. Any threat to the financial viability of our customers could result in the reduction, delay or cancellation of 
customer orders and their ability to pay their outstanding receivables with us which could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

In addition, consolidation among our customers could result in changes to the purchasing habits and volumes among 
our customers and could affect our relationship with our customers. If one of our competitors' customers acquires any 
of our customers, we could lose that business. Additionally, as our customers become larger and more concentrated, 
they could exert pricing pressure on a ll suppliers, including us. As a result, we could be forced to reduce the prices of 
our products. The loss or reduction of business from our larger customers, or the renewal of business on less favorable 
terms, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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Our operations require substantial capital, and any significant capital investments could negatively affect our 
cash flows. 

Our operations require substantial capital. We make capital investments, sometimes substantial, primarily to expand 
and replace existing facilities and equipment, improve our operations, and comply with changes in environmental laws 
and regulations. Key pieces of equipment in our various manufacturing facilities may, perhaps unexpectedly, need to 
be repaired or replaced. Increased fixed costs from capital investments or large one-time capital investments could 
negatively affect our cash flows. Tn 2025, we will make significant capital investments to enhance and upgrade our 
manufacturing operations, including a large capital project at our Eastover mill. Additionally, while we expect such 
projects to result in favorable returns on the capital invested in them, there is no guarantee that they will have the 
levels of return that we expect. We expect our capital spend in 2025 for all of our mills to be between approximat·ely 
$220 and $240 million. We also may incur significant costs associated with capital investments that we make to ensure 
compliance with environmental laws and regulations; see Item I. Business - Environmental and Other Regulations -
Environmental and Climate Change Regulation. 

Our business and business prospects could be materially adversely affected if we fail to attract and retain senior 
ma nagement and ()ther key employees. 

We are led by a strong senior management team that has extensive experience in the paper industry, and we rely upon 
an extensive and skilled workforce. Our ability to successfully operate our business and our future growth depends, to 
a significant degree, on the ability to continue to attract and retain senior management with strong leadership 
experience and relevant knowledge and skills. There is no guarantee that we will be able to continue to attract and 
retain strong senior management. 

Also, as our workforce at our mills ages and retires, we will lose operators and other members of our skilled workfoTce 
with 30+ years' experience, and many of the employees replacing them will have much less tenure. This is due to a 
large extent on workforce preferences; that is, employee interest in manufacturing jobs with shifts covering 24 hours, 
seven days per week, has declined, and employees also are more open now to voluntarily leaving their positions and 
having multiple employers over their career than has historically been the case in our industry. Our training programs 
are tailored to accelerate training, but it is difficult to replace the number of years of experience our retiring operators 
and skilled workforce possessed. Although the labor market generally is not as tight as it was in recent years, the 
market remains tight for labor having the specialized technical and trade skills and experience needed for 
manufacturing operations at our mill locations. All of these factors drive up our cost of labor and, further, there is no 
guarantee that we will be able to attract and retain the skilled employees needed to successfully operate our business in 
the future. 

Additionally, we could experience labor shortages if a public health crisis were to affect the supply of labor or ability 
of employees to work (see "-A public health crisis could have a material adverse effect on our business. financial 
condition. results of operations and cash flows") or if our relationships with our employees represented by unions were 
to deteriorate (see "- We could experience disruptions in operations and increased labor costs due to labor disputes" ). 

Loss of the services of any members of our senior management team or other key or skilled employees, significant 
attrition in our workforce, retirements as our workforce ages or the failure to attract and retain qualified persons to 
serve in management and other positions, could have a material adverse effect on our business and business prospects. 

A significant write-down of goodwill or other intangible assets could have a material adverse effect on our 
financial condition and r esults of operations. 

We review our goodwill balance for impairment at least once a year using the qualitative assessment and, when 
necessary, the quantitative goodwill impairment test allowed in accordance with current accounting standards. Future 
changes in the cost of capital, expected cash flows, or other factors could cause ow· goodwill and other intangible 
assets to be impaired, resulting in a ·non-cash charge against results of operations to write down these assets for the 
amount of the impairment. In addition, if we make changes in our business strategy or if external conditions adversely 
affect our business operations, we may be required to record an impairment charge for goodwill or intangibles, which 
would lead to decreased assets and reduced net operating results. Tf a significant write down is required, the charge 
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. 
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Failure to achieve expected investment returns on pension plan assets, as weU as changes in interest rates or 
plan demographics, could adverseJy impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows. 

We sponsor various defined benefit pension plans. The assets of the pension plans are diversified in an attempt to 
mitigate the risk of a large loss. Re.quired funding for our domestic defined benefit pension plan is determined in 
accordance with guidelines set forth in the federal Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended 
("ERISA") and foreign defined benefit pension plans are funded in accordance with local statutes or practice. 
Additional contributions to enhance the funded status of the pension plans can be made at our discretion. As of 
December 31, 2024, the Sylvamo U.K. pension plan was fully funded, and the Sylvamo United States pension plan 
was 96% funded. We may need to make future contributions to reduce any underfunding and, with respect to the U.K. 
pension plan, we have agreed with U.K. regulators to contribute to the plan approximately $4 million per year through 
2029 to enhance the plan's self-sufficiency. There can be no assurance that the value of the pension plan assets, or the 
investment returns on those plan assets, will be sufficient LO meet the future benefit obligations of such plans. In 
addition, during periods of adverse market conditions and declining interest rates, we may be required to make 
additional cash contributions to the pension plans that could reduce our financial flexibility. Changes in plan 
demographics, including an increase in the number of retirements or increases in life expectancy assumptions, may 
also increase the costs and funding requirements of the obligations related to the company's pension plans. 
Additionally, interpretations of or changes in laws applicable to our United States or U.K. pension plan could cause us 
to have to increase funding of the plan; for example, see the disclosure concerning our U.K. pension plan in "- Our 
business is subject to a wide variety of other laws. regulations and other government requirements that may change in 
significant ways. and the cost of compliance with such requirements could have a material adverse effect on our 
business. financial condition. results of operations and cash flows." An increase in costs or funding requirements 
could adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

We could experience disruptions in operations and increased labor costs due to labor disputes. 

A portion of our workforce is represented by unions and operate under various collective bargaining agreements, 
including some of our employees that are represented by six unions in Brazil, three unions in France, four unions in 
Sweden, and a union with two branches representing the hourly employees at our mill in Ticonderoga, New York. We 
must negotiate to renew or extend any union contracts near or upon their expiration. We may not be able to 
successfully negotiate new agreements without work stoppages or labor difficulties in the future or renegotiate them on 
favorable terms. If we are unable to successfully or favorably renegotiate the terms of any of these agreements, or if 
we experience any extended interruption of operations at any of our facilities as a result of strikes or other work 
stoppages, this could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows. 

We may not achieve the expected benefits from strategic acquisitions, joint ventures, divestitures, capital 
investments and other corporate transactions that we may pursue. 

We may pursue strategic acquisitions, joint ventures, divestitures, capital investments and other corporate transactions, 
such as our acquisition in January 2023 of our paper mill in Nymolla, Sweden. We may not achieve the expected 
benefits associated with any such transactions in which we engage. Failure to achieve the expected benefits of a 
transaction could require us to record an impairment charge for goodwill or fixed assets. Among the benefits we would 
expect from potential acquisitions and joint ventures are synergies, cost savings, growth opportunities and access to 
new markets (or a combination thereof), and in the case of divestitures, the realization of proceeds from the sale of 
assets to purchasers who place higher strategic value on such assets than we do .. Corporate transactions of this narure 
which we may pursue involve a number of special risks, including our inability to realize our business goals with 
respect to such transactions as noted above, the focus of our management's attention on these transactions and the 
integration of acquired businesses into our operations, the demands on our financial, operational and information 
technology systems resulting from acquired businesses, and the possibility that we may become responsible for 
substantial contingent or unanticipated legal liabilities as the result of acquisitions or other corporate transactions. 

In addition, subject to certain exceptions for immaterial transfers, if any portion of the Brazil eucalyptus forest 
plantations owned by Sylvamo as of October I, 2021 are directly or indirectly transferred, Sylvamo will be required to 
make a payment of $ 100 million to International Paper. For these purposes, a transfer includes any sale, pledge or 
transfer of any legal or beneficial interest in the Brazil lands, including any grant of an option or other right or interest 
or entry into any contract that would result in a reduction or diminution of Sylvamo's economic ownership in the 
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Brazil lands. A change of control of Sylvamo would also result in the payment becoming due and payable. As a result, 
we would not realize the full value of any transfer of the Brazil eucalyptus forest plantations, which may make any 
such transaction less attractive to us, and the provision requiring payment upon a change in control of Sylvamo would 
be a pricing consideration in any potential strategic transaction. 

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectu.al property and other proprieta ry rights that a re 
material to our business, or to defend successfully against intellectual property infringement claims by third 
parties. 

We rely on a combination of contractual rights with third parties and copyright, trademark, patent and trade secret laws 
to establish and protect our intellectual property. Although we endeavor to protect our rights, third parties may infringe 
or misappropriate our intellectual property. We may have to litigate to enforce and protect our copyrights, trademarks, 
patents, trade secrets and know-how or to determine their scope, validity or enforceability. This would represent a 
diversion of resources that may be significant and our efforts may not prove successful. The inability to secure or 
protect our intellectual property assets could harm our reputation and have a material adverse effect on our business 
and our ability to compete with other companies in our industry. In addition, we have a license from HP Inc. for the 
right to produce and sell HP branded copy paper in almost all geographies globally. If we were to lose such license, 
our production volumes could decline and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be 
materially adversely affected. 

ln addition, we may be subject to claims by third parties for (i) patent, trademark or copyright infriJJgement, (ii) breach 
of patent, trademark or copyright license usage rights or (i ii) misappropriation of h·ade secrets. Any such claims or 
res ulting litigation could result in sig11ificant expense and liabili ty for damages. If we were found to have infringed or 
misappropriated a third-party patent or other intellectual property right, we could in some circumstances be enjoined 
from providing certain products or services to our customers or from utilizing and benefiting from certain patents, 
copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets or licenses. Alternatively, we could be required to enter into costly licensing 
arrangements with third parties or implement a costly alternative. Any of these scenarios could harm our reputation 
and have a material adverse effect on our business, frnancial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Risks Related To Our Agreements with International Paper 

We rely on commercial agreements with our former parent company, International Paper, whereby a 
substantial amount of our producti.on in the United States is outsourced, and the loss of such agreements or the 
inability to recoup the fL-xed costs of such agreements, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

ln connection with our separation from International Paper on October I, 202 1, we and International Paper entered ilnto 
agreements that govern certain commercial relationships following the separation, including related to the supply and 
purchase of ce1tain raw materials and fi nished products, and licenses of ce1tain intellectual property and technoiOb'Y· 
For example, we entered into offtak·e agreements related to International Paper's Georgetown, South Carolina, and 
Riverdale, Alabama, mills, to provide us with UFS products important to our business. 

As. of December 31 , 2024, we and International Paper, by mutual consent, have terminated the agreement pursuant to 
which the Georgetown mill supplied the Company with products. The Georgetown mill supplied approximately 
250,000 tons to the Company in 2024. After termination of the agreement, we will exit approximately 150,000 tons 
and, assuming 2024 margins, termination of this agreement is expected to negatively impact the Company's earnings 
by $40 million. We retained and qualified approximately 100,000 tons of the most profitable products at our otlher 
N01th American mills. 

International Paper has had the right to terminate the offtake agreement related to the Riverdale mill since January I, 
2024, on six months' advance notice to us, and termination of such agreement could significantly reduce our UFS 
production capacity in the United States. Such right has not been exercised as of the date of this Annual Report on 
Form I 0-K, but we are preparing for the possibili ty that the agreement may be tenninated. We believe that the 
Riverdale mill, as a paper mill, is subject to the same or similar economic, external, industry and operational risks that 
our own mills face (as described in these "Risk Factors"). The expiration or termination of the Riverdale offtake 
agreement, or the inability of the Riverdale mill to produce our products at a reasonable cost to us or at all, could have 
an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows if we are unable to acquire 
or sell the raw materials or finished products to third parties on at least similar terms, or at all. 
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Moreover, we are required to pay certain fixed costs under the Riverdale offtake agreement regardless of the level of 
orders received, and we will not be able to terminate the Riverdale offtake agreement until January I, 2026, even if 
demand has decreased such that we are no longer able to sell the UFS and other products produced at the Riverdale 
facility. As a result, until the January I, 2026 early termination date, we will not be able unilaterally to reduce or 
eliminate the costs associated with the Riverdale offtake agreement, which may have an adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

If the distribution of shares of Sylvamo and certain related transactions in connection with our separation from 
International Paper were to fail to qualify for non-recognition treatment for U.S. federal income tax purposes, 
then International Paper, Sylvamo and International Paper's shareholders may be subject to significant U.S. 
federal income tax. 

International Paper received a private letter ruling from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS"), and an opinion 
of a nationally recognized tax counsel, regarding certain aspects of our separation from International Paper, the 
distribution of shares of Sylvamo and certain related transactions, confirming that such transactions are generally tax­
free for U.S. federal income tax purposes to International Paper, Sylvamo and International Paper shareholders. A tax 
opinion is not binding on the IRS or the courts, and there can be no assurance that the IRS or a court will not take a 
contrary position. If any of the representations or covenants relied upon for the tax opinion or the private letter ruling 
are or become inaccurate, are incomplete or are not complied with by International Paper, Sylvamo or any of their 
respective subsidiaries, the private letter ruling or tax opinion may be invalid in whole or in part, and the conclusions 
reached therein could be jeopardized. 

If the IRS ultimately determines, and a court confim1s, that any aspect of the separation, the distribution or any related 
transaction is taxable, then (i) International Paper could incur significant U.S. federal income tax liabilities and/or (ii) 
International Paper shareholders that received Sylvamo stock in the distribution could be required to include taxable 
income or gain with respect to their receipt of Sylvamo stock. Sylvamo may be required to indemnifY International 
Pajper for such tax liability in certain circumstances, pursuant to the tax matters agreement; however, there can be no 
assurance that Sylvamo would have the resources or liquidity needed to satisfy any claim under the indemnity. 

Satisfaction of indemnification obligations to International Paper could have a material adverse effect on our 
financial condition, results of operations a nd cash flows. 

Pursuant to the distribution and separation agreement, tax matters agreement and certain other agreements we entered 
into with International Paper in connection with our separation from International Paper, International Paper agreed to 
indemnifY us for certain liabilities, and we agreed to indemnify International Paper for certain liabilities. Payments that 
we may be required to make under our indemnity of International Paper are not subject to any cap, may be significant 
and could negatively impact our business, particularly with respect to indemnities provided in the tax matters 
agreement. 

We may also incur significant costs related to environmental liabilities that may arise at our mills, or other sites that 
were not owned by International Paper at the time of separation but were primarily operated or used by International 
Pajper's former printing papers business. 

Third parties could also seek to hold us responsible for any of the liabilities that Intemational Paper has agreed to 
retain. Indemnities from lntemational Paper may not be sufficient to protect us against the full amount of such 
liaibilities if, for example, International Paper is not able to fully satisfy its indemnification obligations. Moreover, even 
if we ultimately succeed in recovering from International Paper any amounts for which we are indemnified by it, we 
may be temporarily required to bear these losses ourselves, requiring us to divert cash that would otherwise have been 
used in furtherance of our operating business. Each of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition and results of operations. 

Risks Relating To Our Indebtedness 

Our indebtedness could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and cash flows. 

In 2024, we refinanced our indebtedness to extend its maturity profile and reduce the total amount of our debt 
facilities. As of December 31, 2024, we have a $400 million cash flow-based revolving credit facility, a $219 million 
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Term Loan A maturing in 2029, a $257 million Term Loan F maturing in 2027, a $232 million Term Loan F-2 
maturing in 2031, and a $1 10 million accounts receivable finance facility maturing in 2027. As of December 31, 2024, 
the aggregate principal amount of all of our outstanding debt was approximately $796 million. Our strategy has 
included a reduction of our outstanding debt obligations, by nearly 48% since 2021, but nonetheless our debt is a risk 
that could have imp011ant consequences to our shareholders, including: 

limiting om ability to obtain additional fmancing to fund future working capital, capital expenditures, product 
development, acquisitions or other general corporate requirements; 

requiring a portion of our cash flows to be dedicated to debt service payments instead of other purposes, 
thereby reducing the amount of cash flows available for working capital, capital expenditures, product 
development, acquisitions, returning cash to shareowners and other general corporate purposes; 

increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions; 

increasing our effective tax rate; 

exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates to the extent that our borrowings are at variable rates of 
interest or upon incurring new debt at maturity at new interest rates; 

limiting oui ability to deduct the full amount of the interest payments on any debt from our taxable income; 

limiting our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in the industry in which we compete; 

placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to other, less leveraged competitors or competitors with 
comparable debt and more favorable terms; and 

increasing our cost of borrowing. 

We and our subsidiaries may incur s ignificant additional indebtedness in the future. If new indebtedness is added to 
our current indebtedness levels, these risks would increase. 

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service our indebtedness and may be forced to take other 
actions to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful. 

Our ability to make scheduled payments on or refinance our anticipated debt obligations will depend on our financial 
condition and operating performance, which are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to 
financial, business, legislative, regulatory and other factors beyond our control, including those discussed under "­
Risks Related to Our Industry, the Products We Offer and Product Distribution." We may not be able to maintain a 
level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premiwn, if any, and interest 
on our indebtedness. If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, which 
would trigger default under the credit agreement, we could face substantial liquidity problems and could be forced to 
reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures or to dispose of material assets or operations, seek additional debt 
or equity capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness. We may not be able to affect any such alternative 
measures on commercially reasonable terms or at all and, even if successful, those alternative actions may not allow us 
to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. 

The agreements governing our indebtedness contain restrictive covenants that limit our ability to conduct our business, 
including cettain limitations on our ability to dispose of assets and the use of the proceeds from those dispositions, 
certain requirements that we use the proceeds from future incurrences of debt or issuances of equity to repay existing 
indebtedness, and limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness. We may not be able to consummate dispositions or 
to obtain proceeds in an amount sufficient to meet any debt service obligations then due. Our inability to generate 
sufficient cash flows to satisfy our debt obligations, or to refinance our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms 
or at all, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations and our ability to 
satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness. 

A failure to make scheduled payments on our debt, or a breach of any of the covenants under the agreements 
governing our indebtedness, if not waived by the lenders, or, to the extent applicable, not cured within specified 
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periods, would resttlt in an event of default w1der those agreements. Lenders under the agreements governing our 
indebtedness could declare all outstanding principal and interest to be due and payable, and lenders could furtlher 
terminate their commitments to loan money under our existing revolving credit facility or foreclose against the assets 
securing their borrowings, which could force us to file for bankruptcy protection and either restructure or liquidate. 
Any of these events could result in our shareholders losing some or all of the value of their investments. Further, an 
event of default may result in the acceleration of any other debt to which a cross-acceleration or cross-default 
provision applies. In the event the lenders accelerate the repayment of our borrowings, we and our subsidiaries may 
not have sufficient assets to repay that indebtedness. 

Risks Relating To Our Common Stock 

Future offerings of debt or equity securities ranking senior to our common stock could adversely affect the 
market price of our common stock. 

ln the future, we may decide to issue senior or subordinated debt securities or preferred stock or other equity securities 
that rank senior to our common stock. Indentures or other instruments governing such securities may include 
covenants restricting our operating flexibility and ability to pay dividends and make other distributions to our 
shareholders. Additionally, any convertible or exchangeable securities that we issue in the future could have rights, 
preferences and privileges more favorable than those of our common stock and could result in dilution to owners of 
our common stock. We and, indirectly, our shareholders, will bear the cost of issuing and servicing such securities. 
Because our decision to issue debt or equity securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and 
other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offeri111gs. 
Thus, holders of our common stock wi II bear the risk of our future offerings, reducing the market price of our common 
stock and diluting the value of their common stock holdings in us. 

Continued payment of dividends on, and repurchases of, our common stock are subject to the continued 
discretion of our board of directors and, consequently, shareholders' ability to achieve a return on their 
investment could become limited to appreciation in the price of our common stock. 

Since 2022, we have paid quarterly dividends and have been opportunistically repurchasing shares of our common 
stock. Our continued declaration and payment of quatterly dividends, continued repurchases of shares, and institution 
of any other return of cash to our shareholders, including payment of any special dividends, will nonetheless be at the 
discretion of our board of directors and will depend on many factors, including our earnings, financial condition and 
results of operations, capital requirements, level of indebtedness, covenants contained within our debt agreements, 
contractual restrictions with respect to payment of dividends and the repurchase of shares, ability to obtain cash or 
other assets from our subsidiaries, restrictions imposed by applicable law, general business conditions and other factors 
tha t our board of directors may deem relevant. As of December 31, 2024, we have repurchased $218 million of the 
total $300 million authorized thus far by our board of directors for repurchases of our common stock. Any repurchases 
in excess of the remaining amount authorized for repurchases would require further authorization by our board of 
directors. 

Among the covenants in our debt agreements, prior to the Brazil Tax Dispute (as defmed this Form 10-K) being 
resolved, if we do not maintain the minimum level of liquidity specified in such agreements, or, if there are adverse 
rulings in the Brazil Tax Dispute and we do not maintain the specified minimum level of liquidity and deposit $60 
million into escrow, then we would be limited in the amount of "restricted payments," including dividends and share 
repurchases, that we may make while our indebtedness remains outstanding. For more information about the Brazil 
Tax Dispute and the terms of our indebtedness, see " - Our business is subject to a wide variety of other laws. 
regulations and other government requirements that may change in significant ways. and the cost of compliance with 
such requirements could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition. results of operations and 
cash flows," and Note 14 Long-Term Debt and Note 12 Income Taxes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form LO-K. 

There can be no assurance that we w ill continue to pay dividends or repurchase shares of our common stock in the 
future. Therefore, the success of an investment in shares of our common stock may in the future depend only upon any 
future appreciation in their value. There is no guarantee that shares of our common stock will appreciate or even 
maintain their value. 
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Shareholders' percentage ownershlp in Sylvamo will be diluted by equity compensation and potential use of our 
sha res as consideration for any future acquisitions, strategic investments or financing of ongoing operations. 

We grant stock-based equity awards to our directors and cetiain officers and other employees as patiial compensation 
fot- their services for us. Equity awards dilute shareholders' ownership in Sylvamo. In addition, we may issue equity as 
all or part of the consideration paid for acquisitions and strategic investments that we may make in the future or to 
finance our ongoing operations. 

If any of our shareholders sells a substantial number of shares of our common stock, the m arket price of our 
common stock could decline. 

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales 
(or the possibility that these sales may occur), or speculation that a holder of a large number of shares of our common 
stock intends to sell its shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock. As of February 11, 2025, we have 
approximately 40.6 million shares of common stock outstanding, of which approximately 6.3 million are subject to 
certain restrictions on transfer imposed by contract or the U.S. federal securities laws. 

We may be subject to the actions of activist shareholders, which could cause us to incur substantial costs, divert 
ma nagement's attention and resources, and adversely affect our business and stock price. 

We may be the subject of increased activity by activist sharehoDders. Responding to shareholder activism can be costly 
and time-consuming, disrupt our operations and divert the attention of management and our employees from executing 
our business plans. iff faced with an activist shareholder in the future, we may not be able or willing to respond to the 
activist shareholder's requests, which could result in a proxy contest and disrupt our operations. Activist campaigns 
could create perceived uncertainties as to the future direction of the Company or its leadership and strategic plans and 
may also result in the loss of potential business opportunities, harm our ability to attract qualified personnel and 

business partners and cause us to incur additional legal, fm:ancial advis01y and other costs. Activist shareholder 

activity, or the mere presence of an activist shareholder among our investor base, could adversely impact the market 
price for our common stock or cause periods of significant price volatility. 

Anti-takeover provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could discourage, delay or prevent a 
cha nge of control of our company a nd could affect the trading price of our common stock. 

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain certain provisions that may discourage, delay or prevent a change 
in our management or change of control, including that they, collectively: 

authorize the issuance of "blank check" preferred stock that could be issued by our board of directors to 
thwart a takeover attempt; 

provide that vacancies on our board of directors, including vacancies resulting from an enlargement of our 
board of directors, may be fil led only by a majority vote of directors then in office; 

prohibit shareholder action by written consent, thereby requiring all actions to be taken at a meeting of the 
shareholders; and 

establish advance notice requirements for nominations of candidates for election as directors or to bring ot!her 
business before an annual meeting of our shareholders. 

These provisions could prevent our shareholders from receiving the benefit fronn any premium to the market price of 
our common stock offered by a bidder in a takeover context. Even in the absence of a takeover attempt, the existence 
of these provisions could adversely affect the prevailing market price of our common stock if the provisions .are 
viewed as discouraging takeover attempts in the future. 

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could also make it difficult for shareholders to replace or remove our 
management. Furthermore, the existence of the foregoing provisions could limit the price that investors might be 
willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. These provisions could facilitate management 
entrenchment that could delay, deter, render more difficult or prevent a change in our control, which may not be in the 
best interests of our shareholders. 
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Our certificate of incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole a nd 
exclusive forum for certain litigation that may be initiated by our sha reholders, which could limit our 
shareholders' ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our current or former 
directors, officers or shareholders. 

Our certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative fomm, the 
Court of Chance1y of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for any (I) derivative action or 
proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) action asserting a claim of breach of a fiducia•y duty owed to us or our 
shareholders by any of our directors, officers, employees or agents, (3) action asserting a claim arising out of or 
pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law (the "DGCL") or our certificate of incorporation or bylaws, or as 
to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or (4) action asserting a 
claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, 
the federal district courts of the United SLates of America will, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and 
exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations thereunder. Neither this 
provision nor the exclusive forum provision will mean that shareholders have waived our compliance with federal 
securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder, but it does mean that our shareholders are deemed to have 
notice of and have consented to these provisions concerning choice of forum. The choice of forum provision in our 
certificate of incorporation may limit our shareholders' ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that they find 
favorable for disputes with us or any of our current or former directors, officers or shareholders, which may discourage 
lawsuits with respect to such claims . Additionally, a court could determine that the exclusive forum provision is 
unenforceable. Tf a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our certificate of incorporation to be 
inapplicable or unenforceable to an action in which we assert the choice of forum, we could incur additional costs 
associated with resolving the action in other jurisdictions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

Our certificate of incorporation limits the personal liability of our diredors and officers for breaches of 
fiduciary duty. 

Our ce11ificate of incorporation contains provisions permitted w1der the DGCL relating to the liability of directors and 
officers. These provisions eliminate a director's or officer's personal liability to the fullest extent permitted by the 
DGCL for monetary damages resulting from a breach of fiduciary duty, except in circumstances involving: 

any breach of the director's or officer's duty of loyalty; 
acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of the law; 
any transaction from which the director or officer derives an improper personal benefit; 
with respect to directors only, Section 174 of the DGCL (unlawful dividends); or 
with respect to officers only, any action by or in the right of the Company. 

The principal effect of the limitation on liability provision is that a shareholder cannot prosecute an action for 
monetary damages against a director or officer unless the shareholder is able to demonstrate a basis for liability for 
which indenmification is not available under the DGCL. These provisions, however, should not limit or eliminate our 
rights or any shareholder' s rights to seek non-monetary relief, such as an injunction or rescission, in the event of a 
breach of a director's or officer's fiduciary duty. These provisions do not alter a director's or officer's liability under 
federal securities laws. The inclusion of this limitation on liability in our certificate of incorporation could discourage 
or deter shareholders or management from bringing a lawsuit against directors or officers for a breach of their 
fiduciary duties, even though such an action, if successful, might otherwise have benefited us and our shareholders. 
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ITEM lB. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

None. 

ITEM IC. CYBERSECURJTY 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND STRATEGY 

Our overall cybersecurity strategy is to: 

Cultivate a security-embedded organization and culture within the Company 
Extend security from technology throughout the Company's organization, practices and processes (we call this our 
cybersecurity mesh) 
Evolve our cyber resiliency. 

To that end, we have robust cybersecurity risk management processes that include technical security controls, pol icy 
enforcement mechanisms, monitoring systems, contractual arrangements, tools and services and management oversight to 
assess, monitor, identifY, detect and manage risks from cybersecurity threats, and to respond to, conduct forensic analysis of, 
escalate appropriately and report cybersecurity incidents. We proactively obtain intelligence about potential cybersecur ity 
threats, hunt for cybersecurity threats and consistently work to enhance our cybersecurity operations. 

We have adopted cybersecurity control principles based on the National Institute of Standards and Technology Cybersecurity 
Framework (NIST), the Center for Internet Security (CIS) and ISO 2700 I. Further, our cybersecurity controls are designed to 
comply with applicable laws concerning protection of private information, including the EU General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR), Brazil's Lei General de Prote9iio de Dados Pessoais (LGPD) and the California Consumer Privacy Act of 
2018 (CCPA). 

In developing and implementing measures to assess, identifY and manage cybersecurity risk, our approach is to evaluate the 
possible operational and financial effects of those measures and take that information into consideration in conducting a risk­
based analysis of the appropriate cybersecurity protections for the Company. We strive to protect the Company with cost­
effective, efficient and non-disruptive measures, while robustly protecting the Company against cybersecurity threats. 

Our cybersecurity protections include physical, administrative and technical safeguards that cover both our information systems 
(also referred to herein as "information technology" or " IT" systems) and the people with access to our IT systems. We 
develop, maintain, test and periodically update detailed plans and procedures that are des igned to help us prevent, and if 
necessary, timely and effectively respond to, cybersecurity incidents, which provide for the appropriate Company personnel and 
management to be involved depending on the type and severity of the incident. 

Our IT systems architecture is embedded with cybersecurity features. We utilize a range of third-party software providing 
layers of defense against cyberattacks, and we have employees and consultants whose jobs are to continually assess and reduce 
the potential attack surface, to monitor, detect and respond in near real time to incidents to minimize damage, and to enhance 
the security environment and scale with business needs as they evolve. We conduct continuous monitoring of our potential 
cybersecurity vulnerabilities and attack vectors. 

Our IT systems are accessible by our employees and ce1tain third patties as necessary and appropriate to perform services for or 
otherwise do business with us. We strictly limit access to our IT systems, including that we use authentication controls and 
conduct real-time monitoring of access. 

We address the cybersecurity threat risk posed by employees and third patties with access to our IT systems, including that we 
integrate cybersecurity risk management into the culture of our organization by: maintaining policies addressing various aspects 
of security necessary to protect our IT assets and data; requiring cybersecurity awareness and training programs for persons 
with access to our IT systems to build their cybersecurity skills and knowledge; consistent messaging to our employees 
(including from our top leadership) of the importance of managing cybersecurity risk, participating in our cybersecurity training 
and following our cybersecurity policies; routinely testing responses by our employees to mock efforts to breach our 
cybersecurity protections; and policies and procedures to follow in the event a cyber breach were to occur at the Company, 
including in response to the breach and to evaluate the level and materiality of the breach. 
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We partner with and build relationships with third patties who have access to our TT systems to suppott an overall ecosystem 
around cybersecurity that we believe helps reduce third party cybersecurity risk affecting our level of cybersecurity risk. We 
assess cybersecurity risk from our suppliers and service providers and have in place oversight processes to identify and manage 
such risks, including that we have systems that constantly monitor each third party with access to our systems and that all·ow 
such third parties to see and resolve their risks while we continue to monitor. Our processes to protect against third party 
cybersecurity risk are cross-functional and form part of our enterprise risk management program, and they are supported by our 
security, compliance and sourcing organizations. We require suppliers and service providers identified as potential 
cybersecurity risks to adopt security-control principles based on NIST or similar global standards, and our form contracts for 
them include provisions drafted to reduce the cybersecurity risk that they may pose for us. We obtain various Service 
Organization Control 1 and 2 reports from third parties relating to physical security, information security, account 
administration, transactional processing and reconciliation, client reporting and layers of electronic security controls. 
Notwithstanding our cybersecurity controls that cover third parties, because it is more difficult to control and mitigate r isk 
associated with third parties than risk intemal to our own organization, we believe that these relationships with third parties 
create additional exposure lo cyber risk. 

Jn the event of a cybersecurity breach, our readiness, responsiveness and resiliency are critical. As part of our continuing efforts 
to assess and enhance our readiness and responsiveness, we conduct pe1iodic mock practice scenarios in which patticipants at 
various levels of the Company - including employees responsible for responsive actions in the event of a breach, IT technical 
personnel and members of senior management - play out responses to various cybersecurity breach scenarios. Thereafter, we 
debrief and identify areas of improvement, to continually develop response capabilities and processes that are as efficient and 
that operate as quickly as possible in the event of a breach, to reduce potential harm that could be caused by inefficiencies and 
delay. Additionally, we regularly assess our systems' resiliency and recovery capabilities in case of a cybersecurity breach, both 
self-managed as well as by qualified third parties. 

Furthetmore, our approach to improving readiness for potential cybersecurity breaches is designed to be integrated and 
coordinated among all aspects of the cybersecurity incident management lifecycle, including that we assess and consistently 
work to improve our site-level emergency response, our technology and cyber incident response, our executive-level crisis 
management, our business and operational continuity, our IT resilience and our disaster recovery. These efforts also take into 
account and balance against cybersecurity risk our Company's business needs and operations, and to inform ourselves in 
conducting this balancing, we obtain input from appropriate employees from our affected business operations, enterprise r isk 
management, business continuity, business operations, information technology and cybersecurity organizations. 

To enhance om cybersecw·ity risk management, we leverage industly associations, thi.rd-party benchmarking, audits, threat 
intelligence feeds and other similar resources, which inform our cybersecurity efforts and help us determine how best to allocate 
resources. We utilize third-party service providers to assist us in assess ing, enhancing, implementing, monitoring and testing 
our cybersecurity program, areas of cyber risk and cyber risk management. 

A cybersecurity threat resulting in a material cybersecurity incident could materially affect us and our business strategy, results 
of operations and financial condition, especially if it causes one or more of the following to occur: our incwTing substantial 
costs to resolve the incident and address legal, reputational and other fallout from the incident; one or more of our IT systems 
become unavailable to operate our business; unauthorized third parties gain access to our sensitive and confidential business 
information; we lose access to infom1ation on our IT systems necessary to operate our business; and our customers' and 
suppliers' trust in our ability to protect their information is damaged to the extent that it impairs our ability to do business with 
them. 

While we have a cybersecurity program designed to protect and preserve the integrity of our infom1ation systems, there is no 
guarantee that our cybersecurity program wil[ be sufficient to prevent or mitigate the risk of a cyberattack or the potentially 
serious reputational, operational, legal or financial impacts that may result. We have experienced cybersecurity incidents in the 
past that were not material, but future incidents could have a materia l impact on our business strategy, results of operations, 
financial condition, cash flows and reputation. See "We are subject to information technology risks related to breaches of 
security pertaining to sensitive company. customer. employee and vendor information. breaches in the technology used to 
manage operations and other business processes, and the increasing use of artificial intelligence" in Item I A, "Risk Factors" in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

GOVERNANCE 

Our board of directors has overall responsibility for risk management oversight, with its committees assisting the board in 
performing this function based on their respective areas of expertise. Our board oversees cybersecurity matters and risk, and 
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the Audit Committee also oversees risk that includes cybersecurity risk. The board periodically reviews our processes for 
assessing and addressing key strategic, operational, compliance and risk management matters concerning cybersecurity, and as 
part of such assessment receives briefings on such matters from our Chief Information Security Officer ("CISO"). These 
briefings include reports on the threat landscape, our strategies, effotts and investments to address threats, and updates on 
incidents. The Audit Committee also receives reports from the Company's Vice President of Internal Audit assessing internal 
controls that include cybersecurity controls. Furthermore, our cybersecurity risk management processes are integrated into our 
enterprise risk management program and our compliance risk management program, both of which are also overseen by our 
board. 

Our CISO has approximately 21 years of experience in the cybersecurity industry. She is responsible for developing, 
coordinating and overseeing our cybersecurity strategy, policy, program and solutions, and for providing cybersecurity 
guidance to key management and internal company oversight bodies. Our CISO manages our cybersecurity organization, which 
covers all regions in which we operate and which is staffed with employees dedicated full -time to cybersecurity. Our CISO 
reports direclly to our Chief Information Officer ("CIO") and reports on cybersecurity at least quarterly to senior management 
and semi-annually to the full board of directors, or more often as needed. 

Our CISO is a standing member of our Enterprise Risk Council, which seeks to strengthen our company's processes w ith 
respect to the identification, assessment, management and monitoring the risks most likely to impact our strategic success, 
including cybersecurity risk. The council is chaired by our VP, Internal Audit, and its members are employees drawn from 
various areas of our organization. The council meets at least quarterly or more often as needed, to further strengthen r isk 
management activities across. the Company, including the risk of cybersecurity incidents. 

Cybersecurity threats and incidents are monitored and addressed through the processes described above in "-Risk Management 
and Strategy" and, as part of such processes, cybersecurity incidents are evaluated by the company's cybersecurity organization, 
which escalates information about incidents, as appropriate for the severity of the incident, to the CISO and by the CISO to 
senior leadership. 

The CISO informs, as appropriate, the Enterprise Risk Council, the CIO , the Company's senior leadership and, as noted above, 
the board of directors and its Audit Committee, on safeguards to prevent, detect, mitigate and remediate cybersecurity incidents. 
The CIO and CTSO both report directly on a regular basis to the Company's senior leadership on progress. towards specific TT 
risk management objectives, with the CISO focusing on cybersecurity objectives. 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

FORESTLANDS 

As of December 3 1, 2024, the Company owned or managed approximately 250,000 acres of forestlands in Brazil. All owned 
lands in Brazil are independently third-party certified for sustainable forestry under the Brazilian National Forest Cettification 
Program ("CERFLOR") and the Forest Stewardship Council ("FSC"). As of December 31, 2023, a third party estimated the fa ir 
value of our owned forestlands at 4.8 billion reais (approximately $800 million adjusted for variation in currency exchange 
rates). 

MILLS AND PLANTS 

Our p01tfoho of propetties spans three continents and includes six vertically-integrated mms and one non-integrated mill with 
an aggregate annual paper and pulp production capacity of 3.3 million short tons. We have two mills in our North America 
segment in the United States (Ticonderoga, New York and Eastover, South Carolina), three mills in our Latin America segment 
in Brazil (Tres Lagoas, Mato Grosso do Sui, and Luis Antonio and Mogi Gua9u, Sao Paulo), and two mills in our Europe 
segment (Saillat, France and Nymolla, Sweden). Our paper manufacturing operations are further supported by an offtake 
agreement with International Paper (subject to their earlier termination) for paper production at the North American Riverdale, 
Alabama, mill for 350,000 short tons of uncoated freesheet. A listing of our production facilities by segment, the vast major ity 
of which we own, can be found in Appendix I hereto, which is incorporated herein by reference. 
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CAPITAL INVESTMENTS AND DISPOSITIONS 

Capital spending primarily consists of purchases of machinery and equipment related to our global mill operations. A 
discussion about the level of planned investments for 2025 is included in Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

The Company may be involved in legal proceedings arising from time to time in the ordinary course of business. The Company 
is not involved in any legal proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, that we expect to result in a material adverse effect 
upon our financial condition or results of operations. See Note 12 Income Taxes and Note 13 Commitments and Contingent 
Liabilities of the Notes to our Consolidated financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form I 0- K, 
which notes are incorporated into this Item 3, l.egal Proceedings, by reference. 

Item 103 of Regulation S-K requires disclosure of certain environmental matters when a governmental authority is a party to 
the proceedings and the proceedings involve potential monetary sanctions, unless we reasonably believe the moneta1y sanctions 
will not equal or exceed a threshold of $ 1 million (which is the threshold we elected to use as permitted by this regulation). The 

environmental matters set forth in Note 13 Commitments and Contingent Liabilities to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in Item 8 in this Annual Report on 10-K are disclosed in accordance with such requirement and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

Not applicable. 
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PARTU. 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY 

The Company's common stock is traded on tile New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: SL VM). As of February 14, 2025, there 
were approximately 5,010 record holders of common stock of the Company. This number does not include an indeterminate 
number of "street" holders whose shares of common stock of the Company are held of record by banks, brokers and otlher 
financial ins titutions. 

Our Board of Directors approved a quarterly cash dividend of $0.30 per share of the Company's common stock payable for our 
first quarter of 2024. They increased the quarterly dividend to $0.45 per share beginning with the dividend payable for our 
second and continuing though the fourth quarter of 2024. We expect to continue to pay regular quarterly cash dividends in the 
foreseeable future, though each dividend payment (regular or special) is subject to review and approval by our Board of 
Directors in its sole discretion. Our ability to pay dividends is, and in the future will continue to be, dependent on the then 
existing conditions, including our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, legal and contractual 
limitations (including covenants in our agreements governing our indebtedness) and other factors our Board of Directors deems 
re levant. 

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER Al\TO AFFILIATED PURCHASERS 

Total Number of 
Maximum Number (or 

Approximate Dollar 
Shares (or Units) Value) of Shares that 

Period 

Purchased as Part of May Yet Be Purchased 
Total Number of Average Price Paid Per the Publicly Under the Program (in 

Shares Purchased (a) Share Announced Program millions) 

October 1, 20 24 - October 3 I , 2024 956 $ 85.85 $ 120 

November I , 2024 - November 30, 2024 398,601 $ 87.98 397,767 $ 85 

December I, 2024 - December 31, 2024 32,306 $ 79.67 31,844 $ 82 

Tota l 431,863 429,6 11 

(a) 2,252 shares were acquired from employees from share withholdings under the Company's long term incentive compensation program. 

On May 18, 2022, the Board approved a share repurchase program under which the Company may purchase up to an aggregate 
amount of $ 150 million of shares of its common stock (the "Repurchase Program"). Tn the third quarter of 2023, the Board 
authorized an additional $ 150 million for the Repurchase Program, bringing the total program capacity to $300 million, of 
which $82 million remains available for repurchases. Pursuant to the Repurchase Program, the Company may repurchase in 
amounts, at prices and at such times as it deems appropriate, subject to market conditions and other considerations, including all 
applicable legal requirements. Repurchases may include purchases on the open market or privately negotiated transfers, under 
Rule 10b5-1 trading plans, under accelerated share repurchase programs, in tender offers and otherwise. The Repurchase 
Program does not obligate the Company to acquire any particular amount of shares of its common stock and may be modified 
or suspended at any time at the Company's discretion. The Company repurchased $68 million of shares during the year ended 
December 3 1, 2024. 
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH 

The following perfonnance graph compares a $ 100 investment in Company stock on October 1, 2021 with a $100 investment in 
our Peer Group and the S&P Small Cap 600 Index also made at market close on October 1, 2021. The graph portrays total 
return, October I, 2021 - December 31, 2024, assuming reinvestment of dividends. The performance graph shall not be deemed 
"soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act nor shall such information be 
incorporated by reference into any other filings under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act. 
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ITEM 6 . RESERVED 
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FiNANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with 
our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary 
Data of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical consolidated financial information, the following discussion 
contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates, and beliefs that involve significant risks and uncertainties. 
Our actual results could differ materially from those stated and implied in any fotward-looking statements. Factors that could 
cause or contribute to those differences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form I 0-K, 
particularly under the headings "Risk Factors" and "Forward-Looking Statements." 

The following generally discusses 2024 and 2023 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2024 and 2023. Discussion of 
historical items in 2022, and year-to-year comparisons between 2023 and 2022, can be found in the Company's Annual Report 
on Form I 0-K for the fiscal year ended December 51 , 2025, filed with the SEC on February 21, 2024, under Part II. Item 7. 
Management's Discussion and Analysis ofFinancial Condition and Results of Operations. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in United States ("U.S.") dollars and in conformity with accountmg 
principles generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP") and may not be indicative of the Company's future 
petfonnance. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Full-year 2024 net income was $302 million ($7 . 18 per di luted share) compared with $253 million ($5.93 per diluted share) for 
2023. Net sales increased to $3 .8 billion in the current year compared with $3.7 billion in 2023. Cash from continuing 
operations was $469 million in the current year compared to $504 million in the prior year. Adjusted EBTTDA was $632 
million in 2024, which represents an increase of $25 million from the prior year adjusted EB ITDA of $607 million. 
Additionally, our 2024 adjusted EBITDA margin was 16.8% compared to 16.3% in the prior year and free cash flow was $248 
million compared to $294 mi Ilion last year. 

Comparing our perfonnance in 2024 to 2023, higher volumes were driven by stronger demand for uncoated freesheet across all 
three of our regions. Unabsorbed fixed costs due to economic manufacturing downtime in Europe and Not1h America declined 
significantly in 2024. These factors, in addition to more favorable input costs and lowe1· planned maintenance outages, were 
partially offset by lower price and mix and less favorable operations. We generated solid free cash flow again this year. We 
generated $248 million in free cash flow, repaid $154 million in debt, and returned $130 million in cash to shareholders. 
Additionally, we reinvested $22 1 million across our manufacturing network and our Brazil forestlands to strengthen our low­
cost position. We also accelerated the development of high-return capital project investments. 

Looking ahead to 2025, we remain committed to generating strong adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow while returning cash to 
shareowners. Our financial results for the three full years since spin-off have established a solid track record and are indicative 
of our ability to navigate industry conditions, geopolitical events and other uncertainty that we may face. We are confident in 
our ability to continue to create value for our customers and shareowners.. 

Acquisition of Nymolla 

On January 2, 2023, the Company completed the previously announced acquisition of Stora Enso's uncoated freesheet paper 
mill in Nymolla, Sweden. Sylvamo accounted for the acquisition under ASC 805, "Business Combinations" and the Nymolla 
mill 's results of operations are included in Sylvamo's consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. See Note 7 
Acquisitions to our consolidated financial statements included e lsewhere in this Annual Report on Fonn I 0-K for further 
details. 

Divestiture of Russian Operations 

During the second quarter of 2022, management committed to a plan to sell the Company's Russian operations (which were 
sold on October 2, 2022). As a result, all historical operating results of the Company's Russian operations have been classified 
as "Discont inued operations, net of taxes" in the consolidated statements of operations and the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. In October 2022, the Company completed the sale of its Russian operations to Pulp Invest Limited 
Liability Company, a company incorporated in the Russian Federation. See Note 8 Divestiture and Impairment of Business to 
our financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form I 0-K for further details. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

When reading our financial statements and the infonnation included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, it should be 
considered that we have experienced, and continue to experience, several material trends and uncertainties that have affected 
our financial condition and results of operations and that could affect futw·e performance. We believe that the following 
material trends and uncertainties are important to understanding our business. 

Macroeconomic Conditions 

The Company's operating results are typically closely tied to changes in the general economic conditions in Europe, Latin 
America and North America, as well as general global economic conditions. The Company's profitability and operating results 
are dependent on the price of our products and the market price of raw materia ls (primarily wood fiber and chemicals), energy 
sources and third-patty transport of our goods. Historically, economic and market shifts, inflationary pressures, fluctuations in 
capacity and changes in foreign currency exchange rates have created changes in prices, sales volume and margins for our 
products. 

Consumer Behavior 

Factors that impact the demand for our products include general macroeconomic conditions, consumer preferences, movements 
in currency exchange rates, consumer spending, commercial printing and advertising activity, adoption of electronic mediums, 
and white-collar employment and the shift to hybrid work models. 

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS SEGMENTS 

The Company's reportable business segments, Europe, Latin America and North America, are organized by geography and are 
consistent with the internal structure used to manage these businesses. Each of ow- segments derive their revenue from the 
manufacture and sale of paper and pulp products. The following summa ry describes the products and services offered in each of 
the segments as of December 3 1, 2024: 

Europe 

Our Europe segment produces a broad portfolio of uncoated freesheet papers for numerous uses and applications, and market 
pulp. We operate two integrated mills in the region, one in Saillat, France and one in Nymolla, Sweden. Located in the 
Limousin region of France, the Company' s S.aillat mill produces both paper and market pulp. It is the only mill in France to 
cover the entire production process from wood harvesting to paper, and is one of the leading cutsize producers in France and 
Western Europe. The Saillat mill produces UFS papers, such as copy paper, and value-added products such as tinted paper and 
colored laser printing paper under leading brands such as REY Adagio and Pro-Design. We also produce graphic and high­
speed inkjet printing papers under the brand J.etstar. The Saillat mill has some of the highest environmental credentials for our 
products. In January 2023, the Company acquired a paper mill in Nymoa!a, Sweden. The integrated mill has two pulp lines and 
the capacity to produce approximately 500,000 short tons of uncoated freesheet on two paper machines. The mill produces 
several brands, including Multicopy, and paper used for office printing, business forms, digital printing, offset for printing 
books and much more. The Nymolla mill has an excellent environmental footprint, which complements Sylvamo's purpose to 
produce paper in the most responsible and sustainable ways. 

Latin America 

Our Latin American operations focus on uncoated freesheet paper and market pulp, supported by the management of 
approximately 250,000 acres of certified eucalyptus forestlands in Brazil. With a total uncoated freesheet paper capacity 
exceeding 1. 1 million short tons, our three mills in Brazil serve both regional and international markets, being a key supplier in 
Latin America and a solid global expot1er, reaching customers in over 130 countries. Our portfolio includes ma rket-lead·ing 
brands such as Chamex and Chamequinho copy papers, widely recognized by consumers and distribution channels for their 
superior quality. Additionally, Chambril offset papers are trusted by printers and converters for their versatility and reliability 
across various applications. Chambril is available in a wide range of basis weights and specifications to meet the demands of 
books, notebooks, inserts, leaflets, and industrial end-use requirements. All the products are primarily made from sustainably 
sourced eucalyptus, which is. cultivated and harvested in less than seven years. Latin America operations combine sustainable 
forestry practices, operational excellence, strong brands and global distribution network. 

38 



North America 

The North American paper business manufactures uncoated freesheet papers at its mills in Eastover, South Carolina and 
Ticonderoga, New York and has an offtake agreement to purchase the uncoated papers produced by International Paper's 
Riverdale mill in Selma, AJabama. The North American papers business comprises three product lines, Imaging Papers, 
Commercial Printing Papers and Converting Papers. The imaging papers business, which comprises roughly half of the North 
American segment's volume, produces copy paper for use in copiers, desktop and laser printers and digital imaging. These 
products are important for office use, home office use and in businesses such as education, healthcare and financial services. 
The commercial printing business comprises about 13% of the North American segment's volume, and end-use applications in 
the commercial printing business include advertising and promotional materials such as brochures, pamphlets, greeting cards, 
books, annual reports and direct mail. The converting business manufactures a variety of grades that are converted by our 
customers into envelopes, tablets, business forms, file folders and several specialty grades. Uncoated papers are sold under 
private label and brand names that include Hammermill®, Springhill®, Williamsburg, Accent®, DRM® and Postmark®. 

BUSINESS SEGMENT RESULTS 

Management provides business segment operating profit, a non-GAAP financial measure, to supplement our GAAP financial 
information, and it should be considered in addition to, but not instead of, the financial statements prepared in accordance with 
GAAP. Management believes that business segment operating profit provides investors and analysts useful insights into our 
operating performance. Business segment operating profit is reconciled! to Income from continuing operations before income 
taxes, the most directly comparable GAAP measure. Business segment operating profit may be determined or calculated 
differently by other companies and therefore may not be comparable among companies. 

The following table presents a comparison of income from continuing operations before income taxes to business segment 
operating profit: 

In millions for the years ended December 31 2024 2023 
Income From Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes $ 405 $ 369 

Interest expense (income), net 39 34 

Other special items, net (b) 9 38 

Business Segment Operating Profit (a) $ 453 $ 441 

Europe $ IO $ (25) 

Latin America 150 197 

North America 293 269 

Business Segment Operating Profit (a) $ 453 $ 441 

(a) We define business segment operating profit as our income from continuing operations before income taxes calculated in 
accordance with GAAP, excluding net interest expense (income) and net special items. We believe that business segment 
operating profit is an important indicator of operating performance as it is a measure reported to our management for 
purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to our business segments and assessing the performance of our 
business segments. 

(b) Net special items represent income or expenses that are incurred periodically, rather than on a regular basis. Net special 
items in the periods presented primarily include legal fees related to the Brazil Tax Dispute, a loss related to forest fires 
in Brazil, foreign VAT refunds, transaction and integration costs related to the Nymolla acquisition, professional and 
legal fees related to negotiations resulting in a shareholder cooperation agreement, the impact of the step-up of acquired 
Nymolla inventory sold during the first quarter of 2023 and certain severance costs .related to our salaried workforce. 
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Business Segment Operating Profit (in millions) 
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The fo llowing tables present Sales and Operating profit (loss), which is the Company' s measure of segment profitability, for 
each of the Company' s segments. See Note 17 Financial Information by Business Segment and Geographic Area to our 
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form I 0-K for more information on the 
Company's segments. 

Europe 
In millions for the years ended December 31 

Sales 
Operating Profit (Loss) 

2024 
$ .801 $ 

$ 10 $ 

2023 
821 

(25) 

For the year ended December 3 1, 2024, our Europe segment sales decreased $20 million compared to the same period in 2023, 
primarily due to lower sales price and mix ($58 million) which more than offset higher volumes ($39 million). 

Europe operating profit for the year ended December 31 , 2024 was $35 million higher than the same period in 2023 as lower 
planned maintenance outages ($26 million), lower unabsorbed costs due to economic downtime ($27 million), lower operating 
costs ($ 11 million), lower input costs ($ 16 million), primarily for chemicals, and higher volumes ($ 13 million) more than offset 
the impact of lower sales price and mix ($58 million). 

Latin America 
in millions .for the years ended December 31 

Sales 

Operating Profit (Loss) 

2024 
$ 974 $ 

$ ISO $ 

2023 
1,006 

197 

For the year ended December 31 , 2024, our Latin America segment sales decreased $32 million compared to the same period in 
2023, primarily driven by lower sales price and mix ($35 million) and significant unfavorable foreign exchange impacts which 
were partially offset by higher volumes ($39 million). 

Operating profit for Latin America for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $4 7 million lower than the same period in 2023, 
primarily driven by the impact of lower sales price and mix ($34 million), higher operating costs ($18 million) and higlher 
planned maintenance outages ($9 million) which more than offset higher volumes ($9 mi llion) and lower input costs, primarily 
for chemica ls and pulp ($5 million). 
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North America 
in millions for the years ended December 31 2024 2023 
Sales $ 2,029 $ 1,951 

Operating Profit (Loss) $ 293 $ 269 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, our North America segment sales increased $78 miUion, compared to the same period 
in 2023, primarily driven by higher volumes ($145 million) which more than offset lower sales price and mix ($68 million). 

Operating profit for North America for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $24 million higher than the same period in 2023 
as higher volume ($45 million), lower unabsorbed costs due to economic downtime ($56 million) and lower input costs, 
primarily for chemicals, wood and distribution ($20 million), more than offset lower sales price and mix ($68 million), higher 
operating costs ($28 million) and slightly higher planned maintenance outages ($1 million). 

NON-GAAP FI NANCIAL MEASURES 

Management provides Adjusted EBTTDA, a non-GAAP financial measme, to supplement our GAAP financial infonnation, and 
it should be considered in addition to, but not instead of, the financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. 
Management uses this measure in managing the operating performance of our business and believes that Adjusted EBITDA 
provide investors and analysts meaningful insights into our operating perfonnance and is a relevant metric for the third-party 
debt. Adjusted EBITDA is reconciled to Net income, the most directly comparable GAAP measure. Adjusted EBITDA may be 
detetmined or calculated differently by other companies and therefore may not be comparable among companies. 

1n millions for the years ended December 31, 2024 2023 
Net Income $ 302 $ 253 
Income tax. provision 103 116 

Interest expense (income), net 39 34 
Depreciation, amortization and cost of timber harvested 159 143 

Stock-based compensation 23 23 

Net special items expense (income) (a) 6 38 

Adj usted EBTTDA (b) $ 632 $ 607 

Net Sales $ 3,773 $ 3,721 

Adj usted EBTTDA Margin 16.8% 16.3% 

(a) Net special items represent income or expenses that are incurred periodically, rather than on a regular basis. Net special 
items in the periods presented primarily include legal fees related to the Brazil Tax Dispute, foreign VAT refonds, 
transaction and integration costs related to the Nymolla acquisition, professional and legal fees related to negotiations 
resulting in a shareholder cooperation agreement, the impact of the step-up of acquired Nymolla inventory sold during 
the first quarter of 2023 and certain severance costs related to our salaried workforce. 

(b) We define Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP) as net income (GAAP) excluding discontinued operations, net of taxes plus the 
sum of income taxes, net interest expense (income), depreciation, amortization and cost of timber harvested, stock-based 
compensation, and, when applicable for the periods reported, special items. 

Free cash flow is a non-GAAP measure and the most directly comparable GAAP measure is cash provided by operating 
activities from continuing operations. Management believes that free cash flow is useful to investors as a liquidity measure 
because it measures the amount of cash generated that is available, after reinvesting in the business, to maintain a strong 
balance sheet and service debt, and return cash to shareholders. It should not be inferred that the entire free cash flow amount is 
available fot disctetionaty expenditutes. By adjusting fot cet1ain items that ate not indicative of the Company's ongoing 
performance, free cash flow also enables investors to perform meaningful comparisons between past and present periods. 
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The following are reconciliations of cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations to free cash flow: 

In millions for the years ended December 31 2024 2023 
Cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations $ 469 $ 504 

Adjustments: 

Cash invested in capital projects (121) (2 B 0) 

Free Cash F low $ 248 $ 294 

The non-GAAP financial measures presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as referenced above have limitations as 
analytical tools and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for an analysis of our results calculated in accordance 
with GAAP. Tn addition, because not all companies utilize identical calculations, the Company's presentation of non-GAAP 
measures in this Annual Report on Form I 0-K may not be comparable to similarly titled measures disclosed by other 
companies, including companies in the same industry as the Company. 

LIQUIDIT Y AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Overview 

Our ability to fund the Company's cash needs depends on our ongoing ability to generate cash from operations and obtain 
financing on acceptable terms. Based upon OU!r history of generating strong operating cash flow, we believe we will be able to 
meet our short-term liquidity needs. We believe we will meet known or reasonably likely future cash requirements through the 
combination of cash flows from operating activities, available cash balances and available borrowings through the issuance of 
third-party debt, as needed. 

A major factor in our liquidity and capital resource planning is our generation of operating cash flow, which is highly sensitive 
to changes in the pricing and demand for our products. While changes in key operating cash costs, sueh as raw materials, 
energy, mill outages and distribution expenses do have an effect on operating cash generation, we believe that our focus on 
commercial and operational excellence, as well as our ability to manage costs and working capital, will provide sufficient cash 
flow generation. 

The terms of the agreements governing our debt contain customary limitations as well as other provisions. These provisions 
may also restrict our business and, in the event we cannot meet the terms of those provisions, may adversely impact our 
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. 

Operating Activities 

Cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations totaled $469 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
compared with cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations of $504 million for the year ended December 
31 , 2023. The decrease in cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations in 2024 relates primarily to changes 
in working capital which was partially offset by higher net income. 

Cash used for working capital components (accounts and notes receivable, inventories, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 
and other) was $8 million for the year ended December 31,2024, compared with cash provided by working capital components 
of $85 mill ion for the year ended December 31 , 2023. Working capital components for the year ended December 31, 2024 
primarily reflect $47 million of cash used for accounts and notes receivable and $28 million cash used for other operating 
activities. This activity was offset by $25 millnon of cash provided by inventories and $42 million of cash provided by accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities. 

Investment A ctivities 

The total cash outflow from investing activiti·es from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 decreased 
from the year ended December 31 , 2023, primarily due to the purchase of the Nymolla mill which occurred in the prior year. 

The following table shows capital spending by business segment, which represents the most significant portion of our recurring 
investment activities. 
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In millions for the years ended December 31 2024 2023 

Europe $ 27 $ 31 

Latin America 140 I l 2 

North America 54 67 

Total $ 221 $ 2W 

Capital spending primarily consists of purchases of machinery and equipment and reforestation related to our global mill 
operations. As a percentage of depreciation, amortization and cost of timber harvested, capital spending totaled 139% and 14 7% 
for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Financing A ctivities 

Cash used for financing activities from continuing operations for the year ended December 31 , 2024 primarily reflects the 
payments of $2 18 million, $49 million, $35 million, $10 million, and $3 million on our outstanding principal debt balances for 
Term Loan F, Tenn Loan A, the AR Securitization, Revolving Credit Facility, and Term Loan F-2, respectively. Additionally, 
payments of $93 million were made to redeem, at a premium, the full value of our 7.00% Senior Notes and pay $5 million in 
debt issuance costs in connection with the debt refmancing in the third quarter of 2024. These amounts are primarily offset by 
the issuance of Term Loan F-2, draws on our Revolving Credit Facility, and AR Securit ization of $235 mmion, $10 million, 
and $6 million, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2024 , the Company also paid $62 million in dividends and 
paid $69 million to repurchase shares pursuant to our share repurchase program. 

Cash used for financing activities from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 primarily reflects the 
payments of $70 million, $36 million, $26 million, and $31 million on our outstanding principal debt balances for the 
Revolving Credit Facility, AR Securitization, Term Loan F, and Term Loan A, respectively. Additionally, $360 million was 
paid to bond holders as part of our tender offer. These amounts are primarily offset by the issuance of Term Loan A, draws on 
our Revolving Credit Facility, and AR Securitization of $300 million, $70 million, and $78 million, respectively. During the 
year ended December 31, 2023, the Company also paid $57 million in dividends and paid $70 million to repurchase shares 
pursuant to our share repurchase program. 

Contractual Obligations 

Contractual obligations for future payments at December 31, 2024 primarily relate to lease commitments, raw material purchase 
obligations and principal debt payments. Operating and financing leases represent minimum required lease payments during the 
noncancelable lease term. Most real estate leases also require payment of related operating expenses such as taxes, insurance, 
utilities, and maintenance, which are not included in our estimated capital lease obligation. Our total estimated finance lease 
obligations total $2 million in 2025, an average of $2 million from 2025 to 2029 and $7 mill ion thereafter. 

Purchase obligations for commercial commitments include inventory obligations to purchase raw materials, including starch, 
electricity, fuel oil, corrugated boxes, wood and Precipitated Calcium Carbonate ("PCC"). Our total estimated commercial 
commitments include $305 million in 2025, $168 million in 2026 and average $58 million annually from 2027 to 2029, w ith 
$109 million thereafter. 

At December 31 , 2024, contractual obligations for future payments of debt maturities (including finance lease liabilities 
disclosed in Note I 0 Leases) by calendar year were as follows: 2025 - $22 million; 2026 - $25 million; 2027 - $370 million; 
2028 - $25 million; 2029 - $191 million; thereafter - $180 million. 

Capital Expenditures 

For the year ended December 3 1, 2024, we have invested approximately $221 million, or 5.9% of net sales in total capital 
expenditures. Of that amount, we spent approximately $195 million, or 5.2% of net sales, on maintenance, regulato1y and 
reforestation capital expenditures, and approximately $27 million, or 0 .7% of net sales, on high-return capital projects. Our 
annual maintenance, regulatory and reforestation capital expenditures are expected to be in the range of approximately $175 to 
$190 million per year (before inflation) for the next several years, which we believe will be sufficient to maintain our operations 
and productivity. Tn addition, we expect to invest approximately $50 to $.70 million in high-return projects in 2025. 
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PILLAR TWO DIRECTIVE 

The Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development ("OECD") has been working on a project to act to prevent 
what it refers to as base erosion and profit shifting ("BEPS"). Most recently, the OECD, through an association of almost 140 
countries lmown as the " inclusive framework," has announced a consensus to address, among other things, perceived 
challenges presented by global digital commerce ("Pillar I") and the perceived need for a minimum global effective tax rate of 
15% ("Pillar 2"). On December 15,2022, the European Union formally adopted the Pillar Two Directive, and a majority of EU 
member states have enacted the directive into domestic law as of December 3 1, 2023. Other countries are taking similar actions. 
We have evaluated the developments and do not anticipate any materia l impact on our financial position, results of operations, 
or cash flows. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the Company to establish accounting policies 
and to make estimates that affect both the amounts and timing of the recording of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. 
Some of these estimates require subjective judgments about matters that are inherently uncertain. 

Accounting policies whose application may have a significant effect on the reported results of operations and financial position 
of the Company, and that can require judgments by management that affect their application, include the accounting for 
impairment or disposal of long-lived assets and goodwill, income taxes and commitments and contingencies. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill 

An impairment of a long-lived asset exists when the asset's carrying amount exceeds its fair value and is recorded when the 
carrying amount is not recoverable through undiscounted cash flows from future operations or disposals. A goodwill 
impairment exists when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its fa ir value. Assessments of possible impairments of long­
lived assets and goodwill are made when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may 
not be recoverable or may, if a business is classified as held for sale, exceed the sales price less costs to dispose. Additiona[ly, 
evaluation for possible impainnent of goodwill is required annually. The amount and timing of any impairment charges based 
on these assessments may require the estimation of future cash flows or the fa ir market value of the related assets based on 
management's best estimates of certain key factors, inc luding future selling prices and volumes, operating, a·aw material, energy 
and freight costs, various other projected operating economic factors and other intended uses of the assets. As these key factors 
change in future periods, the Company will update its impairment analysis to reflect its latest estimates and projections. 

Our policy around goodwill impairment testing permits us to perfonn a qua litative assessment or a quantitative goodwill 
impairment test. If a qualitative assessment is performed, an entity is not required to perform the quantitative goodwill 
impairment test unless the entity determines that, based on that qualitative assessment, it is more likely than not that its fair 
value is less than its carrying value. 

The Company performed its annual testing of goodwill impairment by applying the qualitative assessment to its France 
reporting unit as of October I, 2024. For the current year evaluation, the Company assessed various assumptions, events and 
circumstances that would have affected the estimated fair value of the reporting unit under the qualitative assessment. 'Ihe 
results of the qualitative assessment indicated that it is not more likely than not that the fair values of its France reporting unit 
was less than its carrying value. 

The Company also performed its annual testing of goodwill impairment by applying the quantitative goodwill impairment 1test 
to its Brazil reporting unit due to the length of time lapsed since the previous quantitative goodwill impairment test. 'Ihe 
Company calculated the estimated fair value of the Brazil reporting unit using a probability-weighted approach based on 
discounted future cash flows,. market multiples and transaction multiples. As a resul t, the Company concluded that the fair value 
of the Brazil reporting unit was substantially in excess of carrying value and no goodwill impairment charge was recorded. 

In addition, the Company considered whether there were any events or circumstances outside of the annual evaluation that 
would reduce the fair value of its reporting units below their carrying amounts and necessitate a goodwill impairment 
evaluation. In consideration of all relevant factors, there were no indicators that would require goodwill impairment subsequent 
to October 1, 2024. 

No goodwill impairment charges were recorded in 2024, 2023 or 2022. 
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Income Taxes 

We account for income taxe·s under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements. Under this 
method, we determine deferred tax balances on the basis of the differences between the financial statement and tax bases of 
assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect 
of a change in tax rates on deferred tax balances is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. 

We recognize deferred tax assets to the extent that we believe that these assets are more likely than not to be real ized. Judgment 
is required in evaluating the need for and magnitude of appropriate valuation allowances against deferred tax assets. In making 
such a determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable 
temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, carryback potential if permitted under the tax 
law and results of recent operations. If we determine that we would not be able to realize o ur deferred tax assets in the future in 
excess of their net recorded amount, we would not benefit the projected losses in our annual effective estimated tax rate and/or 
make an adjustment to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes. 

We record uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740. Significant judgment is required in evaluating the need for and 
magnitude of appropriate uncertain tax positions. We estimate uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two-step process in 
which (l) we determine whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical 
merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, we recognize the 
largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax 
authority. 

While we believe that these judgments and estimates are appropriate and reasonable under the circumstances, actual resolution 
of these matters may differ from recorded estimates and amounts. 

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities 

Accruals for contingent liabilities, including environmental and safety matters, taxes (incLuding VAT), personal injury, product 
liability, labor and employment, contracts, sal·es of property and other matters, are recorded when it is probable that a liability 
has been incurred or an asset impaired and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities accrued for value­
added tax and other legal matters require judgments regarding projected outcomes and range of loss based on historical 
litigation and settlement experience and recommendations of legal counsel and, if applicable, other experts. Liabilities for 
environmental matters require evaluations of relevant environmental regulations and estimates of future remediation 
alternatives and costs. Claims-based liabilities require review of recent and historical claims data. The Company utilizes its in­
house legal and environmental experts to dev·elop estimates and involves third-party specialists as needed to analyze its most 
complex contingent liabilities. 

RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS 

See Note 3 Recent Accounting Developments in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for a discussion of new 
accounting pronouncements. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY EFFECTS 

The Company has operations in a number of countries. Its operations in those countries also export to, and compete with, 
imports from other regions. As such, currency movements can have a number of direct and indirect impacts on the Company's 
financial statements. Direct impacts include the translation of international operations' local currency financial statements into 
U.S. dollars and the remeasurement impact associated with non-functional currency financial assets and liabilities. Indirect 
impacts include the change in competitiveness of imports into, and exports out of, the countries in which we operate due to the 
local currency pricing of products. The currencies that have the most impact on our conti11uing operations a re the Euro and the 
Brazilian real. 
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MARKET RISK 

We use fmancial instruments, including fixed and variable rate debt. We do not use financial instruments for trading purposes. 
Additionally, various derivative contracts are used to hedge exposures to interest rate and foreign currency risks. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Sylvamo is subject to interest rate risk in connection with the issuance of debt. Our exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily 
from changes in SOFR. As of December 31, 2024, Sylvamo had floating rate debt of $796 million comprised of Term Loan F, 
Term Loan F-2, Term Loan A and amounts drawn on the Securitization Program, which is partially offset by $652 million of 
interest rate swaps. At December 3 1,2024, the applicable one-month SOFR rate was 4.36%. Based on the amounts outstanding, 
a I 00-basis point increase in market interest rates would result in a change to annual interest expense, including the impact of 

the swaps, of approximately $1 million at December 31, 2024. As of December 31 , 2023, Sylvamo had floating rate debt of 
$859 million comprised of Term Loan F, Term Loan A and amounts drawn on the Securitization Program, which is partially 
offset by $469 million of interest rate swaps. At December 31 , 2023, the applicable one-month SOFR rate was 5.36%. Based on 
the amounts outstanding, a 100-basis point increase in market interest rates would result in a change to annual interest expense 
of approximately $4 million at December 31, 2023. For more information about our term loans, Revolving Credit Facility, and 
Securitization Program see Note 14 Long-Term Debt to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual 
Report on Form I 0-K. 

Foreign Currency Risk 

The Company transacts business in many currencies and is also subject to currency exchange rate risk through investments and 
businesses owned and operated outside the United States. Our objective in managing the associated foreign currency risks is to 
minimize the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on our after-tax cash flows. We address these risks on a limited basis by 
entering into cross-currency interest rate swaps or foreign exchange contracts. At December 31 , 2024 and 2023 the net fair 
value of financial instruments with exposure to foreign currency risk was approximately a $ 14 million liability and a $6 million 
asset, respectively. The potential loss in fair value for such financial instruments from a l 0% adverse change in quoted foreign 
currency exchange rates would have been approximately $14 million and $12 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

The information set forth in Part II, hem 7 of this Annual Report on Form I 0-K under "Management's Discussion and Analysis 
ofFinancial Condition and Results of Operations- Market Risk" is incorporated by reference into this Item 7A. 
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

REPORT O F MANAGEMENT ON: 

Financial Statements 

The management of Sylvamo Corporation is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in this 
Annual Report on Form I 0-K. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America considered appropriate in the circumstances to present fairly the Company's 
consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows on a consistent basis. Management has also prepared the 
other information in this annual report and is responsible for its accuracy and consistency with the consolidated financial 
statements. 

As can be expected in a complex and dynamic business environment, some financial statement amounts are based on estimates 
and judgments. Even though estimates and judgments are used, measures have been taken to provide reasonable assurance of 
the integrity and reliability of the financial information contained in this annual report. We have formed a Disclosure 
Committee to oversee this process. 

The accompanying consolidated fmancial statements have been audited by the independent registered public accounting fum 
Deloitte & Touche LLP (PCAOB ID No. 34). During its audits, Deloitte & Touche LLP was given unrestricted access to all 
financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders and the Board of Directors and all 
committees of the board. Management believes that a ll representations made to the independent auditors during their audits 
were valid and appropriate. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

The management of Sylvamo Corporation is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over 
financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial 
reporting is the process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, 
and effected by our Board of Directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes. All internal control systems 
have inherent limitations, including the possibility of circumvention and overriding of controls, and therefore can provide only 
reasonable assurance of achieving the designed control objectives. The Company's internal control system is supported by 
written policies and procedures, contains self-monitoring mechanisms, and is audited by the internal audit function. Appropriate 
actions are taken by management to correct deficiencies as they are identified. Our procedures for financial reporting include 
the active involvement of senior management, our Audit Committee and our staff of highly qualified financial and legal 
professionals. 

The Company has assessed the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024. In making 
this assessment, it used the criteria described in "Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)" issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO"). Bas.ed on this assessment, management believes that, as of 
December 31, 2024, the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective. 

The Company's independent registered public accounting finn, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has issued its report on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. The report appears on page 51. 

Internal Control Environment And Board Of Directors Oversight 

Our internal control environment includes an enterprise-wide attitude of integrity and control consciousness that establishes a 
positive "tone at the top." This is exemplified by our ethics program that includes principles and policies on ethical business 
conduct that require employees to maintain the highest ethical and legal standards in the conduct of Sylvamo business, which 
have been distributed to all employees; a toll-free telephone helpline whereby any employee may anonymously report suspected 
violations of law or Sylvamo's policy; and our Global Ethics and Compliance Office. The internal control system furtlher 
includes careful selection and training of supervisory and management personnel, appropriate delegation of authority and 
division of responsibility, dissemination of accounting and business policies throughout Sylvamo, and an extensive program of 
internal audits with management follow-up. 
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The Board of Directors, assisted by the Audit Committee, monitors the integrity of the Company's financial statements and 
financial reporting procedures, the performance of the Company's internal audit function and independent auditors, and otlher 
matters set forth in its charter. The Audit Committee, which consists of independent directors, meets regularly with 
representatives of management, and with the independent auditors and the internal auditor, with and without management 
representatives in attendance, to review their activities. The Audit Committee's Charter takes into account the New York Stock 
Exchange rules relating to Audit Committees and the SEC rules and regulations promulgated as a result of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002. The Committee has reviewed and discussed the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31 , 
2024, including critical accounting policies and significant management judgments, with management and the independent 
auditors. The Committee's report recommending the inclusion of such financial statements in this Annual Report on Form lO-K 
will be set forth in our Proxy Statement. 

/s/ JEAN-MICHEL RIBTERAS 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

/s/ JOHN V. SIMS 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Sylvamo Corporation 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sylvamo Corporation (the "Company") as of December 31, 
2024 and December 31, 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and 
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as 
the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and December 3 1, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31 , 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the Company's intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission and our report dated February 20, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over 
financial reporting. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical Audit Matters 

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that 
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that ( I) relates to accounts or disclosures that 
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The 
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and 
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the 
accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 

Brazil Deductibility of Goodwill Amortization - Uncertain Tax Position - Refer to Note 12 to the financial statements 

Critical Audit Matter Description 

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two-step process in which management (I) determines 
whether it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and 
(2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit 
that is more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority. Specialized skill and 
knowledge and significant judgment is often required to evaluate each uncertain tax position to determine whether the more 
likely than not recognition threshold has been met and, if met, to determine the largest amount of benefit greater than 50 percent 
likely of being realized upon settlement with the taxing authorities. 

The Brazilian Federal Revenue Service has challenged the deductibility of goodwill amortization generated in a 2007 
acquisition by Sylvamo do Brasil Ltda., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Company has determined this tax 
position meets the more likely than not threshold for recognition, and no liabili ty for this uncertain tax position has been 
recorded as the Company has determined that the transaction underlying these assessments was appropriately evaluated, and 
that the Company's tax position will be sustained, based on Brazilian tax law. 
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We identified the Company's accounting for this tax pos1t1on as a critical audit matter because of the complexity of the 
Brazilian tax laws and regulations, the materiality of the potential tax consequences, the fact that all decisions concerning this 
matter are to be made by the Company's former parent, and the need to involve our income tax specialists when performing 
audit procedures to evaluate the Company's conclusion that its position will be sustained based on Brazilian tax law. 

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit 

With the assistance of our income tax speciali.sts, the audit procedures we perfonned related to the Company's conclusion that 
its position will be sustained based on Brazilian tax law included the fo llowing, among others: 

We read the correspondence from the Brazilian Federal Revenue Service that challenged the deductibility of goodwill 
amortization. We read and evaluated management's documentation, including relevant accounting policies and information 
obtained by management from outside tax specialists, that detailed the basis of the uncertain tax position. 

We tested the reasonableness of management's judgments regarding the future resolution of the uncertain tax position, 
including an evaluation of the technical merits of the uncertain tax position. 

We evaluated whether management has appropriately considered new information that could significantly change the 
recognition, measurement or disclosure of the uncertain tax position, including information gathered from inquiries of the 
Company's former parent's management regarding their intent to vigorously defend the tax position. 

We evaluated the reasonableness of management's estimates by considering how Brazilian tax law, including statutes, 
regulations and case law, impacted management's judgments. 

We evaluated the appropriateness and consistency of management's methods and assumptions used in the identification, 
recognition, measurement, and disclosure of the uncertain tax position. 

Is/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 

Memphis, Tennessee 
February 20, 2025 

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2020. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Sylvamo Corporation 

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Sylvamo Corporation (the "Company") as of December 31, 
2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) iss ued by the Commj ttee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Tn our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, 
effective intemal control over fmancial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria estabushed in Internal Control­
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, of the Company and our 
report dated February 20, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements. 

Basis for Opinion 

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Report of 
Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's 
intemal control over financial reporting based o n our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and .are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the r isk 
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Report ing 

A company's intemal control over financial reporting is a p rocess des igned to provide reasonable assLuance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting p1inciples. A company's intemal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (I) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expendjtures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
d isposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the fi nancial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Anso, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Is/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 

Memphis, Tennessee 
February 20, 2025 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

In millions, except per share amou11ts, for the years ended December 31 2024 2023 2022 
NET SALES $ 3,773 $ 3 ,721 $ 3,628 

CO ST S AND EXPENSE S 

Cost of products sold (exclusive of depreciation, amortization and cost of 
timber harvested shown separately below) 2,833 2,809 2,619 

Selling and administrative expenses 311 343 325 

Depreciation, amOJtization and cost of timber harvested 159 143 125 

Taxes other than payroll and income taxes 26 23 23 

Interest expense (income), net 39 34 69 

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME 
TAXES 405 369 467 

Income tax provision 103 J 16 13 1 

NET INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 302 253 336 

Discontinued Operations, net of taxes (2 g 8) 

NET TNCOMl: $ 302 $ 253 $ I l 8 

BASIC EARNI NGS PER SHARE 

Earnings from continuing operations $ 7.35 $ 6.02 $ 7.65 

Discontinued operations, net of taxes (4.97) 

Net earnings $ 7.35 $ 6.02 $ 2.68 

DILUT ED EARNINGS PE R SHARE 

Earnings from continuing operations $ 7.18 $ 5.93 $ 7.57 

Discontinued operations, net of taxes (4.91) 

Net earnings $ 7.18 $ 5.93 $ 2.66 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

In millions for the years ended December 31 2024 2023 2022 
NET INCOME $ 302 $ 253 $ U8 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS), NET OFT AX 

Defined Benefit Pension and Postretirement Adjustments: 

Amortization of pension and postretirement net loss 1 
Pension and postretirement liability adjustments (less tax of $2, $1 

and $1) 4 (2) 4 

Change in cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment (223) 91 56 

Net gains/losses on cash flow hedging derivatives: 

Net gains (losses) arising during the period (less tax of $5, $ 1 0 and 
$ 17) (7) 19 41 

Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses included in net 
earnings (less tax of$2, $12 and $7) (9) (27) (D) 

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS), NET OF TAX (234) 82 88 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) $ 68 $ 335 $ 206 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

In millions at December 31 2024 2023 
ASSETS 

Current Assets 

Cash and temporary investments $ 205 $ 220 

Restricted cash 60 

Accounts and notes receivable (less allowances of $21 in 2024 and $25 in 2023) 429 428 

Contract assets 26 27 

Inventories 361 404 

Other current assets 42 54 

Total Current Assets 1,()63 1,193 

Plants, Properties and Equipment, net 944 1,002 

Forestlands 319 364 

Goodwill 111 139 

Right of Use Assets 58 58 

Deferred Charges and Other Assets 109 I g 6 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 21604 $ 22872 

LIABILITIES AND E QUITY 

Current Liabilities 

Accounts payable $ 375 $ 421 

Notes payable and current mahtrities of long-term debt 22 28 
Accrued payroll and benefits 79 63 

Other current liabilities 206 183 

Total Current Liabilities 682 695 

Long-Term Debt 782 931 

Deferred Income Taxes 152 189 

Other Liabilities 141 156 

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Note 13) 

Equity 

Common stock $1.00 par value, 200.0 shares authorized, 44.9 shares and 44.5 shares 
issued and 40.6 shares and 41.2 shares outstanding at December 31 , 2024 and 2023, 
respectively 45 45 

Paid-in capital 71 48 

Retained earnings 2,455 2,222 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,490) ( 1 ,256) 
1 ,()81 1,059 

Less: Common stock held in treasury, at cost, 4.3 shares and 3.3 shares at December 31 , 
2024 and December 3 [ , 2023, respectively (234) (158) 

Total Equity .847 901 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 2
1
,604 $ 22872 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

In millions for the years ended December 31 2024 2023 2022 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net income from continuing operations $ 302 $ 253 $ 336 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used for) 

operating activities: 

Depreciation, amortization and cost of timber harvested 159 143 125 

Deferred income tax provision (benefit), net (7) (7) 

Stock-based compensation 23 23 20 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities and other 

Accounts and notes receivable (47) 104 (45) 

Inventories 25 6 (99) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 42 (73) 48 

Other (28) 48 40 

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS 469 504 418 

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES FROM 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET 20 

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERA TTNG ACTIVITIES 469 504 438 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Invested in capital projects (221) (210) (149) 

Cash proceeds on disposal of business, net of cash divested 324 

Acquisition of business ( 167) 

Other mo 
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES FROM 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (221) (377) 185 

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES FROM 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET (5) 

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (221) (377) 180 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Dividends paid (62) (57) (W) 

Issuance of debt 250 446 75 

Reduction of debt (407) (526) (450) 

Repurchases of common stock (69) (70) (80) 

Other (22) (12) (4) 

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) FINANCING ACTIVITIES FROM 
CONTINUING OPERA TTONS (310) (219) (469) 

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) FINANCING ACTIVITIES FROM 
DISCONTINUED OPERA TTONS, NET (I) 
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (310) (219) (470) 

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash (13) 12 32 

Change in Cash Included in Assets Held for Sale (2 1) 

Change in Cash, Temporary Investments and Restricted Cash (75) (80) 201 

Cash, Temporary Investments and Restricted Cash 

Beginning of the period 280 360 159 

End of the period $ 205 $ 280 $ 360 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

Accumulated Common 
Other Stock Held in 

Common Paid-In Reta ined Comprehensive Treasury, At 
In millions Shar es Stock Capita l Earnings Loss Cos• Total Equity 

Balance, December 3 1, 2021 44 $ 44 $ 4 $ 1,935 $ (1,801) $ s 182 

Disposal of business 375 375 

Stock-based employee compensation 21 (2) 19 

Share repurchase (80) (80) 

Dividends ($0.4750 per share) (21) (2 1) 

Change in equity related to the spin-off (3) (3) 

Comprehensive income (loss) 11 8 88 206 

Balance, December 31, 2022 44 44 25 2,029 ( 1 ,338) (82) 678 

Stock-based employee compensation 23 (5) 19 

Share repurchase (7 1) (7 1) 

Dividends (S 1.4000 per share) (60) (60) 

Comprehensive income (loss) 253 82 335 

Balance, December 31, 2023 45 45 48 2,222 (I ,256) (158) 90 1 

Stock-bnsed employee compensation 23 (8) 15 

Sha re repurchase (68) (68) 

Dividends ($1.6500 per share) (69) (69) 

Comprehensive income (loss) 302 (234) 68 

Ba lance, December 3 1,2024 45 $ 45 $ 71 $ 2,455 $ (1,490) $ (234) $ 847 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial St atements 

NOTE I BACKGROUND AND SUMMARY OF B USI NESS 

BACKGROUND 

Sylvamo Corporation (NYSE: SLVM) is the world's paper company with mills in Europe, Latin America and North Ameruca. 
Our vision is to be the employer, supplier and investment of choice. We transform renewable resources into papers that people 
depend on for education, communication and entertainment. 

On December 3, 2020, International Paper Company ("International Paper" or "Fom1er Parent") announced that its Board of 
Directors had approved a plan to spin-off its Printing Papers segment a long with ce11ain mixed-use coated paperboard and pulp 
businesses in Ew·ope, Latin America, and North America (collectively referred to herein as the "Company," "we," "us," or 
"our"), and separate into two distinct publicly-traded companies. On October I, 2021, we settled the net parent investment and 
the spin-off was completed by a pro rata distribution to International Paper's shareholders of approximately 80.1% of our 
common stock, with International Paper retaining a 19.9% ownership interest. As a result of the spin-off, Sylvamo Corporation 
became an independent public company. On September 12, 2022, International Paper sold its remaining shares of Sylvamo 
common stock. International Paper is no longer a related party. 

The Company operates on a calendar year-end. 

Divestiture of Russian Operations 

During the second quarter of 2022, management committed to a plan to sell the Company's Russian operations, which were 
previously part of the Europe business segment. As a result, all historical operating results of the Russian operations are 
presented as "Discontinued operations, net of taxes" in the consolidated statement of operations and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. In October 2022, the Company completed the sale of its Russian operations to Pulp Invest 
Limited Liability Company, a company incorporated in the Russian Federation. See Note 8 Divestiture and Impairment of 
Business for further details. 

Acquisition of Nymtilla 

On January 2, 2023, the Company completed. the previously announced acquisition of Stora Enso's uncoated freesheet paper 
mill in Nymolla, Sweden. Sylvamo accounted for the acquisition under ASC 805, "Business Combinations" and the Nymolla 
mill's results of operations are included in Sylvamo's consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. See Note 7 
Acquisitions for further details. 

NOTE 2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Sylvamo Corporation and subsidiaries for which we have a 
controll ing financial interest. All intracompany transactions have been eliminated. 

USE OF ESTIMATES 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP,. management makes estimates and 
assumptions that affect amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual resul ts may 
differ from those estimates. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION 

The Company recognizes revenue on a point-in-time basis when the customer takes title to the goods and assumes the risks and 
rewards for the goods. For customized goods where the Company has a legally enforceable right to payment for the goods, the 
Company recognizes revenue over time, which generally is as the goods are produced. 

The Company's revenue is primarily derived from fixed consideration; however, we do have contract terms that give rise to 
variable consideration, primarily volume rebates, early payment discounts and other customer refunds. The Company estimates 
its volume rebates at the individual customer level based upon the terms of the arrangement and expected volume purchases 
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over the contract period, consistent with the most likely amount method outlined in ASC 606. The Company estimates early 
payment discounts and other customer refunds based on the historical experience across the Company's portfolio of customers 
to record reductions in revenue which is consistent with the expected value method outlined in ASC 606. Management has 
concluded that these methods result in the best estimate of the consideration the Company will be entitled to from its customers. 

The Company has elected to present all sales taxes on a net basis, account for shipping and handling activities as fulfillment 
activities, and not record interest income or interest expense when the difference in timing of control or transfer and customer 
payment is one year or less. See Note 4 Revenue Recognition for further details. 

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

The Company allocates the total consideration of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair value 
as of the business combination date. In developing estimates of fair values for long-lived assets, including identifiable 
intangible assets, the Company utilizes a variety of inputs including forecasted cash flows, anticipated growth rates, discount 
rates, customer attrition, royalty rates, estimated replacement costs and depreciation and obsolescence factors. Determining the 
fair value for tangible assets such as real and personal property and specifically identified intangible assets such as customer 
lists and developed technology involves judgment. We may refine our estimates and make adjustments to the assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed over a measurement period, not to exceed one year. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period! or 
the final determination of the values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent 
adjustments are charged to the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 7 Acquisitions for further details. 

TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS 

Temporary investments with an original maturity of three months or Less and money market funds with greater than three­
month maturities but with the right to redeem without notice are treated as cash equivalents and are stated at cost, which 
approximates market value. See Note 9 Supplementary Financial Statement Information for further details. 

RESTRICTED CASH 

Cash that is legally restricted from use ts classified as restricted cash. See Note 9 Supplementary Financial Statement 
Information for fi.trther details. 

COST OF PRODUCTS SOLD 

Costs of products sold represents costs directly related to the manufacture of our products. Primary costs include raw materials, 
packaging, direct labor, overhead, warehousing costs and shipping and handling costs, such as freight to customers' 
destinations. 

INVENTORIES 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market value and include costs directly associated with manufacturing products: 
materials, labor, first leg freight and manufacturing overhead. In the United States, costs of raw materials and fmished paper 
and pulp products are generally detem1ined using the last-in, first-out method. Other inventories are valued using the first-in, 
first-out or average cost methods. See Note 9 Supplementary Financial Statement Information for further details. 

LEASED ASSETS 

Operating lease right of use ("ROU") assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based on the 
present value of lease payments over the lease term. The Company's leases may include options to extend the lease. These 
options to extend are included in the lease term when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Some leases have 
variable payments, however, because they are not based on an index or rate, they are not included in the ROU assets and 
liabilities. Variable payments for real estate leases are primarily related to common area maintenance, insurance, taxes and 
utilities. Variable payments for equipment, vehicles and leases within supply agreements are primarily related to usage, repairs 
and maintenance. As the implicit rate is not readily determinable for most of the Company's leases, the Company applies a 
portfolio approach using an estimated incremental borrowing rate to determine the initial present value of lease payments over 
the lease terms on a collateralized basis over a similar term, which is based on market and company specific information. We 
use the unsecured borrowing rate and risk adjust that rate to approximate a collateralized rate, and apply the rate based on the 
currency of the lease, which is updated on a quarterly basis for measurement of new lease liabilities. Leases having a lease term 

58 



of twelve months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet and the related lease expense is recognized on a straight-) ine 
basis over the term of the lease. In addition, the Company has applied the practical expedient to account for the lease and non­
lease components as a single lease component for all of the Company's leases. See Note I 0 Leases for further details. 

PLANTS, PROPERTIES AND EQ UIPMENT 

Plants, properties and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Expenditures for betterments are capitalized, 
whereas normal repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. The units-of-production method of depreciation is used for 
the mills, and the straight-line method is used for other plants and equipment. See Note 9 Supplementary Financia l Statement 
Information for further details. 

GOODWILL 

Annual evaluation for possible goodwi!! impairment is performed as of the beginning of the fourth quarter of each year, with 
additional interim evaluation perfonned when management believes that it is more likely than not that events or circumstances 
have occurred that would result in the impairment of a reporting unit' s goodwill. 

The Company has the option to evaluate goodwill for impairment by first performing a qualitative assessment of events and 
c ircumstances to detennine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying 
amount. Tf, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, the Company determines that it is not more likely than not 
that the fai r value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then the quantitative goodwill impairment test is not 
required to be performed. If the Company determines that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less 
than its carrying amount, or if the Company does not elect the option to perform an initial qualitative assessment, then the 
Company is required to perform the quantitative goodwill impairment test. Tn performing this evaluation, the Company 
estimates the fair value of its reporting unit using a weighted approach based on discounted future cash flows, market multiples 
and transaction multiples. The determination of fair value using the discounted cash flow approach requires management to 
make significant estimates and assumptions related to forecasts of future revenues, operating profit margins and discount rates. 
The determination of fair value using market multiples and transaction multiples requires management to make significant 
assumptions related to revenue multiples and adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
("EBITDA") multiples. For reporting units whose carrying amount is in excess of their estimated fair value, the reporting unit 
will record an impairment charge by the amount that the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value, not to exceed 
the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. See Note II Goodwill for further discussion. 

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS 

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment upon the occurrence of events or changes in circumstances that indicate that the 
carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. A recoverability test is performed based on undiscounted cash flows, 
requiring judgments as to the weighting of operational alternatives being considered by management and estimates of the 
amount and timing of expected future cash flows from the use of the long-lived assets generated by their use. Impaired assets 
are written-down to their estimated fair value. See Note I I Goodwill for further discussion. 

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 

The Company sponsors certain defined benefit pension and postretirement plans in Belgium, Brazil, France, Poland, the United 
Kingdom and the United States. The Company accounts for these plans using the single-employer method, with the net funded 
status of these plans recorded as an asset or liability in the consolidated balance sheets. See Note 15 Retirement and 
Postretirement Benefit Plans for additional disclosures regarding retirement benefits. 

INCOME TAXES 

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements. Deferred tax 
assets are recognized to the extent that we believe that these assets are more likely than not to be realized. 

We record uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740 on the basis of a two-step process in which ( 1) we determine 
whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and 
(2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, we recognize the largest amount of tax 
benefit that is more than 50 p·ercent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority. 
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While we believe that these judgments and estimates are appropriate and reasonable under the circumstances, actual resolution 
of these matters may differ from recorded estimates and amounts. See Note 12 Income Taxes for further discussion. 

TRANSLATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Balance sheets of international operations are translated into U.S. dollars at period-end exchange rates, while statements of 
operations are translated at average rates. Adjustments resulting from financial statement translations are included as 
cumulative translation adjustments in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ("AOCI"). 

NOTE 3 RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS 

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses 

In November 2024, the F ASB issued ASU 2024-03, "Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense 
Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses." This guidance requires 
disaggregated disclosure of certain income statement captions for public business entities into specified categories within the 
footnotes to the financial statements. Additional disclosures are required in tabular format for each relevant expense caption on 
the face of the income statement that includes any of the following natulral expenses: (I) purchases of inventory, (2) employee 
compensation, (3) depreciation, (4) intangible asset amortization, and (5) depreciation, depletion and amortization recognized as 
part of oil-and gas-producing activities or other types of depletion expenses. This update does not change or remove existing 
expense disclosure requirements; however, it may affect where that information appears in the footnotes to the financial 
statements. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2027. The Company is currently evaluating the provisions of this guidance. 

Income Taxes 

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, "Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures." 
This guidance requires a public entity to disclose in their rate reconciliation table additional categories of information about 
federal , state and foreign income taxes and to provide more details about the reconciling items in some categories if the items 
meet a quantitative threshold. The guidance also requires all entities to disclose annually income taxes paid (net of refunds 
received) disaggregated by federal (national), state and foreign taxes and to disaggregate the infonnation by jurisdiction based 
on a quantitative threshold. This guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is 
pennitted and this guidance should be applied prospectively but there is the option to apply it retrospectively. The Company 
plans to adopt the provisions of this guidance in conjunction with our Form I 0-K for the annual period ending December 31 , 
2025. 

Segment Reporting 

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, "Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment 
Disclosures." This guidance requires a public entity to disclose for each reportable segment, on an interim and annual basis, the 
significant expense categories and amounts that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision-maker ("CODM") and 
included in each reported measure of a segment's profit or loss. Additionally, it requires a public entity to disclose the title and 
position of the individual or the name of the group or committee identified as the CODM. The Company adopted the provisions 
of this guidance for the year ending December 31 , 2024. See Note 17 Financial Information by Business Segment and 
Geographic Area for further details. 
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NOTE 4 REVENUE RECOGNITION 

EXTERNALNETSALESBYPRODUCT 

External net sales by major products were as follows: 

In millions 2024 2023 2022 
Europe 

Uncoated Papers $ 703 $ 733 $ 396 

Market Pulp 96 88 105 

Europe 799 821 501 

Latin America 

Uncoated Papers 884 885 887 

Market Pulp 61 64 67 
Latin America 945 949 954 

North America 

Uncoated Papers 1,951 1,891 2,091 

Market Pulp 78 60 82 

North America 2,029 1,951 2,173 

Total $ 3,773 $ 3 721 $ 3,628 

REVENUE CONTRACT BALANCES 

A contract asset is created when the Company recognizes revenue on its customized products for which we have an enforceable 
right to payment. 

A contract liability is created when customers prepay for goods prior to the Company transferring control over those goods to 
the customer. The contract liability is reduced once control of the goods is transferred to the customer. The majority of our 
customer prepayments are re-ceived during the fourth quarter each year for goods that will be transferred to customers over the 
following twelve months. Contract liabilities of $2 million are included in current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets as of December 31, 2024. There were $8 million contract liabilities included in current liabilities in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 . 

The difference between the opening and closing balances of the Company's contract assets and contract liabilities primarily 
results from the difference between the price and quantity at comparable points in time for goods which we have an 
unconditional1ight to payment or receive pre-payment from the customer, respectively. 

PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS 

The Company's principal business is to manufacture and sell uncoated freesheet papers., along with pulp. As a general rule, 
none of our businesses provide equipment installation or other ancillary services outside of producing and shipping paper and 
pulp goods to customers. 

The nature of the Company's contracts can vary based on the business, customer type, and region; however, in all instances it is 
the Company's customary business practice to receive a valid purchase order from the customer, in which each party's rights 
and related payment terms are clearly identifiable. 

Contracts or purchase orders with customers could include a single type of product or it could include multiple types/grades of 
products. Regardless, the contracted price with the customer is agreed to at the individual jproduct level outlined in the customer 
contracts or purchase orders. The Company dloes not bundle prices; however, we do negotiate with customers on pricing and 
rebates for the same products based on a variety of factors (e.g. level of contractual volume, geographical location, etc.). 
Management has concluded that the prices negotiated with each individual customer are representative of the stand-alone 
selling price of the product. 
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NOTE 5 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

The following table presents the changes in AOCJ, net of tax, reported in the consolidated financial statements: 

In millions 2024 2023 2022 
Defined Benefit Pension and Postretirement Adj ustments 

Balance at beginning of period $ (77) $ (76) $ (80) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 4 (2) 4 

Amolllnts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income 1 I 

Balance at end of period (72) (77) (76) 
Change in Cumulative Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments 

Balance at beginning of period (1,197) (1,288) (1,719) 
Disposal of business 375 
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications (223) 91 56 

Balance at end of period (1,420) (1, 197) (1,288) 
Net Gains and Losses on Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives 

Balance at beginning of period 18 26 (2) 
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications (7) 19 41 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (9) (27) (D) 
Balance at end of period 2 18 26 

Total Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) at End of 
Period $ ~1 2490~ $ ~1 ,2562 $ ~1 ,3382 

NOTE 6 EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations is computed by dividing net income from continuing operations by the 
weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share from continu:ing 
operations is computed by dividing net income from continuing operations by the weighted-average number of shares of 
common stock outstanding during the period, increased to include the number of shares of common stock that would have been 
outstanding had potentially dilutive shares of common stock been issued. The dilutive effect of restricted stock units is reflected 
in d iluted eamings per share by applying the treasury stock method. Basic and dilutive earnings per share from discontinued 
operations are computed under the same approach utilizing the same weighted-average number of shares of common stock 
outstanding during the period and dilutive shares. 

There are no adjustments required to be made to net income from continuing operations for purposes of computing basic and 
d iluted earnings per share from continuing operations. 

Basic and diluted eamings per share from continuing operations are calculated as fo llows: 

In millions, except per share amounts 2024 2023 2022 

Net income from continuing operations $ 302 $ 253 $ 336 

Weighted average common shares outstanding 41.1 42.0 43.9 

Effect of dilutive securities 0.9 0.7 0.5 

Weighted average common shares outstanding- assuming dilution 42.0 42.7 44.4 

Earnings per share from continuing operations - basic $ 7.35 $ 6.02 $ 7.65 

Earnings p er share from continuing operations- diluted $ 7.18 $ 5.93 $ 7.57 

Anti-dilutive shares (a) 0.2 0.3 0.2 

(a) Common stock related to service-based restricted stock units and pe1jormance-based restricted stock units were outstanding 
but excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because their effect would be anti-dilutive under the 
treasury stock method or because the shares were subject to performance conditions that had not been met. 
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NOTE 7 ACQUISITIONS 

On January 2, 2023, the Company completed the previously announced acquisition of Stora Enso's uncoated freesheet paper 
mill in Nymolla, Sweden, for € 157 million (approximately $167 million) after post-close working capital adjustments. The 
integrated mill has the capacity to produce approximately 500,000 short tons of uncoated freesheet on two paper machines. 

Sylvamo accounted for the acquisition under ASC 805, "Business Combinations" and the Nymolla mill's results of operations 
are included in Sylvamo's consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. 

The following table summarizes the final allocation of the purchase price to the fair value assigned to assets and liabilities 
acquired as of January 2, 2023: 

in millions 

Accounts receivable 

Inventory 

Plants, properties and equipment 

Other assets 

Total assets acquired 

Accounts payable 

Other liabilities 

Total liabilities assumed 

Net assets acquired 

$ 

$ 

63 

67 

H5 
2 

247 

51 

29 

80 

167 

In connection with the allocation of fair value, inventories were written up by $9 million to their estimated fair value. During 
the first quatter of 2023, $9 million before taxes ($7 million after taxes) was expensed related to the impact of the step-up of 
acquired Nymolla inventory sold during the quarter. 

NOTE 8 DIVESTITURE AND IMPAIRMENT OF BUSINESS 

RUSSIAN OPERA TTONS 

During the ftrst quarter of 2022, as a result of the significant changes in the business climate impacting our Russian operations, 
a determination was made that the current carrying value of our Russian operations exceeded the estimated fair value. The fa ir 
value of the Russian operations was estimated based on a probability-weighted average approach of the potential cash flows 
from various paths the Company evaluated to exit the business. As a result, a pre-tax charge of $68 million ($57 million) was 
recorded for the impairment of the Russian fixed assets during the first quarter of 2022. These charges are included in 
"Impairment of business" within the summarized income statement for our Russian operations included in this footnote and is 
included in "Discontinued operations, net of taxes" in the consolidated statement of operations. 

During the second quarter of 2022, management committed to a plan to sell the Company's Russian operations. In October 
2022, the Company completed the sale of tits Russian operations to Pulp Invest Limited Liability Company, a company 
incorporated in the Russian Federation, for $420 million. After transaction and foreign cmrency exchange costs of $35 million, 
Sylvamo received $385 million in cash proceeds. 

As a result, all historical operating results of the Russian operations are presented as "Discontinued operations, net of taxes" in 
the consolidated statement of operations. The Russian operations were previously part of the Europe business segment. The 
following summarizes the major classes of line items comprising Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes reconciled to 
Discontinued Operations, net of taxes, related to the Russian operations for all periods presented in the consolidated statements 
of operations. 

63 



In millions for the year ended December 31 

NET SALES 

COSTS AND EXPENSES 
Cost of products sold (exclusive of depreciation, amortization and cost of timber harvested shown 
separately below) 

Selling and administrative expenses 

Depreciation, amortization and cost of timber harvested 

Taxes other than payroll and income taxes 

Impairment of business 

Interest expense (income), net 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 

Income tax provision 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET OF TAXES 

2022 
$ 518 

425 
10 
4 
1 

296 
(3) 

(215) 
3 

$ ~218~ 

The followang summarizes the total cash provided by operating activities from discontinued operations, net and total cash 
provided by (used for) investing activities from discontinued operations, net and included in the consolidated statements of cash 
flows: 

in millions for the year ended December 31 

Cash Provided by Operatimg Activities 

Cash Provided by (Used for) Investing Activities (a) 

(a) Includes cash invested in capital projects of$5 million 

NOTE 9 SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL STATEMENT INFORMATION 

TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS 

Temporary investments totaled $104 million and $109 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

RESTRICTED CASH 

$ 

$ 

2022 
20 
(5) 

Restricted cash of$60 million as of December 31 , 2023 represents funds held in escrow related to the Brazil Tax Dispute. See 
Note 14 Long-Term Debt for further details. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, temporary investments and restricted cash in the consolidated balance 
sheets to total cash, temporary investments and restricted cash in the consolidated statements of cash flows: 

In millions as a/December 31 2024 2023 
Cash and temporary investments $ 205 $ 220 

Restricted cash 60 
Total cash, temporary investments and restricted cash in the statements of cash 
flows $ 205 $ 280 

ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE 

Accounts and notes receivable, net, by classification were: 

in millions as of December 31 2024 2023 
Accounts and notes receivable: 

Trade $ 402 $ 404 

Notes and other 27 24 

Total $ 429 $ 428 
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Accounts and notes receivable are recognized net of the allowance for expected credit losses. The allowance for expected credit 
losses reflects the best estimate of losses inherent in the Company's receivables portfolio determined on the basis of historical 
experience, specific allowances for known troubled accounts, expectations for future economic conditions through the use of 
macroeconomic data and other available evidence. The allowance for expected credit losses was $2 1 million and $25 million at 
December 3 1, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. Based on the Company's accounting estimates and the facts and 
circumstances available as of the reporting date, we believe our allowance for expected credit losses is adequate. 

INVENTORIES 

in millions as a/December 31 

Raw materials 

Finished paper and pulp products 

Operating supplies 

Other 

Total 

2024 2023 

$ 56 $ 60 

178 2D 

107 109 

20 22 

$ 361 =$=======4=04= 

The last-in, first-out inventory method is used to value most of the Company's U.S. inventories. Approximately 62% of total 
raw materia ls and finished paper and pulp product inventories were valued using this method. The last-in, first-out inventory 
reserve was $72 million and $81 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. During the periods ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the amount of inventories in one of our two LIFO pools decreased and resulted in the liquidation 
of LIFO inventory layers carried at lower costs. The effect of this liquidation was to increase income from continuing 
operations before income taxes in the North America segment by approximately $ 12 million and $2 million for the years ended 
December 31,2024 and 2023, respectively. 

PLANTS, P ROPERTIES AND EQ UIPMENT , NET 

In millions as a/December 31 2024 2023 
Land $ 9 $ go 

Buildings 362 396 

Machinery 4,090 4,298 

Construction in progress 92 102 

Capital leases 37 38 

Gross cost 4,590 4,844 

Less: Accumulated depreciation 3,646 3,842 

Plants, Pr~perties and Equ ipment, net $ 944 $ I 002 

Additions to plants, property and equipment included within accounts payable were $12 million, $17 million and $36 million as 
of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Annual straight-bne depreciable lives generally are, for buildings - 20 to 40 years, and for machinery and equipment - 3 to 20 
years. Depreciation expense was $ 128 million, $118 million and $104 million for the years ended December 3 1, 2024, 2023 
and 2022, respectively. Cost of products sold excludes depreciation and amortization expense. 

FORESTLANDS 

Additions to Forestlands included within accounts payable were $10 million at December 31 , 2024. There were no additions to 
Forestlands included within accounts payable as of December 31, 2023. 

OT HER LIABIL ITIES AN D COSTS 

During the year ended December 31 , 2023, the Company recorded approximately $13 million before taxes ($1 0 million after 
taxes) of severance costs related to a planned reduction in our salaried workforce, ofwhich $3 million is included within Cost 
of products sold and $ 10 million is included within Sell ing and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of 
operations. Of these total costs, $2 million, $3 million and $8 million are related to our Europe, Latin America and No1th 
America business segments, respectively. These severance amounts are reflected in Other current liabilities in our consolidated 
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balance sheet. As of December 31, 2024, the reserve totaled approximately $2 million of which the majority will be paid in cash 
over the ftrst quarter of 2025. 

INTEREST 

Cash interest payments of $62 million, $68 million and $63 million were made during the years ended December 31, 2024, 
2023 and 2022, respectively. In addition, during the third quarter of 2024, we incurred a $3 million premium payment related to 
the redemption of our 2029 Senior Notes. 

Amounts related to interest were as follows: 

In millions 

Interest expense (a) 

Interest income (b) 

Capitalized interest costs 

Tota l 

2024 2023 2022 

$ 57 $ 64 $ 80 

(14) (26) (8) 

------~(4~) ______ ~(4~) ______ ~(~3) 
$ 39 $ 34 $ 69 =====:::::=: 

(a) Interest expense for 2024 includes $5 million of debt extinguishment cost related to the third quarter debt refinancing. 
Interest expense for 2023 includes $5 million of debt extinguishment cost related to the tender offer for our 7. 00% 2029 
Senior Notes. Interest expense for 2022 includes $5 million of debt extinguishment cost related to the repayment of the 
total outstanding balance ofTerm Loan B. 

(b) Interest income for 2023 includes $9 million of interest income related to tax settlements and $4 million of interest 
income related to the recognition of a foreign value-added tax refund in Brazil. 

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGA TTONS 

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had recorded liabilities of $28 mi llion and $27 million, respectively, related to asset 
retirement obligations. These amounts are included in "Other liabilities" in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. For 
asset retirement obligations which are conditional upon future events, we cannot reasonably estimate the current fair value of 
those potential obligations due to the uncertainty as to the timing or amounts that may be incurred. 

NOTE 10 LEASES 

The Company leases various real estate, including warehouses, office space and land. The Company also leases mater ial 
handling equipment, vehicles and ce1tain other equipment. The Company's leases have a remaining lease term of up to 15 
years. 

COMPONENTS OF LEASE EXPENSE 

In millions 2024 2023 2022 
Operating lease costs $ 26 $ 21 $ l8 

Variable lease costs 26 40 28 

Short-term lease costs 7 
Finance lease cost 

Amortization of right-of-use assets 3 3 4 
Interest on lease liabilities 1 I I 

Total lease cost, net $ 56 $ 65 $ 58 
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SUPPLEMENTAL BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION RELATED TO LEASES 

in millions Classificafion 2024 2023 
Assets 

Operating lease assets Right of use assets $ 58 $ 58 

Finance lease assets Plants, properties, and equipment, net (a) 20 22 
Total leased assets $ 78 $ 80 
Liabilities 

Current 

Operating Other current liabilities $ 21 $ 18 

Finance 
Notes payable and current maturities of long-
term debt 2 2 

Noncurrent 

Operating Other Liabilities 45 46 

Finance Long-te1m debt 12 14 

Total lease liabilities $ 80 $ 80 

(a) Finance leases above .are presented net of accumulated amortization of $17 million and $16 million as of December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively. 

LEASE TERM AND DISCOUNT RATE 

Weighted average remaining lease term (years) 

Operating leases 

Finance leases 

Weighted .average discount rate 

Operating leases 

Finance leases 

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION RELATED TO LEASES 

in millions 

Cash paid for amounts included in the measur·ement of lease liabilities 

Operating cash flows related to operating leases 

Operating cash flows related to financing leases 

Financing cash flows related to finance leases 

Right of use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities 

Operating leases 

Finance leases 

67 

$ 

2024 

4.4 years 

8.6 years 

5.25% 

3.98% 

2024 

24 $ 

1 

3 

16 

2023 

5.3 years 

9.6 years 

4.94 % 

3.85% 

2023 

21 

I 

5 
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MATURITY OF LEASE LlABILITlES 

In millions Operating Leases Financing Leases Total 

2025 $ 24 $ 2 $ 26 
2026 20 2 22 
2027 11 2 13 
2028 9 2 11 
2029 3 2 5 
Thereafter 9 7 16 
Total lease payments 76 17 93 
Less: imputed interest 10 3 13 

Present value of lease liabilities $ 66 $ 14 $ 80 

NOTE 11 GOODWll..L 

GOODWILL 

There were no impairment charges related to goodwill for the years ended December 31 , 2024, 2023 and 2022. 

The following table presents changes in the goodwill balance as allocated to each business segment: 

Latin 
In millions Europe America North America Total 

Balance as of December 31, 2022 
Goodwill $ II $ 118 $ - $ 129 
Accumulated impairment losses (1) (l) 

10 11 8 128 
Currency translation II Dl 

Balance as of December 3 I, 2023 
Goodwill II 129 140 
Accumulated impairment losses (1) (I ) 

10 129 139 
Currency translation (28) (28) 

Balance as of December 31, 2024 

Goodwill 11 101 112 
Accumulated impairment losses (1) (1) 

Total $ 10 $ 101 $ $ 111 

The Company performed its annual testing of goodwill impairment by applying the qualitative assessment to its France 
reporting unit as of October I, 2024. For the current year evaluation, the Company assessed various assumptions, events and 
circumstances that would have affected the estimated fair value of the reporting unit under the qualitative assessment for the 
reporting units listed above. The results of the qualitative assessment indicated that it is not more likely than not that the fair 
value of its France reporting unit was less than its carrying value. 

The Company also performed its annual testing of goodwill impairment by applying the quantitative goodwill impairment ltest 
to its Brazi I repo1ting unit due to the length of time elapsed since the previous quantitative goodwill impairment test. The 
Company calculated the estimated fair value of the Brazil reporting unit using a probability-weighted approach based on 
discounted future cash flows, market multiples and transaction multiples. As a result, the Company concluded that the fair value 
of the Brazil reporting unit was not reduced below carrying value and no goodwill impairment charge was recorded. 

In addition, the Company considered whether there were any events or circumstances outside of the annual evaluation that 
would reduce the fair value of its reporting units below their carrying amounts and necessitate a goodwill impairment 
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evaluation. Tn consideration of all relevant factors, there were no indicators that would require goodwill impairment evaluation 
subsequent to October 1, 2024. 

NOTE 12 TN COMET AXES 

The components of the Company's income from continuing operations before income taxes by taxing jurisdiction were as 
follows: 

In millions 2024 2023 2022 
U.S. $ 205 $ 121 $ 176 

Non-U.S. 200 248 291 

Income from cont inuing operations before income taxes $ 405 $ 369 $ 467 

Income tax provision by taxing jurisdictions was as follows: 

In millions 2024 2023 2022 
Current tax provision 

U.S. federal $ 43 $ 32 $ 56 
U.S. state and local 13 II ms 
Non-U.S. 54 73 67 

$ 110 $ 116 $ 138 

Deferred tax provision 

U.S. federal $ (5) $ (3) $ (I I) 

U.S. state and local (3) (7) (I) 

Non-U.S. 1 10 5 

$ (7) $ (7) 

Income tax provision $ 103 $ 116 $ 131 

A reconciliation of income taxes using the statutory U.S. income tax rate of 21% compared to the repotted income tax provis·ion 
is summarized as follows: 

in millions 2024 2023 2022 
Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 405 $ 369 $ 467 

Statutory U.S. income tax rate 21% 2 1 % 21% 

Income taxes using the statutory U.S. income tax rate 85 77 98 

State and local income taxes 6 2 11 
Impact of rate differential on non-U.S. earnings 24 31 29 
Non-U.S. valuation allowance (3) 7 2 

Permanent benefit for non-U.S. interest deductions (9) ( I I) (10) 
Foreign currency differences and other permanent deductions (9) 

Uncertain tax positions 2 6 
U.S. tax on non-U.S. earnings (GIL TI and Subpart F) 1 2 11 
Other, net (3) 2 (I) 
Income tax provision $ 103 $ 11 6 $ 131 

Effective income tax rate 25% 31% 28% 
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The components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 

In millions 2024 2023 
Deferred income tax assets: 

Net operating and capital loss carryf01wards $ 23 $ 27 
Accmed payroll and benefits 31 33 
Lease liabilities 13 B2 
Tax credits 25 25 
Capitalized research and development 23 B5 
Other 35 32 
Gross deferred income tax assets 150 144 
Less: valuation allowance (35) (39) 

Net deferred income tax asset $ 115 $ 105 
Deferred income tax liabilities: 

Intangibles $ (37) $ (47) 
Inventories (15) 02) 
Right of use assets (11) (n) 
Deferred foreign income (49) (62) 
Plants, properties and equipment (86) (85) 
Forestlands (41) (52) 
Gross deferred income tax liabilities (239) (269) 

Net deferred income tax lia bility $ (124) $ (164) 

The Company recognizes deferted income tax assets for deductible temporary d iffe rences and carryforwards. Valuation 
a llowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized based on 
estimates of future taxable income. Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whetlher 
sufficient future taxable income will be generated to permit use of the existing deferred tax assets. Based on this evaluation, as 
of December 3 1, 2024, a valuation allowance of $35 million has been recorded to reduce the deferred tax asset to the amount 
that is more likely than not to be realized. 

The Company made income tax payments, net of refunds, of $84 million during 2024. The Company also made payments of 
$14 million to purchase tax credits which were applied against our U.S. federal tax liability for 2024. 

The reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits were as follows: 

In millions 2024 2023 2022 
Balance at January 1 $ (10) $ (4) $ (3) 
(Additions) reductions for tax positions related to current year (4) (6) (l) 
Reductions for tax positions related to prior years 1 
Settlements J 

Balance at December 31 $ {12} $ {10} $ {42 

Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 are 
$ 12 million, $ 10 million and $4 million, respectively, of tax benefits that if recognized would affect the effective tax rate. The 
Company accrues interest on unrecognized tax benefits as a component of interest expense. Penalties, if incurred, are 
recognized as a component of income tax expense. During the periods mentioned above, the amount of interest accrued was not 
material. 

The Brazilian Federal Revenue Service has challenged the deductibility of goodwill amortization generated in a 2007 
acquisition by International Paper do Brasil Ltda., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company now named Sylvamo do Brasil 
Ltda. ("Sylvamo Brasil"). Sylvamo Brasil received assessments for the tax years 2007-2015 totaling approximately $95 million 
in tax, and $235 million in interest, penalties and fees (adjusted for variat ion in currency exchange rates and a recent law change 
pursuant to which the Brazil tax authority agreed to cancel a portion of the interest, penalties, and fees). Internationa l Paper 
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challenged and is managing the litigation of this matter pursuant to the Tax Matters Agreement between us and International 
Paper. After a previous favorable ruling challenging the basis for these assessments, Sylvamo Brasil received other subsequent 
unfavorable decisions from the Brazilian Administrative Council of Tax Appeals. These decisions are being appealed. 'fhe 
appeal involves several separate cases. Tn October 2024, at the first level of appeal in the Brazilian federal court system, the 
court ruled in favor of Sylvamo Brasil in cases covering approximately two thirds of the disputed amounts. The remaining one 
third of the disputed amounts is still under challenge at the Brazilian administrative court level and was not part of the ruling. 
The Brazilian tax authorities have appealed the October 2024 ruling. This tax litigation matter may take many years to resolve. 
The Company believes that the transaction underlying these assessments was appropriately evaluated, and that the Company's 
tax position would be sustained, based on Brazilian tax law. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Tax Matters Agreement, International Paper will pay 60%, and Sylvamo will pay 40% on up to 
$300 million of any assessment related to this matter, and International Paper will pay all amounts of the assessment over $300 
m illion. Also in connection with this agreement, all decisions concerning the conduct of the litigation related to this matter, 
including strategy, setllement, pursuit and abandonment, will continue to be made by International Paper, which is vigorously 
defending Sylvamo Brasil's historic tax position against the current assessments and any similar assessments that may be issued 
for tax years subsequent to 20 l 5. 

The following details the scheduled expiration dates of the Company' s December 31, 2024 net operating loss and income tax 
credit carryforwards: 

In millions 

Non-U.S. NOLs 

U.S. federal, non-U.S. and state tax credit 
carryforwards 

Total 

Less: related valuation allowance 

Total, net 

NOTE 13 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LlABTLITTES 

ENVIRONMENTAL AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

2025 
T hrough 

2034 
$ 6 

6 

(6) 

$ 

lndefmite T otal 

$ 17 $ 23 

25 25 
42 48 

(29) (35) 
$ 13 $ 13 

The Company is subject to environmental and legal proceedings in the countries in which we operate. Accruals for contingent 
liabilities, such as environmental remediation costs, are recorded in the consolidated financial statements when it is probable 
that a liability has been incurred or an asset impaired and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company has 
estimated some probable liability associated with environmental remediation matters that is immaterial in the aggregate as of 
December 3 1, 2024. 

At the Company' s Mogi Gua<;:u mill, there are legacy basin areas that were formerly lagoons used for treatment of mill 
wastewater from pulp and paper manufacturing. In coordination with and in response to a request by the Environmental 
Company of the State of Sao Paulo ("CETESB"), which is the state environmental regulatory authority, there has been 
continuous regulatory monitoring and sampling of the former basins, which began prior to their closure in 2006, both to assess 
for contamination and evaluate whether additional remediation is needed beyond the basins' ongoing natural vegetation growth. 
This monitoring and sampling detected metal contamination, with the main constituent of potential environmental impact being 
mercury. The Company presented CETESB with proposals for studies and other actions to further assess the scope and type of 
contamination and the possible need for an additional remediation approach. 

In October 2022, CETESB requested that the Company expand its efforts to include providing CETESB with a proposed pilot 
intervention (remediation) plan for a portion of the former basins. The purpose of the pilot intervention plan was to facilitate 
determination of the appropriate actions to take for the basins generally, guided by the results of the pilot intervention plan in 
the subset portion of the basins. The Company submitted a proposed pilot inte1vention plan to CETESB in late 2023, and 
CETESB approved its pre-intervention stages and certain additional measures that the Company later submitted. The 
requirement to conduct the pilot intervention plan is currently suspended, as agreed by CETESB. The Company continues to 
conduct environmental testing and analysis. The Company anticipates discussing the results of its supplemental testing and 
analysis with CETESB in the first half of 2025. 
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As of December 31, 2024, the Company has recorded an immaterial liability for the ongoing and additional environmental 
testing and analysis and a third-party review of the results and risk. While this matter could in the future have a material impact 
on our results of operations and cash flows, tine Company is unable to estimate its potential liability. The Company's liability 
will depend upon what additional studies and what remediation, beyond vegetation of the basins, may be required by CETESB, 
which in turn will depend partly upon CETESB's assessment of information from the Company's environmental testing and 
analysis and the third-party review of the results and risk. 

TAXESOTHERTHAN PAYROLLTAXES 

See Note 12 Income Taxes for a discussion of a goodwill amortization tax matter in Brazil. 

During the ftrst quarter of 2024, the State of Sao Paulo issued a tax assessment to our Brazilian subsidiary for approximat·ely 
$41 million (adjusted for variation in currency exchange rates) regarding unpaid VAT arising from intercompany transactions. 
This assessment includes $17 million in tax and $24 million in interest and penalties. As of December 31, 2024, no reserve has 
been recorded by the Company because the risk of loss is not probable. 

We have other open tax matters awaiting resolution in Brazil, which are at various stages of review in various administrative 
and judicial proceedings. We routinely assess these tax matters for materiality and probability of loss or gain, and appropriate 
amounts have been recorded in our financial statements for any open items where the risk of loss is deemed probable. We 
CUITently do not consider any of these other tax matters to be material individually. However, it is reasonably possible that 
settlement of any of these matters concunently could result in a material loss or that over time a matter could become material, 
for example, if interest were accruing on the amount at issue for a significant period of time. Also, future exchange rate 
fluctuations could be unfavorable to the U.S. dollar and significant enough to cause an open matter to become material. The 
expected timing for resolution of these open matters ranges from one year to I 0 years. 

GENERAL 

The Company is involved in various other inquiries, administrative proceedings and litigation relating to environmental and 
safety matters, taxes (including VAT), personal injury, product liability, labor and employment, contracts, sales of prope1ty and 
other matters, some of which allege substantial monetary damages. Assessments of lawsuits and claims can involve a series of 
complex judgments about future events, can rely heavily on estimates and assumptions, and are otherwise subject to significant 
uncertainties. As a result, there can be no certainty that the Company w ill not ultimately incur charges in excess of presently 
recorded liabilities. The Company believes that loss contingencies arising from pending matters, including the matters described 
herein, will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial position or liquidity of the Company. However, in light of 
the inherent uncertainties involved in pending or threatened legal matters, some of which are beyond the Company's control, 
and the large or indeterminate damages sought in some of these matters, a future adverse ruling, settlement, unfavorable 
development, or increase in accruals with respect to these matters, could result in future charges that could be material to the 
Company's results of operations or cash flows in any particular reporting period. 
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NOTE 14 L ONG-TERM DE BT 

Long-term debt is summarized in the following table: 

Jn millions as of December 31 2024 2023 
Term Loan F - due 2027 (a) $ 255 $ 471 

Term Loan F-2- due 2031 (b) 230 
Term Loan A - due 2029 (c) 217 266 

7% Senior Notes - due 2029 (d) 89 

Securitization Program 88 1n 

Other 14 16 

Less: current portion (22) (28) 
Total $ 782 $ 931 

(a) As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, presented net of $2 million and $3 million in unamortized debt 
issuance costs, respectively. 

(b) As of December 31, 2024, presented net of$2 million in unamortized debt issuance costs. 

(c) As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, presented net of $2 million and $2 million in unamortized debt 
issuance costs, respectively. 

(d) As of December 31, 2023, presented net of $1 million in unamortized debt issuance costs. 

In addition to the debt noted above, the Company has the ability to access a cash flow-based revolving credit faci lity 
("Revolving Credit Facility"). As a part of the refinancing in the third quarter of 2024, the Company amended the existing 
Revolving Credit Facility agreement which reduced the total bon·owing capacity to $400 million and extended the maturity to 
2029. In addition, the Company entered into a separate bilateral letter of credit facility and subsequently transferred all existing 
letters of credit to the new facility, eliminating the impact to the bon·owing capacity of the Revolving Credit Facility. As of 
December 31, 2024, the Company had no outstanding borrowings on the Revolving Credit Facility and an available borrowing 
capacity of $400 million. As of December 3 I, 2023, the Company had no outstanding borrowings on the Revolving Credit 
Facility and $21 million of letters of credit related to the Revolving Credit Facility, resulting in an available borrowing capacity 
of $429 million. Any outstanding balance on the Revolving Credit Facility is recorded within "Notes payable and CUIT·ent 
maturities of long-term debt" in the consolidated balance sheet. 

Sylvamo No1th America LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, maintains a $ 110 million accounts receivable 
finance facility (the "Securitization Program"), maturing in 2027 as amended during the debt refinancing in the third quarter. As 
part of the refmancing, the original capacity ofthe faci lity was reduced from $120 million. The Company sells substantially all 
of its North American accounts receivable balances to Sylvamo Receivables, LLC, a special pmpose entity, which pledges the 
receivables as collateral for the Securitization Program. The borrowing availability under this facility is limited by the balance 
of eligible receivables within the program. The average interest rate for the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31 , 
2023 was 6.1 0% and 5.92%, respectively. 

In the first quarter of 2023, in cormection with the tender offer and the consent solicitation related to the 2029 Senior Notes, the 
Company entered into a new senior secured term loan faci lity amendment which provided an aggregate principal amount. of 
$300 million ("Term Loan A"). Term Loan A, together with the $60 million of borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, 
were used to pay the total consideration for all notes tendered in the tender offer, plus accrued interest and all fees and expenses 
incurred in cormection with the tender offer and consent solicitation. The aggregate principal of the notes which totaled $360 
million were tendered, resulting in a debt extinguishment cost of $5 mill ion, related to the write-off of debt issuance costs. This 
cost was recorded within "Interest expense (income), net." As part of the refinancing in the third quarter of 2024, the agreement 
for Term Loan A was amended to extend the maturity date to 2029. 

In the third quarter of2024, as a result of the debt refinancing, the Company entered into a new senior secured term loan faci lity 
which provided an aggregate principal amount of$235 million ("Term Loan F-2") maturing in 203 1. A portion of the proceeds 
from Term Loan F-2 were used to repay $104 million of Term Loan F and $36 million of Term Loan A. The Company used the 
remaining proceeds to redeem the $90 million outstanding principal of our 2029 Senior Notes and to pay related premiums and 
fees. Debt extinguishment costs for the refinancing include $3 million of premiums paid related to the 2029 Senior Notes 
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redemption and $2 million of deferred financing costs which were written off. This cost was recorded within "Interest expense 
(income), net." In connection with the debt refinancing, we incurred $5 million of debt issuance costs to be amortized over each 
instrument's term until maturity. 

The interest rates applicable to the Term Loan F, Term Loan A, Term Loan F-2, and Revolving Credit Facility are based on a 
fluctuating rate of interest measured by reference to SOFR plus a fixed percentage of 1.85%, 1.85%, 2.25%, and 1.85%, 
respectively, payable monthly, with a SOFR floor of 0.00%. The obligations are secured by substantially all the tangible and 
intangible assets of Sylvamo and its subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions, and are guaranteed by Sylvamo and ce1tain 
subsidiaries. 

We are receiving interest patronage credits under the Term Loan F and Term Loan F-2. Patronage distributions, which are made 
primarily in cash but also in equity in the lenders, are generally received in the first quarter of the year folLowing that in which 
they were earned. Expected patronage credits are accrued in accounts and notes receivable as a reduction to interest expense in 
the period earned. Afler giving effect to expected patronage distributions of 90 basis points, of which 75 basis points is 
expected as a cash rebate, the effective net interest rate on the Term Loan F was approximately 5.31% and 6.31% as of 
December 3 1, 2024 and December 3 1, 2023, respectively, and the effective net interest rate on the Term Loan F-2 was 
approximately 5.71% as of December 3 1, 2024. 

In connection with the Term Loan F, the Company entered into interest rate swaps with various counterparties with a notional 
amount of $200 million maturing in 2024 and $200 million maturing in 2026. In the first quarter of 2023, the Company 
received cash proceeds of $]2 million from the unwind of the four interest rate swaps maturing in 2024 with a total notional 
amount of $200 million. In addition, the Company liquidated the swaps maturing in 2026 with a notional amount of $200 
million in the third quarter of 2023, receiving cash proceeds of $19 million. The related gains from all swap proceeds have been 
deferred within "Accumulated other comprehensive loss" in the consolidated balance sheet and will be amortized into interest 
expense over the original contract term of the swaps, of which swaps originally maturing in 2024 have matured and 
approximately two years is remaining for the swaps originally matw·ing in 2026. 

In the first quarter of 2023, the Company entered into four new interest rate swaps with various counterparties with a notional 
amount of $200 million, maturing in 2025. The interest rate swaps are designated as cash flow hedges and are utilized to 
manage interest rate risk. The interest rate swaps allow for the Company to exchange the difference in the variable rates on 
Term Loan F dete1mined in reference to SOFR and the fixed interest rate per notional amount ranging from 3.72% to 3.75%. 

During second quarter of 2023, all outstanding interest rate swap agreements related to Term Loan F were amended to provide 
a hedge against changes in variable rate cash flows regarding fluctuations in SOFR as compared to the previous benchmark rate 
of one-month LTBOR. The revisions to the interest rate swap agreements did not impact om hedge accounting because we 
applied the accounting expedients outlined in ASU 2020-04 and ASU 2021-01 of ASC To:pic 848, Reference Rate Reform. 

As of December 3 1, 2024 and December 3 1, 2023, the total fair value of the interest rate swaps related to Term Loan F was an 
asset of $ 1 mill ion and $ 1 million, respectively. Assets resulting from interest rate swaps are reflected in "Deferred charges and 
other assets." 

In relation to Tenn Loan A, the Company is party to interest rate swaps with a current aggregate notional amount of $219 
million that amortize each quarter and mature in 2028. These interest rate swaps allow for the Company to exchange the 
difference in the variable rates on Term Loan A determined in reference to SOFR and the :fixed interest rate per notional amount 
ranging from 4.13% to 4. 16%. Tn the fourth quarter of 2023, as a result of a $20 million prepayment of Term Loan A, the 
Company paid $232,000 to unwind a notional value of $20 million of swaps. 

As of December 3 1, 2024 and December 3 1, 2023, the fair value of these interest rate swaps resulted in a liability of $ 1 million 
and $5 million, recorded within "Other liabilities," respectively. 

As a result of the refinancing in the third quarter of 2024, the Company entered into five new interest rate swaps with various 
counterparties in connection with Term Loan F-2. The total cunent notional amount of these swaps is $232 million, which will 
amortize each quarter and mature in 2029. These interest rate swaps a llow for the Company to exchange the difference in the 
variable rates on Tenn Loan F-2 detem1ined in reference to SOFR and the fixed interest rate per notional amount ranging from 
3.80% to 3.82%. As of December 3 1, 2024, the fair value of these interest rate swaps resulted in an asset of $2 million 
recorded within " Deferred charges and other assets." 
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The Company is subject to certain covenants limiting, among other things, the ability of most of its subsidiaries to: (a) incur 
additional indebtedness or issue certain preferred shares; (b) pay dividends on or make distributions in respect of the 
Company's or its subsidiaries' capital stock or make investments or other restricted payments; (c) create restrictions on the 
ability of the Company's restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Company or make ce1iain other intercompany transfers; 
(d) sell certain assets; (e) c reate liens; (f) consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially a ll of the 
Company's assets; and (g) enter into certain transactions with its affiliates. The Company is currently subject to a maximum 
consolidated total leverage ratio of3.75 to l.OO. 

Due to the unresolved Brazil Tax Dispute, the agreements governing debt, as originally drafted, limited restricted payments to 
$60 million if our pro-forma consolidated leverage ratio was less than 2.50 to 1.00 and greater than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00, or 
$90 million if the pro-forma consolidated leverage ratio was less than 2.00 to l.OO. In 2023, the Company deposited $60 million 
in an account subject to the control of the administrative agent under the credit agreement. As a result, our ability to make 
restricted payments under the credit agreement was governed by the provisions in effect as if the Brazil Tax Dispute was 
settled, provided we maintained $225 million of available liquidity at the Lime of any restricted payments. In the fourth quarter 
of 2024, the Company renegotiated its credit agreements to eliminate the requirement to maintain the escrow and received 
$60 million in cash released from the escrow account. The minimum liquidity requirement at the time of any restricted 
payments was increased to $275 million. 

As of December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with our debt covenants. 

The fair market value of total debt was approximate ly $796 million at December 31, 2024. 

At December 31, 2024, contractual obligations for future payments of debt maturities (including finance lease liabilities 
disclosed in Note 10 Leases) by calendar year were as follows over the next five years: 2025- $22 million; 2026- $25 million; 
2027 - $370 million; 2028- $25 million; 2029 - $191 million; and thereafter- $180 million. 

NOTE 15 RETIREMENT AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS 

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS 

The Company sponsors and maintains pension plans for the benefit of certain of the Company' s employees. The service and 
non-service cost components of net periodic pension expense for these employees is recorded within cost of products sold and 
selling and administrative expenses. The ass-ets and liabilities related to plans sponsored by the Company are reflected in 
deferred charges and other assets and other liabilities, respectively. 
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OBLIGATIONS AND FUNDED ST ATUS 

The following table shows the changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets and the plans' funded status. 

In millions 

Change in projected benefit obligation: 

Benefit obligation, January I 

Service cost 

T nterest cost 

Actuarial loss (gain) 

Benefits paid 

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate movements 

Benefit obligation, December 31 

Change in plan assets: 

Fair value of plan assets, January I 

Actual return on plan assets 

Company contributions 

Benefits paid 

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate movements 

Fair value of plan assets, December 31 
Funded status, December 31 

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets: 

Non-current asset 

Non-current liability 

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) under ASC 715 
(pre-tax): 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Net p·rior service cost $ 

Net actuarial loss 

$ 

2024 

338 $ 

4 
17 

(26) 

(1 0) 

(6) 

317 $ 

317 $ 

(8) 

8 
(10) 

(7) 

300 $ 

p~ $ 

12 $ 

(29) 

~1~ $ 

1 $ 

85 
86 $ 

2023 

307 
4 

n 
H 

(7) 
6 

338 

286 
26 

6 
(8) 
7 

3m? 

i212 

B2 
(33) 
(2 J2 

I 

93 
94 

The accumulated benefit obligation ("ABO") for all plans was $308 million as of December 31, 2024 and $328 million as of 
December 31, 2023. The following table reflects the pension plans for which the accumulated benefit obligation or projected 
benefit obligation exceed the fair value of their respective plan assets at December 31: 

In millions as of December 3I 

Pension plans with ABO in excess of plan assets 

Accumulated benefit obligation 

Fair value of plan assets 

Pension plans with PBO in excess of plan assets 

Projected benefit obligation 

Fair value of plan assets 

NET PERIODIC PENSION EXPENSE 

$ 

$ 

2024 

215 $ 

194 

224 $ 

194 

2023 

220 
196 

229 
196 

Service cost is the actuarial present value of benefits attributed by the plans' benefit formula to services rendered by employees 
during the year. Interest cost represents the increase in the projected benefit obligation, which is a discounted amount, due to the 
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passage of time. The expected return on plan assets reflects the computed amount of cmrent-year earnings from the investment 
of plan assets using an estimated long-term rate of return. 

Net periodic pension expense comprised the following: 

In millions 

Service cost 

Interest cost 

Expected return on plan assets 

Actuarial loss (gain) 

Net periodic pension expense (benefit) 

ASSUMPTIONS 

$ 

$ 

2024 
4 $ 

17 

(17) 

3 
7 $ 

2023 2022 
4 $ 6 

17 n 
(17) (21) 

3 4 

7 $ 2 

The Company evaluates its actuarial assumptions annually as of December 31 (the measurement date) and considers changes in 
these long-term factors based upon market conditions and the requirements for employers' accounting for pensions. These 
assumptions are used to calculate benefit obligations as of December 31 of the current year and pension expense to be recorded 
in the following year (i.e., the discount rate used to determine the benefit obligation as of December 31 , 2024 is also the 
discount rate used to determine net pension expense for the 2025 year). 

Major actuarial assumptions used in detennining the benefit obligations and net periodic pension cost for our defined benefit 
plans are presented in the following table: 

2024 2023 2022 
Actuarial assumptions used to determine benefit obligations as of 

December 3 I : 

Discount rate 

Rate of compensation increase 

Actuarial assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost for years 
ended December 3 I : 

Discount rate 

Expected long-term rate of return on pi an assets 

Rate of compensation increase 

PLAN ASSETS 

5.89 % 

3.34 % 

5.27 % 

5.64% 

3.30 % 

5.27% 

3.30 % 

5.52% 

5.84% 

3.36% 

5.52 % 

3.36 % 

2.79% 

5.18% 

3.36% 

The plans maintain a strategic asset allocation policy that designates target allocations by asset class. Investments are 
diversified across classes and within each class to minimize the risk of large losses. Derivatives, including swaps, forward and 
futures contracts, may be used as asset class substitutes or for hedging or other risk management purposes. Periodic reviews are 
made of investment policy objectives and investment manager performance. The fair value of pension plan assets at 
December 3 1, 2024 and 2023 by asset class are shown below for the material plans. Each catego1y of investments for the U.S. 
plans is diversified and comprised of the following: 

Equity investments- developed market and emerging market equity securities primarily held in mutual funds 
Debt securities - corporate bonds and government securities 
Other investments- represents primarily cash and cash equivalents 

Each category of investments for the U.K. plan is diversified and comprised of the following: 

Growth assets - equities, diversified growth funds, absolute return fixed income funds, multi-asset credit funds, and 
other private equity type investments 
Stabilizing assets - liability-driven investments consisting primarily of interest and inflation linked assets, cash fl.ow 
driven investments invested primarily in credit markets, and cash and cash equivalents 
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The target allocations for each asset class in the U.S. plan were 35% in equity securities, 65% in debt securities and 0% in other 
investment types for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The target allocations for each asset class in the U.K. plan 
were 33% in growth assets and 67% in stabilizing assets for the years ended December 3 1, 2024 and 2023. Pension assets for 
the immaterial plans totaled $23 million for the year ended December 31 , 2024 and $30 million for the year ended 
December 3 1, 2023. These assets primarily relate to government securities within Level I of the fair value hierarchy. 

Fair Value Measurement U.S. Plans 

2024 2023 

Quoted Prices in Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets Significant Active Markets Significant 

For Identical Obsen •able For Identical Observable 
Asset Class Total Assets (Level 1) Inputs (Level 2) Total Assets (Level I) Inputs (Level 2) 

In millions 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 10 $ 10 $ $ 5 $ 5 $ 
Equities- developed markets 59 59 58 58 

Equities - emerging markets 7 7 7 7 

Government securities 43 43 50 50 

Corporate bonds 71 71 72 72 

Total Investments $ 190 $ 76 $ 114 $ 192 $ 70 $ 122 

Fair Value Measurement U.K. Plans 

2024 2023 

Quoted Prices in Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets Significant Active Markets Significant 

For Identical Obser vable For Identical Observable 
Asset Class Total Assets (Level I) Inputs (Level 2) Total Assets (Level I) Inputs (Level 2) 

In millwns 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2 $ 2 $ $ $ $ 

Equities 7 7 
Diversified growth funds 8 8 

Multi-asset credit 10 10 10 10 

Absolute return fixed income 3 3 1 

Liability driven investments 23 23 32 32 

Cash flow driven investments 28 28 29 29 

Other Investments: 

Private equity 14 14 

Total I nvestments $ 87 $ 2 $ 71 $ 95 $ $ 80 

In accordance with accounting standards, certain investments that are measured at net asset value are not classified in the fair 
value hierarchy. As part of the U.K. plan assets, the Company holds investments in private equity fund pattnerships. These 
investments are contractually locked up for the life of the private equity funds by the partnership agreements, which mature in 
2031 and 2032. The remaining unfunded commitment of these partnership interests is $7 million as of December 31, 2024 and 
$9 million as ofDecember 31 , 2023. 

FUNDING AND CASH FLOWS 

The Company' s funding policy for the pension plans is to contribute amounts sufficient to meet legal funding requirements, 
plus any additional amounts that the Company may determine to be appropriate considering the funded status of the p lans, tax 
deductibility, cash flow generated by the Company, and other factors . The Company continually reassesses the amount and 
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timing of any discretiona1y contributions. Generally, the non-U.S. pension plans are funded using the projected benefit as a 
target, except in certain countries where funding of benefit plans is not required. 

At December 3 1, 2024, projected future pension benefit payments, excluding any termination benefits, were as follows: 

In millions 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

2030-2034 

OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS 

$ 11 

13 

15 

17 

18 

117 

Certain of the Company's Brazilian employees are eligible for retiree health care and life insurance benefits. The accumulated 
benefit obligation for this plan as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $6 million and $9 million, respectively, which IS 

recorded within other liabilities in the consolid!ated balance sheets. 

DEFERRED COMPENSATION AND NON-QUALIFIED PENSION PLAN 

We are responsible for certain deferred compensation and non-qualified pension plan balances related to our employees. These 
balances relate to employees who previously pa11icipated in plans sponsored by International Paper. As part of the spin-off, we 
assumed responsibility for these balances. As our employees become eligible for these benefits and these benefits are paid, we 
will be reimbursed by Intemational Paper for the balances transferred upon the spin-off. As of December 31, 2024, there is a 
receivable of $23 million reflected within deferred charges and other assets of our consolidated balance sheets related to the 
plans. The deferred compensation savings plan liability of $24 million as of December .3 1, 2024 is recorded within accounts 
payable in the consolidated balance sheets. The non-qualified pension plan is included within the pension obligation and funded 
status presented above, and the liability is recorded in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. 

NOTE 16 INCENTIVE PLANS 

The Company has adopted the Sylvamo 2021 Incentive Compensation Plan, which includes shares under its long-term 
incentive plan ("L TIP") that grants certain employees, consultants, or non-employee directors of the Company different forms 
of awards, including time-based and performance-based restricted stock units. 

The equity and incentive plan has a maximum shares reserve for the grant of 4,41 0, 725 shares. As of December 31, 2024, 
2,564,775 shares remain available for future grants. 
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The following summarizes restricted stock unit and performance-based restricted stock unit activity for employees: 

Per formance-Based 
Restricted Stock Units Restricted Stock Units 

Weighted Weighted 
Average Grant Average Grant 

Shares Date Fair Value Shares O>lfe Fair Value 

Outstanding as ofDecember 31, 2021 664,569 28.51 

Granted 258,518 39.23 321,271 4 1.47 

Shares issued (236,086) 28.67 

Forfeited (36,272) 31.36 ( 16,675) 4 1.47 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 650,729 $ 32.55 304,596 $ 41.47 

Granted 287,796 47.36 211,791 51.00 

Shares issued (300,594) 31 .87 

Forfeited (10,625) 42.94 (8,700) 45.76 

Outstanding as ofDecember 31, 2023 627,306 $ 39.50 507,687 $ 45.37 

G ranted 240,392 60.99 189,734 66.46 

Shares issued (385,720) 36 .. 06 

Forfeited (45,471) 52.57 (44,853) 54.83 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2024 436,507 $ 53.00 652,568 $ 50.85 

Restricted stock units generally vest over a period of three years with one-third of the awarded units vesting annually. The grant 
date fair value of restricted stock units is valued at the closing stock price on the day prior to the grant date. The expense for 
restricted stock unit awards is recorded, net of forfeitures , over the vesting period. 

Performance-based restricted stock units cliff vest at the end of a three-year service period based upon the achievement of two 
defined performance conditions, Return on Invested Capital ("ROTC"), measured agains t our internal benchmark, and Total 
Shareholder Return ("TSR"), compared to a peer group of companies. Expense for performance-based units is recognized, net 
of forfeitures, over the three-year vesting period. As the ROTC measure contains a performance condition, compensation cost 
for this component is based upon the grant date fair value of the award and the number of units expected to vest based on 
performance. As the relative TSR component is a market condition, we utilize a Monte Carlo simulation to determine the grant 
date fair value and resulting expense to recognize for the units. The Monte Carlo simulation calculates the fair value of the 
awards on grant date based on the expected term of the award, expected dividends, the risk-free rate and the expected volati lity 
for the Company and its competitors. 

The expected term is based on the roughly three-year vesting period of the awards, and the expected dividend yield used is zero 
as the Company pays dividend equivalent units throughout the performance period. The risk-free rate is based upon the yield of 
term-matched, zero-coupon securities using the Treasury Constant Maturities yield curve. As Sylvamo did not have sufficient 
stock price history, the volatility estimate was calculated as a simple average of similar peers and the correlation with the index 
was calculated as the average index correlation of the peer group. 

The Monte Carlo simulation to value the relative TSR share units used the following assumptions: 

Expected volatility 

Risk-free interest rate 

2024 

80 

47.07% 

4.36 % 

2023 
50.03% 

4.42% 

2022 
49.64% 

1.66% 



Total stock-based compensation cost and the associated income tax benefits recognized by the Company in the consolidated 
statements of operations were as follows: 

In millions 

Total stock-based compensation expense (included in selling and administrative 
expense) 

Income tax. benefit related to stock-based compensation 

$ 

$ 

2024 

23 $ 

8 $ 

2023 

23 $ 

7 $ 

2022 

20 

5 

As of December 31, 2024, $14 million of compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to all stock-based 
compensation arrangements for Company employees had not yet been recognized. This amount will be recognized in expense 
over a weighted-average period of 1.4 years. 

NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY BUSINESS SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC AREA 

The Company's business segments, Europe, Latin America and North America, are organized by geography. These segments 
are consistent with the internal structure used to manage these businesses. Each of our segments derive their revenue from the 
manufacture and sale of paper and pulp products. As discussed in Note 8 Divestiture and Impairment of Business. the 
Company's Russian operations have been classified as discontinued operations and as a result are no longer reported within the 
Europe business segment for any periods presented. 

Business segment operating profits are used by the Company's management to measure the earnings performance of its 
businesses. Management believes that business segment operating profit provides investors and analysts useful insights into our 
operating performance. We define business segment operating profit as our income from continuing operations before income 
taxes calculated in accordance with GAAP, excluding net interest expense (income) and net business special items and net 
corporate special items. 

The chief operating decision maker uses business segment operating profit to allocate resources (primarily capital spending) for 
each segment predominantly during the annual strategic pla1ming, budgeting and forecasting processes. The chief operating 
decision maker also considers actual performance variances in business segment operating profits on a monthly basis to assess 
the performance of the segments. The Company's chief operating decision maker is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. 

Sales by business segment are determined using a management approacih and include intersegment sales (which are eliminated 
in consolidation). External sales in the External Net Sales table are defined as those that are made to parties outside the 
Company's combined group. 
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INFORMATION BY BUSINESS SEGMENT 

Net Sales and Business Segment Operating Profit 

2024: 

Europe Latin North Total 
In millions America America 

Sales $ 801 $ 974 $ 2,029 $ 3,804 
Tntersegment Sales (2) (29) (31) 
Net sales $ 799 $ 945 $ 2,029 $ 3,773 
Less: 

Cost of products sold and other 694 617 1,438 2,749 
Maintenance outages 1 18 54 73 
Economic downtime 10 27 37 
Selling and administrative expenses 52 91 167 310 
Depreciation, amortization and cost of timber 
harvested 33 75 51 159 

Add: 

Other special items, net (a) 1 6 1 8 
Business Segment Operating Profit $ 10 $ 150 $ 293 $ 453 
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 405 
Interest (income) expense, net 39 
Corporate special items, net 1 

Other special items, net 8 

Business Segment Operating Profit $ 453 

(a) Other special items, net in the period presented primarily include leJ?al fees related to the Brazil Tax Dispute, a loss 
related to forest fires in Brazil, certain severance costs related to our salaried worliforce, and integration costs related to 
the Nymolla acquisition. 
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2023: 

Europe 
Latin North 

Total 
In millions America America 

Sales $ 821 $ 1,006 $ 1,951 $ 3,778 
Intersegment Sales (57) (57) 
Net sales $ 821 $ 949 $ 1,951 $ 3,721 
Less: 

Cost of products sold and other 704 574 1,342 2,620 
Maintenance outages 27 9 53 89 
Economic downtime 38 85 123 

Selling and administrative expenses 68 98 163 329 
Depreciation, amortization and cost of timber 
harvested 28 68 47 143 

Add: 

Other special items, net (a) 19 (3) 8 24 
Business Segment Operating Profit $ i25} $ 197 $ 269 $ 441 
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 369 
Interest (income) expense, net 34 
Corporate special items, net 14 
Other special items, net 24 
Business Segment Operating Profit $ 441 

(a) Other special items, net in the period presented primarily include foreign VAT refimds, transaction and integration costs 
related to the Nymolla acquisition, the impact of the step-up of acquired Nymolla inventory sold during the first quarter 
of 2023, and certain severance costs related to our salaried worliforce. 

2022: 

Europe 
Latin North 

Total 
ln millions America America 

Sales $ 501 $ 1,023 $ 2,173 $ 3,697 
Intersegment Sales (69) (69) 
Net sales $ 501 $ 954 $ 2, 173 $ 3,628 
Less: 

Cost of products sold and other 403 587 1,586 2,576 
Maintenance outages 18 55 73 
Economic downtime 2 2 
Selling and administrative expenses 34 78 192 304 
Depreciation, amo11ization and cost of timber 
harvested 15 59 51 125 

Add: 

Other special items, net (a) 4 5 

Business Segment Operating Profit $ 50 $ 212 $ 291 $ 553 
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 467 
Interest (income) expense, net 69 
Corporate special items, net 12 
Other special items, net 5 

Business Segment Operating Profit $ 553 

(a) Other special items, net in the period presented primarily include one-time costs associated with the spin-off and 
transaction and integration costs associated with the Nymolla acquisition. 

83 



Note: Cost of products sold and other in each of the tables above includes costs directly related to the manufacture of our 
products and taxes other than payroll and income taxes but excludes costs directly attributable to maintenance outages 
and unabsorbed costs due to economic downtime. Costs of products sold and other also excludes depreciation, 
amortization and cost of timber harvested which is presented separately. 

The Company had one customer within our North America business segment that represented approximately 13%, 14% and 
13% of our consolidated net sales for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Assets 

In millions as of December 31 

Europe 

Latin Amer ica 
North America 

Corporate and Other (a) 

Assets 

(a) Includes cotporate assets. 

Capital Spending 

In millions 

Europe 

Latin America 
Norlh America 

Capital Spending 

INFORMATION BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA 

External Net Sales (a) 

In millions 

United States 

Brazil 

Europe 

Americas, other than United States and Brazil 

Corporate and Jntersegment Sales 
Net Sales 

(a) Net sales are attributed to countries based on the location of the seller. 

Long-Lived Assets 

In millions as of December 31 

United States 

Brazil 

Europe 
Long-Lived Assets 
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$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2024 

2024 

$ 

$ 

27 $ 

140 
54 

221 $ 

2,029 $ 

971 

801 
3 

(31) 
3,773 $ 

$ 

$ 

2024 2023 
324 $ 370 

1,065 1,226 
904 909 

311 367 

2,604 $ 2,872 

2023 2022 
31 $ 7 

112 76 

67 66 
210 $ 149 

=========== 

2023 2022 
1,951 $ 2,173 

995 1,008 

821 501 

II m5 

(57) (69) 

3,72 1 $ 3,628 

2024 2023 
453 $ 450 

634 727 

176 189 

1,263 $ 1,366 



NOTE 18 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Prior to the spin-off on October I , 202 I , we historically operated as part of Jntemational Paper and not as a standalone 
company. As a result of the spin-off on October I , 202 I , Sylvamo became an independent public company. The following 
discussion summarizes activity between the Company and Intemational Paper subsequent to the spin-off. 

On September 12, 2022, International Paper sold its remaining shares of Sylvamo stock. Therefore, International Paper was no 
longer a related party fi·om that point forward. 

RELATED PARTY SALES AND PURCHASES 

The Company purchases certain of its products from International Paper which are produced in facilities that remained w ith 
International Paper when the Company separated from International Paper. The Company continues to purchase uncoated 
freesheet and bristols pursuant to an offtake agreement between the Company and International Paper. The Company purchased 
inventory associated with the offtake agreements of $462 million during the first three quarters of2022. 

The Company purchases fiber pursuant to a fiber purchase agreement between the Company and International Paper. llhe 
Company purchased inventory associated with the fiber supply agreements of $ 153 million during the first three quarters of 
2022. 

The Company also purchases certain packaging materials from International Paper. These packaging purchases totaled 
$12 million for the ftrst three quarters of 2022. 

TRANSITION SERVICES AGREEMENT 

Pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, International Paper and Sylvamo provided certain services to one another on an 
interim, transitional basis. The services included certain information technology services, finance and accounting services and 
human resources and employee benefits services. The agreed-upon charges for such services were generally intended to allow 
the providing company to recover all costs and expenses for providing such services. The total amount of expenses incurred by 
the Company under the Transition Services Agreement in 2022 was $23 million. The Company is no longer receiving services 
under this agreement. 

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREE MENTS WITH ACCOUNT ANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE 

None. 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

DISCLOSllJRE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

As of December 31, 2024, an evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's 
management, including our principal executive officer and principal fmancial officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure 
controls and procedures (as that term is defined in Rule 13a-15(t) and 15d-15(t) of the Exchange Act). Based upon this 
evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that the Company's disclosure controls 
and procedures were effective as ofDecember 31,2024. 

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred in the fourth quarter of 2024 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over fmancial reporting. 

See Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data in this Annual Report on Fonn I 0-K for management's annual report 
on our intemal control over financial reporting and the attestation report of our independent public accounting firm, which is 
incorporated herein by reference. 
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 

INSIDER TRADING ARRANGEMENTS 

The Company has adopted insider trading policies and procedw-es governing the purchase, sale and other dispositions of the 
Company's securities by directors, officers and employees, that are reasonably designed to promote compliance with insider 
trading laws, rules and regulations, and any listing standards applicable to the Company. 

On November 13, 2024, Jean-Michel Ribieras, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, adopted a trading plan intended to 
satisfy the affim1ative defense conditions under Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act. The plan covers the sale, at an 
established limit price, of approximately 85,000 shares of stock, which includes shares currently owned and shares that he 
expects to receive on March I , 2025, net of withholding taxes, pursuant to the vesting of certain restricted stock units and 
performance stock units granted under the Sylvamo 2021 Incentive Compensation Plan. The estimated sta11 date for the sale of 
shares under the plan is March I , 2025. The pMan expires on the earlier of the date that all the shares under the plan are sold and 
December 31, 2025. 

On December 19, 2024, John Sims, Senior V ice President and Chief Financia l Officer, adopted a trading plan intended to 

satisfy the affirmative defense conditions under Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act. The plan covers the sale, at an 
established limit price, of approximately 17,200 shares of stock that he expects to receive on March 1, 2025, net of withholding 
taxes, pw-suant to the vesting of certain restricted stock units and performance stock units granted under the Sylvamo 2021 
Incentive Compensation Plan. The estimated start date for the sale of shares under the plan is March 20, 2025. The plan expires 
on the earlie r of the date that all the shares undler the plan are sold and December 3 1, 2025. 

Except as disclosed above, none of the Company's directors or officers (as defmed in Section 16 of the Exchange Act) adopted 
or terminated a "Rule I Ob5-l trading arrangement" or a "non-Rule I Ob5-1 trading anangement" (each as defined in Item 408(a) 
and (c) of Regulation S-K) during the Company's qua Iter ended December 3 1, 2024. 

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURES REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS 

Not applicable. 

PART ill. 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The information required by this item will be incorporated by reference from the applicable p01tions of the defmitive proxy 
statement of Sylvamo related to its 2025 annll!al meeting of shareholders to be filed no later than 120 days after December 3 1, 
2024 (the "Proxy Statement"). 

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The information required by this item will be incorporated by reference from the applicable portions of the Proxy Statement. 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF C ERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STO CKHOLDE R MATTERS 

T he information required by this item will be incorporated by reference from the applicable portions of the Proxy Statement. 

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

The information required by this item will be incorporated by reference from the applicable portions of the Proxy Statement. 

ITEM 14. PRJNCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 

The information required by this item will be incorporated by reference from the applicable portions of the Proxy Statement. 
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PART IV . 

ITEM 15. EXIDBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(I) Financial Statements- See Ttem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 
(2) Financial Statements Schedules - Financial Statement Schedules have not been included because the information required to 

be set forth therein was not applicable or is included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto. 

Exhibit Number 

2.1 

3.1 

3.2 

3.3 

4.1 

4.2 * 
4.3 

4.4 

4.5 

10.1 

10.2 

10.3 

Description of Exhibit 

Separation and Distribution Agreement. dated as of September 29. 2021. between International Paper 
Company and Sylvamo Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Sylvamo 
Comoration's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October I. 2021 (the "Form 8-K 
filed I 0/ 112021 ")). 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Sylvamo Comoration (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Sylvamo Corporation 's Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the 
SEC on September 28. 2021 (the "Form S-8 fi led 9/28/202 1 ")). 

Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate oflncorporation of Sylvamo Comoration (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Svlvamo Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form I 0-0 filed with the 
SEC on August 9. 2024 (the "Form 10-0 filed 8/9/2024)). 

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Sylvamo Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to 
the Form 8-K filed I 0/1/2021). 

Form of Common Stock Certificate of Sylvamo Comoration Cincomorated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 
to Amendment No. I to Sylvamo Comoration's Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with the 
SEC on August 23. 2021). 

Description of Capital Stock of Sylvamo. 

Indenture. dated as of September 3. 202 1. among Sylvamo Corporation. International Paper 
Company. as Guarantor and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company. N.A .. as Tmstee 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Sylvamo Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
with the SEC on September 3. 2021 (the "Form 8-K filed 9/3/2021 ")). 

Supplemental Indenture. dated as of September 29. 2021. among the Subsidiarv Guarantors named 
therein. each a subsidiary ofSylvamo Corporation. Sylvamo Comoration (the "Company"). The Bank 
of New York Mellon Tmst Company. N.A. (the "Tmstee"). as tmstee under the Indenture dated as of 
September 3. 2021. among the Company. International Paper Company. as Guarantor. and the 
Trustee. as trustee Cincomorated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Sylvamo Corporation' s Annual Report 
on Fonn 10-K filed with the SEC on February 22.2023 (the "Form 10-K filed 2/22/2023")). 

Second Supplemental Indenture. dated as of March I 0. 2023. between Sylvamo Corporation and the 
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company. N.A .. as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 
to Sylvamo Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 10. 2023 (the 
"Form 8-K filed 3/ 10/2023")). 

Credit Agreement, dated September 13. 2021, among Sylvamo Corporation, as borrower. Bank of 
America. N.A .. as Administrative Agent. Swing Line Lender and an LIC Issuer. and the other lenders 
and LIC issuers party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to Sylvamo Corporation's 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 15. 2021 ). 

Credit Extension Amendment and Amendment No.2 to Credit Agreement. dated as of March 9. 2023 
Cas amended. restated. amended and restated. supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time 
(including pursuant to Amendment No. 2)). among Sylvamo Corporation. Bank of America. N.A .. as 
administrative agent. and the lenders from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4. 1 to the Form 8-K filed 3/1 0/2023). 

Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement. dated as of July 31. 2024. among Sylvamo Comoration. as 
horrower. Rank of America. N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lencier anci an L/C Issuer. 
and the other lenders and LIC issuers party thereto. including Amended Credit Agreement attached as 
Annex A thereto Cincoroorated by reference to Exhibit I 0.1 to Sylvamo Comoration's Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August I. 2024 (the "Form 8-K filed 8/ 1/2024")). 
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10.4 

10.5 

10.6 

10.7 

10.8 

10.9 

10. 10 

10. 11 

10. 12 

10.13 

10. 14 

10.15 

10. 16 

10.17 

10. 18 

10. 19 * 
10.20 

10.21 * *** 
10.22 

Credit Agreement. dated as of July 31. 2024. among Sylvamo Corporation. as borrower. CoBank. 
ACB. as Administrative Agent. and the other lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed 8/ 1/2024). 

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of September 30. 2022, among Sylvamo North America, 
LLC, as servicer and originator, the other originators from time to time party thereto. and Sylvamo 
Receivables, LLC. as buyer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0 .1 to Sylvamo Corporation's 
CurTent report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 3. 2022 (the "Form 8-K filed 
I 0/3/2022")). 

Receivables Financing Agreement. dated as of September 30. 2022. among Sylvamo Receivables. 
LLC. as borrower. Sytivamo North America. LLC. as initial scrviccr. the lenders party thereto from 
time to time. PNC Bank. National Association. as administrative agent and a lender. and PNC Capital 
Markets LLC, as structuring agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.2 to the Form 8-K filed 
1 0/3/2022). 

Performance Cluaranty. dated as of ~eptemher 30. 2022. hy ~ylvamo Corporation. as performance 
guarantor, in favor of PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent for the benefit of the 
secured parties (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 8-K filed 1 0/3/2022). 

Amendment No.3 to Receivables Financing Agr·eement and Reaffirmation ofPerforrnance Guaranty, 
dated as of July 3 1, 2024, among Sylvamo Receivables, LLC, as borrower, Sylvamo North America, 
LLC. as initial servicer and originator. the lenders party thereto from time to time. PNC Bank. 
National Association. as administrative agent and a lender, PNC Capital Markets LLC, as structuring 
agent, and solely with respect to reaffirmation of the performance guaranty. Sylvamo Corporation, as 
performance guarantor. and Receivables Financing Agreement attached as Annex A thereto 
(incomorated by reference to Exhibit I 0.3 to the Form 8-K filed 811 /2024). 

Cooperation Agreement. dated February 14.2023. by and among Sylvamo Corporation and the 
persons and entities set forth on the exhibit thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.1 to 
Sylvamo Corporation's Current Report on Fom1 8-K filed with the SEC on February 15. 2023). 

Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of September 30. 2021, between International Paper Company and 
Sylvamo Corporation ( incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.2 to the Form 8-K fil ed I 0/1 /2021 ). 

First Amendment. dated as of June 17, 2024, to the Tax Matters Agreement by and between 
International Paper Company and Sylvamo Corporation, dated as of September 30, 202 1 
(incot:porated by reference to Exhibit I 0. J to Sylvamo Corporation's Quarterly Report on Fom1 I 0-0 
filed with the SEC on August 9, 2024). 

Supply and Offtake Agreement (Riverdale), dated as of September 30. 202 1. between International 
Paper Company and Sylvamo N011h America. LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.6 to the 
Form 8-K filed 10/ 1/202 1). 

Brazil Payment Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2021. between International Paper Company 
and Sylvamo Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.15 to the Form 8-K filed 
10/ 1/202 1). 

Fiber Purchase Agreement, dated as of September I, 202 1, between International Paper and Sylvamo 
North America, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.5 to the Form 8-K filed 9/3/2021). 

Sylvamo Comoration 2021 Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0. 1 
'i' to Sylvamo Corporation's Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on September 28. 

2021. 

Terms and Conditions of Long-Term Incentive Plan Award (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
'1 I 0.24 to Sylvamo Corporation's Annual Report on Form I 0-K filed with the SEC on March 2. 2022). 

'1 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan Award Agreement Terms and Conditions (incorponHed by reference 
to Exhibit I 0.19 to the Form 10-K filed 2/22/2023). 

2024 Long-Term Incentive Plan Award Agreement Tenns and Conditions (incorpontted by reference 
'1 to Exhibit I 0.15 to Sylvamo Corporation's Annual Report on Form I 0-K filed with the SEC on 

February 2 1. 2024 (the "Fom1 I 0-K filed 2/21 /2024")). 

t 2025 Long-Term Incentive Plan Award Agreement Terms and Conditions. 

Sylvamo Corporation 2024 Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.17 to the 
'1 Form I 0-K filed 2/21/2024). 

t Sylvarno Corporation 2025 Annual Incentive Plan. 

t Sylvamo Corporation 2021 Executive Severance Plan (restated) (incorporated bv reference to Exhibit 
10.22 to the Form 10-K filed 2/22/2023). 
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10.23 

10.24 

14.1 

19 * *** 

21.1 * 

23.1 * 

31.1 * 

31.2 * 

32 ** 

97 

IOI.TNS 

t 

t 

Svlvamo Corporation Restricted Stock and Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.24 to Sylvamo Corporation's Registration Statement on 
Form 10 filed with the SEC on August 9. 2021 (the "Form 10 filed 8/9/2021 ")). 

Form of Director Indemnification Agreement Cincomorated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Form 
1 0 filed 8/9/202 1 ). 

Code of Conduct Cincornorated by reference to Exhibit 14. 1 to the Form I 0-K filed 2/22/2023). 

Insider Trading Policy. 

Subsidiaries. 

Consent oflndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm. 

Certification of principal executive officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002. 

Certification of principal financial officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxlev Act of 2002 . 

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S. C. Section 1350. as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes­
Oxlev Act of2002. 

Clawback Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97 to the Form I 0-K filed 2/2 1/24). 

XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File 
because its XBRL tags are embedded within the inline XBRL document. 

IOI.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema. 

I 0 I.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase. 

Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase. 

Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase. 

Extension Presentation Linkbase. 

10l.DEF XBRL 

I 0 I.LAB XBRL 

lOI.PRE XBRL 

104. 

t 
* 
** 

*** 

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL, and contained in Exhibit I 0 1). 

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement 
Filed herewith 
Furnished herewith 
Certain portions of the exhibit (indicated by[***]) have been omitted as the Registrant bas detennjned (i) the omitted 
information is not material and (ii) tlhe omitted information would likely cause competitive harm to the Registrant if 
publicly disclosed. 

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY 

None. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

SYLVAMO CORPORATION 

By: Is/ Matthew L. Barron February 20, 2025 

Name: Matthew L. Barron 

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative and Legal Officer 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signature Title Date 

Chairman and Chief Executive 

Is/ JEAN·MICHEL RIBIERAS 
Officer and Director (principal 
executive officer) February 20, 2025 

Jean-Michel Ribieras 

Senior Vice President and Chief 

Is/ JOHN V. STMS 
Financial Officer (principal financial 
officer) February 20, 2025 

John V. Sims 

Vice President, Controller and Chief 
Accounting Officer (principal 

Is/ KEVIN W. FERGUSON accounting officer) February 20, 2025 

Kevin W. Ferguson 

/s/ STAN ASKREN Director February 20, 2025 

Stan Askren 

Is/ CHRISTINE BREVES Director February 20, 2025 

Christine Breves 

Is/ JEANMARTE D ESMOND Director February 20, 2025 

Jeanmarie Desmond 

/s/ LIZANNE GOTTUNG Director February 20, 2025 

Lizanne Gottung 

90 



Signature Title Date 

/s/ JOIA JOHNSON Director February 20, 2025 

Joia Johnson 

Is/ KARL L. MEYERS Director February 20, 2025 

Karl L. Meyers 

/s/ DA VlD PETRA TIS Director February 20, 2025 

David Petratis 

Is! PAUL ROLLINSON Director February 20, 2025 

Paul Rollinson 

Is/ MARK W. WTLDE Director February 20, 2025 

Mark W. Wilde 

Is/ JAMES ZALLIE Director February 20, 2025 

James Zallie 
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2024 LISTING OF FACILITIES 

UNCOATED PAPERS 

U.S.: 

Ticonderoga, New York 

Eastover, South Carolina 

Sumter, So·uth Carolina 

lllfemationa/: 

Luiz Antonio, Sao Paulo, Brazil 

Mogi Gua~u, Sao Paulo, Brazil 

Tres Lagoas, Mato Grosso do Sui, Brazil 

Saillat, France 

Nymolla, Sweden 

APPENDIX I 
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2024 CAPACITY INFORMATION 

in thousands of short tons 

Europe 

Uncoated Papers 

Market Pulp 

Europe 

Latin America 

Uncoated Papers 

Market Pulp 

Latin America 

North America 

Uncoated Papers 

Market Pulp 

Total owned mill capacity 

Uncoated Papers (capacity under offtake agreements) 

Total capacity under offtake agreements 

North America 

Total 

Forest Resources 

We own or manage approximately 250,000 acres offorestlands in Brazil. 
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APPENDIX II 

2024 

765 

130 

895 

1,105 

165 

1,270 

975 

115 

1,090 

350 
350 

1,440 

3,605 
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Information at a glance 

2025 annual meeting of shareowners 
May 15, 2025 at 8:00a.m. CDT 
Sylvamo World Headquarters 
6077 Primacy Parkway 
Memphis, TN 38119 

Executive officers 

Directors 

Jean-Michel RibiE~ras 
Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer 

Rodrigo Davoli 
Senior Vice President 
and General Manager, 
North America 

Marcia Vargas 
Senior Vice President 
and Chief People Officer 

Stock information 
NYSE: SLVM 

JohnV. Sims 
Senior Vice President 
and Chief Financial 
Officer 

Tatiana Kalman 
Senior Vice President 
and General Manager, 
Latin America 

Patrick Wilczynski 
Senior Vice President, 
Operational Excellence 

Stan Askren 
Chief Executive Officer 
and Founder, 

Jean-Michel Ribieras 
Chai rman and Chief 
Executive Officer, 
Sylvamo lollllllla.ir•• Quiet Trail Advisors, 

Advisor and Lean 
Business Consultant, 
Lean Focus, LLC 

lizanne M. Bruce 
Principal and Consultant, 
Liz Gottung LLC 

·~·· Jeanmarie Desmond 

Karl Meyers 
Former Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Soundview Paper 
Holdings LLC 
(now Marcal Paper) 

Mark Wilde 
Senior Advisor, 
McKinsey & Company 
Former Sellside Ana lyst 

How to obtain copies of our annual report 

Former Executive Vice 
President and Chief 
Financial Officer, 
DuPont de Nemours, 
Inc. 

David Petratis 
Former Chairman, 
President and 
Chief Executive Officer, 
AI legion pic 

James P. Zallie 
President and Chief 
Executive Officer, 
lngredion Incorporated 

Registrar & transfer agent 
Computershare 
150 Royall Street 
Canton, MA 02021 
866-735-0665 

Matthew L. Barron 
Senior Vice President, 
Chief Administrative & 
Legal Officer and 
Corporate Secretary 

Oliver Taudien 

•r.::.-.• Christine S. Breves 
Former Executive 
Vice President, Business 
Transformation, 
Senior Vice President 
and Chief Financial 
Officer, United St ates 
Steel Corporation 

Joia M. Johnson 
Former Chief 

._,.,, _ • .• Administrative Officer, 
General Counsel and 

"---~- Corporate Secretary, 
Hanesbrands Inc. 

J. Paul Rollinson 
President and Chief 
Executive Officer, 
Kinross Gold Corporation 

A copy of Sylvamo's 2024 annual report on Form 10-K t hat was filed with t he SEC is available at sylvamo.com under 
"Investors." Upon r equest, we will furnnsh a paper copy of the annual report without charge, including consolidated 
financial statements and schedules, but not exhibits, to any person whose proxy is solicited for our 2025 annual 
meeting of shareowners. Send requests to our Corporate Secretary, Matthew L. Barron, at 6077 Primacy Parkway 
Memphis, TN 38119. Paper copies of exhib its are also available upon request, subject to a charge for copying 
and mailing. 
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